

Opportunities for achieving early diagnosis of oral cancer within the medical profession in Australia

Dr John Douglas Webster Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Business Management Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery Bachelor of Dental Science (Honours Class I)

A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Philosophy at The University of Queensland in 2015 School of Dentistry

ABSTRACT

Most oral cancers lack early symptoms that would prompt a patient to seek diagnosis; hence at presentation more than 60% of patients are diagnosed with stage III or IV advanced disease. Survival rates and morbidity are dramatically improved if the disease is treated at an early stage, preferably asymptomatic in stage one. Therefore, early detection of oral cancer and oral potentially malignant lesions in the asymptomatic phase via an oral cancer screening examination is important.

The core objective of this thesis is to determine whether asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer at an early stage of disease is achievable in Australia. We achieve this by evaluating the awareness of, and attitudes toward, oral cancer and opportunistic screening held by recently-diagnosed oral cancer patients, experienced general medical practitioners, and recently-graduated medical students.

Two studies are detailed herein. The first involved recruitment of a cohort of 103 Australian patients diagnosed with pathologically verified oral cancer (excluding lip) through the Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital (RBWH) Head and Neck Clinic to complete a 36-part questionnaire to address the above aims. The second study involved a questionnaire that was mailed to 553 General Medical Practitioners (GMPs) randomly selected from a database developed from GMPs working in locations expected to refer suspected oral cancer patients to the RBWH Head and Neck Clinic. A similar questionnaire was designed to collect data from a sample of 151 Graduated Medical Students (GMSs) commencing work as intern medical officers at the RBWH and the Princess Alexandra Hospital (PAH) in Brisbane, Australia.

From these studies we found that participants with oral cancer had poor awareness of oral cancer and poor knowledge of risk factors prior to diagnosis. Nearly all were over 40 years of age and most consumed tobacco or alcohol or both, suggesting a target population for opportunistic screening in the primary healthcare setting. Patient, professional, and total diagnostic

i

delay were better than in many other countries. In the asymptomatic phase before diagnosis, participants with oral cancer were more likely to visit a GMP over a General Dental Practitioner (GDP), and likely to do so multiple times each year, identifying significant opportunities for GMPs to perform opportunistic oral cancer screening.

We also found that Australian GMPs and GMSs have an inadequate level of knowledge of oral cancer, OPMLs, risk factors, and inadequate skill in performing opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations. At the present level of knowledge and confidence, it would be unlikely for a GMP to conduct a thorough visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination even if a high-risk individual presented to his or her clinic. Only 7% of participants with oral cancer were diagnosed in the asymptomatic phase, and all were diagnosed by health practitioners with a dental qualification.

We conclude that asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer at an early stage of disease is achievable in the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia via opportunistic oral cancer screening. Initiating a consultation with a GMP or GDP for an oral cancer screening examination would require a patient to have an improved awareness of oral cancer and knowledge of his or her personal risk factors for developing it. To increase opportunistic oral cancer screening activity from Australian GMPs, interventions need to ensure that GMPs and GMSs reach competence in risk factors for oral cancer, identifying high-risk populations, diagnostic confidence, and skill in performing the nine-step visual and tactile opportunistic oral cancer screening examination.

ii

DECLARATION BY AUTHOR

This thesis is composed of my original work, and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my research higher degree candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted to qualify for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis.

Publications during candidature

No publications.

Publications included in this thesis

No publications included.

Contributions by others to the thesis

Professor Camile S Farah – significant contribution to the questionnaire design, provision of printing and mailing materials, mailing costs, and critically revising drafts, manuscripts, and the final thesis submission.

Dr Marie AT Matias – significant contribution of critically revising drafts, manuscripts, and final thesis submission.

Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree

None.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To Professor Camile Farah, my principal supervisor, I give thanks for stimulating an interest in the Master of Philosophy research higher degree, allowing me to own my project from the beginning, providing reliable advice, support, resources, and honest critical appraisal throughout.

To Dr Marie Anne Matias, my associate supervisor, I give my gratitude for your support and guidance.

To Associate Professor Martin Batstone, my site coordinator at the RBWH Head and Neck Cancer Clinic, for being a source of inspiration and role model both surgically and professionally.

To Dr Robert Hodge, Chairman of the RBWH Head and Neck Cancer Clinic for approving access to the participants with oral cancer within this study.

To all the participants involved in my research, especially those recently diagnosed with oral cancer, thank-you for your time and responses, that I hope will lead to a better standard of healthcare for all Australians.

To Wendy, my wonderful sister, for your 24-hour phone support and expertise in ensuring I stayed focused, efficient and completed the research degree while staying married, a surgical trainee and sane.

To Dr Daniel Nincevic, my best friend, for being a willing research assistant when required and most memorably running UQCCR out of paper and toner cartridges when I was on my survey printing run.

To Mr Nathan Dunn and Dr Dannie Zarate, my statistician allies, thank-you for sharing your expertise in cancer research and biostatistics often.

I would also like to acknowledge all my mentors in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery thus far who have in some way contributed to my surgical training during this research degree or to the completion of this Master of Philosophy: Dr Ben Erzetic, Prof Frank Monsour, Dr Cameron Scott, Mr Mahiban Thomas, Dr James Badlani, Mr Clement Rajasingh, Dr Leon Smith, Dr Edward Hsu, Dr Geoffrey Findlay, Dr Richard Harris, Dr Anthony Lynham, Dr John Arvier, Dr George Chu, Dr Anthony Crombie, Dr Rachel Hsieh and Dr Ben Rahmel.

To Keith, Sarah, Claudine, Kane, Kylie, Lyndon and Sharon, my friends, thank-you for your direct and indirect support in completing this degree.

To lan and Lesley, my parents, and siblings, Jefferson and Deana, thank-you for ensuring I was dedicated to my education, interested in helping those less fortunate and your ongoing support of my endeavours.

To my little lads, William (5), Samuel (5) and Lachlan (2), thank-you for drawing on my research, climbing on my back when typing, reminding me to bounce on the trampoline and to remember what is more important than research, patients with oral cancer and surgical training – wrestling with you!

Most importantly, to Joanna, my beautiful wife, who must surely have a halo and wings. I am eternally grateful for the woman you are and the support you have given me year after year; especially the last two years to complete this research while training as a surgeon. Thank-you for your patience and care.

vi

<u>Keywords</u>

oral cancer, oral squamous cell carcinoma, screening, patient, delay, medical student, general practitioner, medical practitioner, risk factors, asymptomatic

Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 110505, Oral Medicine and Pathology, 100%

Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 1105, Dentistry, 30% FoR code: 1112, Oncology and Carinogenesis, 70%

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	I
DECLARATION BY AUTHOR	III
KEYWORDS	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
LIST OF TABLES	XII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XIII
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Oral Potentially Malignant Lesions and Oral Epithelial Dysplasia.	4
2.2 Risk Factors for Oral Cancer	6
2.2.1 Tobacco	6
2.2.2 Alcohol	6
2.2.3 Areca Nut Consumption	6
2.2.4 Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)	7
2.2.5 Poor Diet and Nutritional Deficiencies	7
2.2.6 Ultraviolet (UV) Radiation	8
2.2.7 Age	8
2.2.8 Sex	8
2.2.9 Socio-economic Status	8
2.2.10 Controversial Risk Factors with Limited Evidence	9
2.2.11 Oral Cancer Risk Factors in the Australian Population	10
2.3 Timing of Diagnosis and Prognostic Implications	11
2.3.1 Prognostic Markers	11
2.3.2 Early Stage Diagnosis	12
2.3.3 Diagnostic Delay	12
2.4 Screening Strategies	15
2.5 Opportunistic Screening: Opportunities and Threats	17
2.5.1 Patient Factors	17
2.5.2 General Medical and Dental Practitioners	18
2.5.3 Medical and Dental Student Education	21
2.5.4 Contribution of Bias	21

CHAPTER THREE: AUSTRALIAN PATIENTS WITH ORAL CANCER	23
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Hypotheses	
3.3 Aims	
3.4 Methods and Materials	
3.5 Research Results	
3.5.1 Response Rate and Demographics	
3.5.2 Patient Awareness of Oral Cancer	
3.5.3 Patient Knowledge and Risk Factors	
3.5.4 Patient Diagnostic Process	
3.5.5 Encounters with Medical Profession in Asymptomatic Pha	se 31
3.5.6 Encounters with Dental Profession in Asymptomatic Phas	e 32
3.6 Discussion	
3.7 Conclusion	
CHAPTER FOUR: AUSTRALIAN GMPS COMPARED TO GMSS	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Hypotheses	
4.3 Aims	45
4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials	45 46
4.3 Aims4.4 Methods and Materials4.5 Research Results	45 46 48
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 	45 46 48 48
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 	45 46 48 48 48 48
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 	45 46 48 48 48 48 50
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 	45 46 48 48 48 48 50 ges50
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 	45 46 48 48 48 50 ges50 52
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 	45 46 48 48 48 50 ges50 ges50 52 ons57
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es50 9es50 52 0ns57 58
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es 50 52 0ns 57 58 64
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es 50 52 0ns 57 58 64 64
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es50 9es50 52 0ns57 58 64 65 65
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Chang 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Oral Cancer Patients 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es50 52 0ns57 58 64 65 65 65
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Oral Cancer Patients 5.3 General Medical Practitioners 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es 50 52 0ns 57 58 64 65 65 65 65 65
 4.3 Aims 4.4 Methods and Materials 4.5 Research Results 4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics 4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer 4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer 4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Change 4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination 4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesi 4.6 Discussion 4.7 Conclusion CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Oral Cancer Patients 5.3 General Medical Practitioners 5.4 Medical Student Education 	45 46 48 48 48 50 9es 50 52 0ns 57 52 0ns 57 58 64 65 65 65 65 65 71

5.6 Conclusion	73
LIST OF REFERENCES	76
APPENDICES	98
Appendix A: Participant with Oral Cancer Questionnaire	99
Appendix B: General Medical Practitioner Participant Questionnaire	. 102
Appendix C: Graduate Medical Student Participant Questionnaire	. 107

List of Figures

Figure 3.1: Patient and Professional Delay	. 30
Figure 3.2: Diagnostic Delay	. 30

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Patient Awareness of Oral Cancer	. 27
Table 3.2: Patient Knowledge of Risk Factors vs. Actual Risk Factors	. 28
Table 3.3: Patient Diagnostic Process	. 29
Table 3.4: Patient Encounters with General Medical Practitioners	. 31
Table 3.5: Patient Encounters with General Dental Practitioners	. 32
Table 3.6: Hypotheses Results (Oral Cancer Patients)	. 40
Table 4.1: Survey Response and Demographics	. 48
Table 4.2: Awareness and Knowledge for Oral Cancer (GMPs vs. GMSs)	. 49
Table 4.3: Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer (GMPs vs. GMSs)	. 50
Table 4.4: Knowledge of Pre-malignant and Malignant Clinical Changes	. 51
Table 4.5: Tools Required for Oral Cancer Screening Examination	. 52
Table 4.6: Summary of Proficiency in Oral Cancer Screening Examination.	. 53
Table 4.7: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 1-3	. 54
Table 4.8: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 4-6	. 55
Table 4.9: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 7-9	. 56
Table 4.10: Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesions	. 57
Table 4.11: Hypotheses Results (GMPs vs. GMSs)	. 63

List of Abbreviations

ACOMS	Asian Congress Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
ANZHNCS	Australian and New Zealand Head and Neck Cancer Society
CME	Continued Medical Education
GDP	General Dental Practitioner
GMP	General Medical Practitioner
GMS	Graduated Medical Student
HNC	Head and Neck Cancer
HPV	Human papilloma virus
LESIONS	Lesion Evaluation, Screening and Identification of Oral
	Neoplasia Study
NICDR	National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research
OC	Oral cancer
OED	Oral epithelial dysplasia
OPML	Oral potentially malignant lesion
OSCC	Oral squamous cell carcinoma
PAH	Princess Alexandra Hospital
RACGP	Royal Australian College of General Practitioners
RBWH	Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
UV	Ultraviolet
UQCCR	University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research
WHO	World Health Organisation

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Oral cancer (OC) refers to all aggressive neoplasms that affect the external lip, oral cavity, and oropharynx; however, the predominant type is oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) and can affect all tissues of epithelial origin.^{1, 2} Worldwide, oral cancer has one of the highest mortality rates among all malignancies.³ It is recognized as the sixth most common cancer, and 270,000 new cases are expected each year.^{1, 3, 4} There is significant disparity in geographical incidence across the world, suggesting geographical differences in risk factors, most of which have been identified in other epidemiological studies.⁵⁻⁷ In South Asia and the Indian Subcontinent oral cancer accounts for almost one third of all malignancies, in contrast to the Western world, where it is comparatively uncommon and accounts for only 2-5% of all malignancies.^{5, 8} India, Sri Lanka, and Pakistan have the highest levels of the disease, and it is the most common cancer for men in these countries and accounts for up to 30% of all new cases of cancer compared, to just 3% in the United Kingdom (UK) and 6% in France.⁹ The prevalence of oral cancers is high in countries of South Asia and the Indian Subcontinent, where distinct cultural practices, such as betel nut chewing, and varying patterns of tobacco and alcohol use are important risk factors that predispose people to cancer of the oral cavity.¹⁰

To add an Australian context, between 1992 and 2008, 60826 cases of lip, oral cavity, and oropharyngeal cancer were diagnosed and registered on the Australian Cancer Database with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW).¹¹ These cases represented 2.9% of the total cancer burden in Australia and caused 1.6% of all cancer deaths, which is very similar to the UK population.^{9, 11} The incidence rate of all sites was between 10 and 14 per 100,000 population for both sexes combined.¹¹ Males accounted for 71% of all cases diagnosed compared to 29% for females.¹¹ Over the 27-year period of Australian data analysed by Farah et al. (2014), there was no significant change in incidence, and overall mortality associated with oral cancers remained stable despite advances in imaging and treatment modalities, however cancers of the tongue and oropharynx showed an increasing trend over time.¹¹

Overall, the five-year survival rate for oral cancer is approximately 50% for all anatomical sites and stages.¹¹ The most important prognostic marker for oral cancer remains tumour stage at diagnosis.^{6, 12} Unfortunately, most oral cancers lack early symptoms, and hence

more than 60% of patients present with advanced disease, either stage III or IV oral cancer.^{13, 14} The reported five-year survival rate of stage III or IV oral cancer ranges between 15% and 55%.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ In contrast, oral cancers diagnosed at a smaller size and without lymph node involvement in stage I or II report a five-year survival rate ranging between 66% and 85%.^{11, 15, 19} A recent analysis of 22,204 pathologically verified oral cancers followed up over ten years concluded that early diagnosis and intervention before stage II can significantly improve life expectancy and decrease expected years of life lost to oral cancer.¹⁸ This is ideally when the patient is likely asymptomatic with a tumour less than 2cm in diameter and with less than 4mm of invasion.^{18, 20} Therefore, early detection of malignant lesions and oral potentially malignant lesions (OPMLs) is an important goal for reducing morbidity and mortality.^{14, 15, 21, 22}

The Cochrane collaboration and other expert consortia agree that whilst population-based annual or semi-annual screening for oral cancer is not cost-effective, targeting high-risk populations to be opportunistically screened using a visual and tactile examination should be encouraged in the primary care setting.²³⁻²⁶ Opportunistic oral cancer screening by general medical practitioners (GMPs) and general dental practitioners (GDPs) should remain an integral part of the routine daily work of these groups, and particular attention should be paid to high-risk individuals.²⁷ In Australia the most significant risk factors for the development of oral cancer are likely to be increased age and tobacco and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} Prevention and early-stage diagnosis may be important for oral cancers because these known risk factors enable identification of high-risk populations, and identifying oral cancers and oral potentially malignant lesions (OPMLs) is relatively easy via a simple visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.

Recent research suggests that GDPs in Australia are actively screening the oral mucosa for most patients as part of their routine daily work, but falls short of determining whether the GDPs perform all nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination suggested by the World Health Organisation (WHO) and National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (NIDCR).^{27, 30, 31} There have been no investigations into the awareness of, knowledge of, and attitudes toward opportunistic oral cancer screening in the Australian GMP population. Similarly, there is no study that investigates these same attributes in graduated medical students (GMSs) as they exit medical school and enter the workforce. Chapter 4 of this thesis establishes these two Australian datasets via a survey of GMS and practicing GMPs in Brisbane. Chapter 3 investigates a cohort of Australian

patients with pathologically confirmed oral cancer attending the Head and Neck Clinic at the RBWH in Brisbane. These patients are studied regarding patient awareness, knowledge of risk factors, actual risk factors, patient delay, professional delay, diagnostic delay, and access to health practitioners in the Australian health system in the asymptomatic phase. Prior research has focused on review of patient and professional delay, but importantly this research precedes the patient delay phase and focuses on the asymptomatic phase wherein the oral cancer may be present and detected at an earlier stage of disease.³² A key aim is to identify missed opportunities for early diagnosis of malignant lesions or OPMLs by investigating patient interactions with GMPs and GDPs in the asymptomatic phase.

The purpose of these research endeavours is to establish three Australian datasets that will provide valuable insights and lead to development of public health messages and policy, development of educational and training interventions at the undergraduate and postgraduate level, and ultimately to increased rates of visual and tactile opportunistic oral cancer screening in the primary medical healthcare setting. Asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer in the early stages of the disease should be achievable in Australia and is key to reducing mortality and morbidity caused by oral cancer.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Oral Potentially Malignant Lesions and Oral Epithelial Dysplasia

Globally, over 90% of oral cancers are OSCC, a malignancy that has a high tendency to metastasize to regional lymph nodes and occurs most often in individuals over 40 years of age.^{1, 4} Tumour stage at diagnosis remains the most important prognostic marker for oral cancer.^{19, 33} Therefore, there is a need for early diagnosis of oral cancer, ideally at the premalignant or potentially malignant stage, in order to reduce morbidity and mortality.^{14, 15,} ^{21, 25, 34} Oral potentially malignant lesions (OPMLs) is the collective term for the wide range of clinical presentations of oral lesions that may harbour oral epithelial dysplasia (OED). Clinically, OPMLs can appear as leukoplakia, erythroplakia, or erythro-leukoplakia (speckled erythroplakia).²² Although various other factors, such as smoking history, patient age and gender, and lesion size and location may contribute to the suspicion of malignant potential, the clinical appearance is often the primary driving factor toward the decision to biopsy or offer intervention.³⁵ Leukoplakias, the most common OPMLs, show a low rate of malignant progression (4-18%) irrespective of the histopathologic diagnosis of mild, moderate, or severe dysplasia.³⁶ In contrast, erythroplakias and erythro-leukoplakias have been shown to have a much higher risk of malignant transformation (14-50%).³⁷ We can confidently state that lesions exhibiting redness or a non-homogenous texture are strongly associated with OED and should be considered for biopsy at presentation.³⁸⁻⁴⁰ Homogenous lesions that presented on the tongue or floor of the mouth are also significantly more likely to be dysplastic, and more so if tobacco consumption is part of the presentation.^{41, 42} Unfortunately, these clinical features at presentation may estimate the rate of OED in OPMLs but there is no way of differentiating OPMLs into dysplastic and non-dysplastic on clinical findings alone, because OED can manifest clinically in any number of presentations.42-44

OED is the histopathologic diagnosis that describes this precancerous stage, and it is characterized by a range of cellular and morphologic tissue changes which are similar to those of SCC but are restricted to epithelial cells and remain non-invasive.¹ The most recently accepted histological classification developed by the WHO divides OED into mild, moderate, and severe dysplasia (otherwise known as carcinoma *in situ*).¹ However, unlike the stepwise progression in severity of cervical pre-cancerous lesions, there is no stepwise pattern of progression in oral cancer.

A recent retrospective study of 368 patients showed that for all oral sites and all WHO dysplasia grades, the annual malignant transformation rate was 1% and the annual progression to higher grade of dysplasia was 3%.⁴¹ In a comparable population the annual malignant transformation rate was 1.8% and 5.6% for moderate and severe dysplasia, respectively, indicating that histological grading was a risk factor for transformation to malignancy.⁴⁵ In contrast, other studies showed no association between transformation rates and grading of dysplasia.^{44, 46} The use of histopathology for the diagnosis and categorization of OED has long been considered imprecise, with poor inter- and intra-observer agreement and low levels of reproducibility.^{47, 48} Therefore, the usefulness of grading OED has been contested in the literature, and there is currently no consensus regarding risk of malignant transformation based on histopathologic grading of the OED.⁴⁹

The most current systematic review of the literature regarding treatment and follow-up of oral dysplasia suggests that removing dysplasia reduces but does not eliminate the risk of OSCC formation.⁵⁰ However, given the lack of consistent correlation of OED histopathologic grading with transformation to malignancy, it appears only prudent to perform a more definitive treatment of OPMLs exhibiting any grade of dysplasia, rather than to limit treatment to severe cases. ⁴¹ This is an unfortunate outcome of the poor predictive value of the WHO OED grading classification, which cannot be used reliably as a guide for treatment decision-making.⁴¹ Although complete excision of OED may be considered by some as overtreatment, in contrast, the ongoing surveillance of retained OED even with regular review is increasing risk of harm to the patient by malignant transformation over time and should be regarded as an ineffective treatment option.^{42, 44, 46, 51} In summary, definitive treatment of all OED is recommended.

2.2 Risk Factors for Oral Cancer

Oral cancer is a multifactorial disease and the pathogenesis is equally complex. Oral cavity carcinomas are predominantly caused by chemical carcinogens, although evidence implicating infectious factors (e.g. human papilloma viruses) and physical stimuli (e.g. recurrent trauma or chronic inflammation) in some carcinomas continues to grow.^{52, 53} The most prominent modifiable risk factors are lifestyle factors, including tobacco and tobacco products, alcohol, betel quid chewing, and poor diet, while the non-modifiable risk factors are increasing age (>40 years) and sex (male > female).^{15, 21, 54}

2.2.1 Tobacco

A considerable body of evidence supports a strong association between oral cancer and tobacco use.⁵ The use of smokeless tobacco has been show to increase the risk of developing oral cancer by up to four times, but smoking tobacco is far worse.⁵ Smoking tobacco increases the risk of developing oral cancer from three to seventeen times that of a non-smoker.^{21, 55-58} The data also suggest that a lifetime dosage relationship exists. Smokers of greater than thirty pack-years show an odds ratio of 2.9 (1.8 ~ 4.5 95% CI) compared to those with greater than forty pack-years with an odds ratio of 8.46 (6.22 ~ 11.50 95%CI) and those with a greater than sixty pack-year history an odds ratio of 10.1 (6.1 ~ 16.7 95%CI). ⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ In addition, approximately 80% of oral cancer patients are smokers and thus are a target population for screening activities.^{59, 60}

2.2.2 Alcohol

Alcohol consumption is often cited as a known risk factor for oral cancer.⁶¹⁻⁶³ In epidemiological studies controlled for smoking, a moderate to heavy alcohol consumption has been shown to increase the risk of developing oral cancer from three to nine times that of abstainers.^{59, 60, 64, 65} Whilst the definition of moderate to heavy alcohol consumption varies from study to study, the conclusion of the majority of the literature is that higher lifetime alcohol consumption is correlated with increased risk of oral cancer. There is also significant evidence to suggest a synergistic effect between alcohol and tobacco consumption in the development of oral cancer.^{58, 59}

2.2.3 Areca Nut Consumption

The areca nut is carcinogenic to humans and has been declared as such by the International Agency for Research on Cancer.⁶⁶⁻⁷¹ It is often consumed during betel quid

chewing and is more commonly referred to as betel nut chewing, which is a misnomer given the nut component of the betel quid is the nut of the areca palm. Betel quid is prepared by adding different ingredients such as betel fruit, betel leaf, lime juice, tobacco, and other flavours to the betel nut according to local traditions that vary across Asia and the subcontinent.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ Whilst areca nut consumption and betel quid chewing is not prominent in the Australian population, it is practised by 600 million people worldwide, and is the fourth most commonly used drug in the world, after alcohol, tobacco, and caffeine.⁶⁶ Gene expression is distorted by hypermethylation with alkaloids from the betel nut, which may block tumour suppressor genes such as p14, p15, p16, and p53.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷ People who chew areca nut, but do not smoke or consume alcohol, have an odds ratio of 10.97 (3.22 ~ 37.34 95%CI) for developing oral cancer.^{58, 78} There is also significant epidemiological evidence of a synergistic effect between tobacco, alcohol, and areca nut consumption in the development of oral cancer.^{63, 79, 80}

2.2.4 Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)

The evidence for the role of HPV as an aetiologic agent in oral cancer has grown rapidly. Two recent meta-analyses found HPV to be an independent risk factor for oral cancer, but predominantly in the anatomical subset of oropharyngeal cancers.^{81, 82} HPV infections in the progression of head and neck cancer (HNC) have been consistently noted in 25% of cases.^{81, 83, 84} Over 100 different types of HPV exist; however, fewer than twenty are thought to have oncogenic potential.⁸⁵ HPV-16 is the most common genotype found in oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancer.⁸⁶ The E6 and E7 proteins produced by HPV-infected cells are thought to dysregulate the function of two oncosuppressors, p53 and pRb, resulting in uncontrolled DNA replication and impairment of apoptosis.⁸⁷ The combined effects of these leads to an increased tendency toward carcinogenic change. Studies suggest that HPV is a sexually transmitted infection.⁸⁸ Rates of survival and local recurrence are much better in HPV-positive oral cancer.^{89, 90} Individuals who also smoke are at high risk of developing HPV-16 positive HNC, and the prevalence of HPV-related HNC is increasing; this trend may be attributable to changes in sexual behaviours, particularly oral sex.^{57, 91, 92}

2.2.5 Poor Diet and Nutritional Deficiencies

Poor diet, or a diet lacking fresh fruit and vegetables, has emerged as a significant risk factor for HNC, independent of tobacco, alcohol, betel nut consumption, and HPV.^{93, 94} As

with other carcinomas outside the oral cavity, a diet high in consumption of fruits and vegetables appears protective against oral cancer when epidemiologic studies are controlled for tobacco and alcohol use.⁹⁵ Further investigation into this phenomenon has shown that β-carotene and vitamin A supplementation resulted in substantial regression of some OPMLs.^{96, 97} Increased consumption of green leafy vegetables and non-starchy tubers such as carrots reduces the risk of oropharyngeal cancer.⁹⁸ Iron deficiency anaemia in animal and human studies of the oral epithelium is often atrophic, in addition to showing rapid epithelial turnover.^{99, 100} One hypothesis for this as a risk factor for oral cancer is that iron deficiency may increase one's susceptibility to chemical carcinogens from the thin, atrophic, more permeable epithelium, and also from the high number of vulnerable dividing cells due to increased turnover.¹⁰⁰ The effect of individual food components and trace elements on carcinogenesis remains unclear.¹⁰¹

2.2.6 Ultraviolet (UV) Radiation

UV irradiation is the main cause of lip cancer, which is responsible for 30% of all OSCC.¹⁰² A high incidence of lip cancer has been reported among Caucasians and is approximately three times higher in males than females, which may be due to more outdoor occupations, UV exposure, and tobacco exposure amongst men.^{103, 104}

2.2.7 Age

There is no doubt that increasing age is a significant risk factor for developing oral cancer. In Europe, 98% of all head and neck cancer patients were more than 40 years old.¹⁰⁵ Similarly, in Australia it is rare to diagnose oral cancer (excluding lip) under the age of 40 years.¹⁰⁶

2.2.8 Sex

Overall, incidence and mortality rates are higher for males than females worldwide. In Australia over the 27-year period between 1982 and 2008, 71% of cases were diagnosed in males and 29% in females.¹¹ This may relate to higher lifetime consumption of alcohol and tobacco. The incidence trend among females is beginning to increase at higher rates than in the past, and again it is theorized that females collectively may be consuming larger amounts of alcohol and tobacco than before.¹⁰⁷

2.2.9 Socio-economic Status

Oral cancer is seen more often in people from lower socio-economic groups and those living in deprived areas.⁵⁴ Individuals with lower occupational status or social class, lower education level, or lower incomes, and those in manual labour roles, have a greater risk of developing oral cancer independent of lifestyle habits such as tobacco and alcohol consumption.^{108, 109} Hypothesized explanations for these socio-economic factors are plentiful and include limited access to healthcare and health information, exposure to harmful physical environments or agents, and stresses caused by job insecurity or unemployment.¹⁰⁹

2.2.10 Controversial Risk Factors with Limited Evidence

2.2.10.1 Oral Hygiene and Chronic Inflammation

Although poor oral hygiene and poor dentition (faulty restorations, sharp teeth, and illfitting dentures) have been implicated in a few epidemiological studies, it is not clear whether confounding by tobacco and alcohol have been addressed in these studies.^{54, 110,} ¹¹¹ Periodontal disease has been correlated with increased risk of oral cancer.¹¹² It is argued that chronic infection from periodontal disease results in low-grade inflammation and oxidative stress, which may contribute to carcinogenesis.¹¹² A recent case-control study from Japan found that frequent tooth brushing could reduce the risk of cancer of the upper aerodigestive tract, especially in the high-risk group of heavy tobacco and alcohol consumers.¹¹³ Several oral bacteria also metabolise alcohol to acetaldehyde, a known carcinogen.¹¹⁴ *Candida albicans* can also efficiently convert alcohol to the carcinogenic acetaldehyde, similarly to several bacteria in the oral flora.^{62, 114} Fungal infections, most commonly secondary to *Candida albicans*, may invade the oral epithelium and be involved in producing dysplastic change.^{62, 114} Evidence suggests that in addition to the inflammatory response, nitrosamines produced by the fungus may activate protooncogenes.¹¹⁴

2.2.10.2 Ethnicity

There is much discussion regarding the susceptibility to oral cancer based on ethnicity and race, as oral cancer incidence rates vary considerably across different groups in the world.⁴ For example, one study of African-American males showed a 15% higher incidence than in white American males.¹¹⁵ Another highlighted that south Asians have a far higher incidence that most other groups in the world.⁴ Nutritional differences, smoking patterns, differences in amounts smoked or alcohol consumed, and the two-way and

three-way interaction of betel quid chewing with smoking and alcohol, rather than genetic factors, may play a role in these observed variations in populations and high incidence in some ethnic and racial groups.⁵⁴

2.2.10.3 Heredity and Familial Risk

Recently, genetic factors such as p53 mutations, aberrant expression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and/or ligands for it, and promoter methylation of human MutL homolog1 (hMLH1) have all been correlated with oral cancers.¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁸ Although oral cancer is in part a genetic disease caused by environmental exposure to carcinogens, there are no associations with hereditary cancer syndromes to suggest heredity.⁵⁴ The relative risk of oral cavity cancer was between 1.2% and 3.8% for those who had a family history of HNC when compared with those with no such family history.¹¹⁹ Knowledge of heredity and genetic factors is increasing, but at present it does little to assist the general medical practitioner (GMP) or general dental practitioner (GDP) in performing a risk assessment, as the evidence for familial aggregation is limited.⁵⁴

2.2.10.4 Other Risk Factors

This literature review does not allow discussion of all risk factors, but it is important to mention some others from the literature. High levels of heavy metals, such as nickel (Ni), chromium (Cr), and arsenic (As), have been correlated with increased risk for oral cancer development.¹²⁰ Immunosuppression is certainly reported to increase lip cancer following kidney transplantation and is significantly related to use of azathioprine and cyclosporine.^{121, 122} Other controversial debated risk factors with limited evidence include diabetic immunosuppression, HIV infection and resultant immunosuppression, cannabis smoking, Khat (qat) chewing, alcohol containing mouthwash, indoor air pollution, and nicotine replacement products.⁵⁴

2.2.11 Oral Cancer Risk Factors in the Australian Population

In Australia the most significant risk factors in the development of oral cancer are increased age, tobacco use, and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} Prevalence data on tobacco smoking in Australia shows that the daily smoking rate has fallen from 20% in 2001 to 17% in 2007 and again to 15% in 2010.^{123, 124} In contrast, our indigenous Australians had a smoking prevalence of 50% in 2007.¹²⁵ In 2010, 46% of people aged 12 years and over drank alcohol at least weekly.¹²⁴ It is also widely known that Australia's consumption of alcohol per capita is high by world standards, at approximately 10L/year of pure alcohol

among individuals over the age of 15 compared to very high at approximately 15L/year for indigenous Australians.¹²⁶ As a nation Australia is at increased risk for developing OC based on this level of alcohol consumption.

Whilst it is rare to diagnose oral cancer (excluding lip) under the age of 40 years in Australia, the number of oral cancer cases is increasing in females under 45 years of age with no history of no alcohol or tobacco use, and ongoing research has implicated, though not proven, the role of HPV in such cases.^{2, 15, 54, 106} The incidence of male and female HPV-related cancers has drastically increased annually in Australia, predominantly in the oropharyngeal location.⁹¹ As a result, the current National HPV Vaccination Programme has included both males and females aged 12 to13 years since 2013 and may have an effect on the future incidence of these HPV-related cancers.¹²⁷

Practising GMPs and GDPs in Australia should be aware of the modifiable and nonmodifiable risk factors discussed above. In the developed world the most significant risk factors in the development of oral cancer are increased age, tobacco use, and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} A recent large international pooled study estimated the population attributable risks for tobacco and alcohol use to be 64% (95%CI:45-75%), showing that these two risk factors alone are responsible for a large number of cases.²⁸ In summation, reasonable populations to place in the higher-risk category for developing oral cancer in Australia are those over 40 years of age and those who regularly consume of tobacco and/or alcohol.

2.3 Timing of Diagnosis and Prognostic Implications

2.3.1 Prognostic Markers

Current markers that have been allocated independent prognostic value include age, gender, immunological status, nutritional status, size and location of tumour, stage of disease, nodal status, oncogene expression, proliferation markers, and DNA content. Of these, tumour stage at diagnosis remains the most important prognostic marker for OSCC. ^{6, 12} As stated in the Introduction, most oral cancers lack early symptoms and hence more than 60% of patients present in stage III or IV.^{13, 14, 16, 17} The reported five-year survival rate of stage III or IV oral cancer ranges between 15% and 55%.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ Survival rates improve significantly if the disease is treated at an early stage; hence, early detection of malignant lesions and OPMLs is important for reducing morbidity and mortality.^{14, 15, 21, 22}

2.3.2 Early Stage Diagnosis

Early detection of disease is a confusing term that can imply either a small tumour at diagnosis or a short time interval since development of the oral cancer, which introduces the concept of diagnostic delay.²³ An early stage at diagnosis is the aim of early detection strategies. To achieve an early stage at diagnosis the tumour should be small, less than 2cm in diameter, and less than 4mm in invasion depth, and is usually asymptomatic.²⁰ A difficulty with small-size tumour diagnosis is that by the time the cancer reaches a measurable size, it is possible that lymphatic or metastatic spread has already taken place.²³ A rational conclusion is that clinicians must be vigilant when monitoring OPMLs for malignant changes and opportunistic in their screening of higher-risk asymptomatic patients such as tobacco and alcohol consumers over 40 years of age.

For this to be achievable in the Australian population, both GMPs and GDPs must be knowledgeable regarding oral pathologies and competent to perform oral cancer screening examinations. In addition, patients must be aware of oral cancer and their individual risk factors for developing it before increased rates of early diagnosis are likely to be seen in Australia.

2.3.3 Diagnostic Delay

In addition to the challenge of finding and diagnosing these lesions at early stage of disease, it is also important to note that a significant body of literature suggests that diagnostic delay is also a determinant factor in oral cancer survival.^{25, 128, 129} Diagnostic delay generally refers to the time that elapses from the time the patient first becomes aware of symptoms until a definitive diagnosis is made following specialist review. This is commonly divided into patient and professional delay. Patient delay refers to the time that elapses from when symptoms begin until the patient first meets with a professional for a consultation regarding diagnosis.¹³⁰ Professional delay is the time that elapses from this initial consultation, often in the primary care setting, until a definitive diagnosis is made, often after referral to a specialist setting. In Australia this often involves biopsy, awaiting results, and referral to a specialised head and neck cancer clinic. The total diagnostic delay from the literature review averages 3 to 6 months and is roughly evenly distributed between patient and professional delay.²³ Whilst there is no Australian dataset on diagnostic delay, it is anticipated from anecdotal experience that the total delay is similar in

the Australian population, and this is investigated in our research.

Causes of patient delay are related to psychosocial issues, such as perceptions of symptoms and illness; behavioural responses; accessibility to health care, including financial; and structural and personal barriers such as beliefs, culture, and language.¹³¹ Esmaelbeigi et al. (2014) conducted a case-control study to explore factors that affect total diagnostic delay in oral cancer, and showed that out of 206 patients in an Iranian population, those with primary-level education had a 70% lower risk of delay compared to the illiterate patients (OR = 0.3, 95% CI 0.1–0.7), and the risk was lower again among patients with diploma-level education (OR = 0.04, 95% CI 0-0.7) and college level education (OR = 0.1, 95% CI 0–0.4).¹³² The delayed patients were diagnosed at a more advanced stage than were the patients without delay (OR = 2.1, 95% CI 1.0-4.4).¹³³ A recent study investigating barriers to oral cancer screening among rural African-Americans showed three primary patient barriers to screening.¹³³ Lack of knowledge (not knowing about oral cancer and not knowing oral cancer symptoms) accounted for 31.8% of all barriers mentioned, lack of resources (e.g., lack of money and health insurance) for 25.0%, and fear (e.g., fear of screening and diagnosis) for 22.9%. Howell et al. (2013) placed these barriers within the Theory of Planned Behaviour and concluded that interventions aimed at increasing oral cancer screening should focus first on changing individual's attitudes toward screening by increasing knowledge about oral cancer and reducing fear.¹³³

Causes of professional delay provide an opportunity for interventions, which may lead to increase in opportunistic screening of the higher-risk population. Research has shown that lack of knowledge regarding the main locations of oral cancer, low suspicion of oral cancer, and low levels of skill and confidence to perform a full head and neck examination with appropriate equipment are prevalent in the general medical and dental community to varying degrees.^{131, 134-136} The presence of co-morbidities in patients has also been shown to result in clinicians focusing their attention on the existing disorders.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ Prescription of medicines, such as analgesics, in the primary care setting (OR = 5.3, 95% CI 2.2–12.9), history of dental procedure (OR=6.8, 95% CI 1.7–26.9), and history of loose teeth increased the risk of delay by four times (OR = 4.0, 95% CI 1.6–9.8) and were associated with a higher risk of delay compared to patient who were biopsied from the beginning.¹³² Two studies suggest a strong relationship between professional delay and decreased survival rates, specifically when professional delay is longer than a month.^{140, 141} Two

further studies reported a significant association between professional delay and the tumour stage at diagnosis across a spread of different populations.^{137, 142}

Esmaelbeigi et al. (2014) showed that of out of 206 Iranian patients, 71.4% were diagnosed with oral cancer at an advanced stage (III-IV).¹³² The medians of the patient, professional, and total delays were 45, 86, and 140 days, respectively.¹³² In a systematic review by Gomez et al. (2009), total diagnostic delay was associated with a more advanced tumour stage at diagnosis and the pooled relative risk (RR) was 1.47 (95% CI: 1.09–1.99).³³ However, in a separate systematic review expanded to include all head and neck cancers, no association was found between diagnostic delay in head and neck cancers and tumour stage at diagnosis.¹⁴³ Seoane et al. (2010) further challenged the strength of the relationship with a statistical analysis of 83 OSCC cases, which showed that when the analysis was adjusted for tumour stage at diagnosis (I-II vs. III-IV), proliferative activity became an independent prognostic factor for survival, whereas diagnostic delay did not influence survival significantly.¹⁴⁴ To complicate the issue further, research on professional delay and mortality in tongue cancer is even more paradoxical, as less professional delay trends toward worse survival rates, which appears to be an unreasonable statistical outcome.^{140, 145} This paradoxical response whereby diagnostic delay, tumour stage, and prognosis are inversely related has also been described in breast, cervical, lung, colon, renal, and urethral cancer.¹⁴⁶ This suggests that stage at diagnosis and survival are affected more by the biology of the tumour (for example, rapid growth or poor differentiation) than by diagnostic delay.¹⁴⁶

Rather than focusing on delay as a major contributor to tumour stage at diagnosis and survival, the focus should be shifted to identifying lesions in the asymptomatic period. An overwhelming volume of literature shows that many patients are diagnosed in the symptomatic phase, often at an advanced stage (III-IV) of disease. As research on diagnostic delay by definition deals with the symptomatic phase, if an early stage diagnosis is to be achieved, then future research efforts should focus on improving oral cancer screening in the asymptomatic phase through appropriate screening strategies. A reasonable conclusion is that, regardless of the body of research focusing on diagnostic delay from time of first symptoms, the true clinical aim is to diagnose a lesion in the asymptomatic phase as either an OPML, an OED, or a small-size tumour at diagnosis; that is, less than 2cm in diameter and less than 4mm in invasion depth.²⁰

2.4 Screening Strategies

The WHO defines screening as the presumptive identification of unrecognised disease or defects by means of tests, examinations, or other procedures that can be applied rapidly.¹⁴⁷ The overall benefit should also outweigh any harm that results from screening. In addition, when community resources are used to fund screening, there should be a community consensus that the benefits of screening justify the expense.¹⁴⁸

In Australia, the Australian Health Minister's Population Based Screening Framework sets out clear guidelines, based on the WHO principles of screening, to define when a disease is suitable for population-based screening versus opportunistic case-finding, herein referred to as opportunistic screening.⁷⁸ Based on these guidelines, oral cancer does not fulfil the requirements for a population-based screening programme.¹⁴⁹

A Cochrane systematic review evaluated screening strategies for reducing oral cancer mortality and revealed that there is insufficient evidence to recommend inclusion or exclusion of screening for oral cancer using a visual and tactile examination in the general population.^{25, 27} According to the WHO and NIDCR, an oral cancer screening examination should include a visual examination of the face, neck, lips, labial mucosa, buccal mucosa, gingiva, floor of the mouth, tongue, and palate with mouth mirrors to help visualise all surfaces.³⁰ The tactile examination includes palpating the regional lymph nodes, tongue, and floor of the mouth.³⁰ The Cochrane collaboration concluded by encouraging opportunistic screening and stating that GMPs and GDPs should continue to carry out visual and tactile examination of the oral cavity as an integral part of their routine daily work, and particular attention should be paid to high-risk individuals.²⁷

An expert European consortium formed in 2014 to systematically review the oral cancer and pre-cancer screening programmes in Europe. As there are no randomised controlled trials (RCTs), the findings were essentially the same as the Cochrane collaboration in 2013.^{24, 25} In 2015 at the 11th Asian Congress of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery (ACOMS), an expert consensus was reached to highlight the importance of oral cancer screening by various conventional and novel methods based on scientific research into their populations.²⁶ In Asia the emphasis is on addressing the relatively high prevalence rate of oral cancer due to tobacco and betel nut consumption.²⁶

Monteiro et al. (2015) carried out separate invitational and opportunistic oral cancer

screening interventions in the city of Oporto in Portugal. The first part of this study was an invitational screening programme where residents of Oporto City were invited to attend on a designated screening day advertised via a mass media campaign.¹⁵⁰ Pre-information regarding the oral cancer screening day were provided by screen shots on the Portuguese television, notices in newspapers and also by radio announcements.¹⁵⁰ Additionally, the announcements of the screening day and central city location were by posters on local billboards and by distribution of leaflets at public places.¹⁵⁰ The second part of the study was an opportunistic screening programme offered to consenting patients visiting for dental consultation (first appointment) in a public hospital of Oporto City.¹⁵⁰ A total of 727 individuals responded (277 males and 450 females) with a mean age of 54 years (range 18-94), and an oral cancer screening tactile and visual examination was performed.¹⁵⁰ A total of 267 (36.7%) were from the invitational oral cancer screening day. Twenty-two OPMLs, 9 cases of lichen planus, no erythroplakia, and no erythroleukoplakia were detected.¹⁵⁰ In addition, two oral carcinomas were detected early, with both in the T1 stage of the disease and identified in the asymptomatic phase.¹⁵⁰

Initial outcomes recently published from an integrated outpatient-based screening programme for oral cancer in Taipei, Taiwan also support the need for screening in the asymptomatic phase. High-risk patients attending an outpatient facility at Far Eastern Memorial Hospital were identified using an automated system based on their response to questions regarding tobacco and betel nut usage, and then they were offered the opportunity to be screened with a standard visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.³² A total of 8037 high-risk patients were recruited as participants to the screened cohort from the automated system; 1664 patients were identified with positive lesions, and 302 patients underwent a biopsy. Five patients were diagnosed with oral cancer and 121 with dysplastic OPMLs.³² The stage of disease at diagnosis of this asymptomatic cohort was compared to a symptomatic cohort presenting to the same outpatient facility for investigation of a symptomatic oral lesion.³² The symptomatic cohort comprised 157 patients with oral cancers and 61 with OPMLs, and, as expected, the automated screening programme identified earlier stages of oral cancers than the symptomatic cohort.³²

There is only one study investigating high-risk populations and oral mucosal disease in Australia. The Lesion Evaluation, Screening and Identification of Oral Neoplasia Study (LESIONS) aims to understand factors that may influence all oral mucosal disease in a

high-risk population with a particular focus on oral cancers and OPMLs.¹⁵¹ LESIONS has targeted two communities at high risk of oral cancer and OPMLs. The first was a low socio-economic region characterised by documented higher rates of tobacco and alcohol consumption.¹⁵¹ The second was an indigenous Australian population known to present with a higher rate of cancer-related modifiable risk factors, namely tobacco consumption and excessive alcohol use, which were 20% and 10% higher, respectively, than the general Australian population.¹⁵¹ The authors recently reported on the recruitment experiences and outcomes from the programme across ten screening sites within public and private dental clinics, indigenous health clinics and a community pharmacy.¹⁵¹ A visual and tactile oral mucosal screening examination was completed on 1498 participants by one of 11 trained and calibrated dentists or oral health therapists.¹⁵¹ In these high-risk populations, oral mucosal lesions were detected in over half the cohort examined, but only 16% were clinically non-homogenous and more likely to contain dysplasia or early malignant change.¹⁵¹ The results of biopsy and specialist review are not presented in the current report, however, the bivariate and multivariable analysis concludes that increased age, moderate/heavy tobacco consumption and high socioeconomic disadvantage are strongly associated with the prevalence of non-homogenous oral mucosal lesions.¹⁵¹

Huang et al. (2015) have recently published their nation-wide analysis of 22024 cases of oral cancer in Taiwan after follow-up for 10 years.¹⁸ In their retrospective analysis they conclude that early diagnosis and early intervention before stage II can significantly improve life expectancy and decrease expected years of life lost to oral cancer.¹⁸ The results will be used to encourage the public to participate in oral cancer screening programmes.¹⁸ In Western populations where betel nut usage is minimal, population-based annual or semi-annual screening for oral cancer is not cost-effective.²³ Instead, targeting high-risk groups such as tobacco and alcohol consumers over 40 years of age to be opportunistically screened using a visual and tactile examination should be encouraged in the primary care setting.²³

2.5 Opportunistic Screening: Opportunities and Threats

2.5.1 Patient Factors

In Australia, for opportunistic screening to occur, asymptomatic patients need to attend a GMP or GDP and receive an oral cancer screening examination. Specific educational interventions to raise awareness of oral cancer and knowledge of the risk factors for

developing it is predicted to increase the number of patients requesting an oral cancer screening examination. In the UK, patients' knowledge of oral cancer is low compared to that of other types of cancer.¹⁵² A theory-based study found that a group at high risk for oral cancer wanted not only more information on the symptoms of oral cancer, but also more guidance on how to evaluate symptoms.¹⁵³ Clear evidence of successful educational interventions includes the increased numbers of oral cancer screening examinations that have been performed over the years following the introduction of Oral Cancer Awareness Week (now Month) in the UK and Oral Cancer Awareness Month in the USA in 2000.^{154, 155}

Many factors contribute to patient delay, such as perception of symptoms and illness and the behavioural responses they elicit, in addition to the major issue of accessibility to health care, including financial, structural, and personal barriers.¹⁴⁴ These same factors present a threat to opportunistic screening strategies and opportunities for improvement. In Australia, each citizen has access to a free public health system with access to many GMPs under the government-funded Medicare scheme. However, citizens do not have access to a free dental health system. Australian citizens in the lowest income percentage, who are healthcare cardholders, are entitled to free dental treatment but are usually subject to long waiting lists unless emergent treatment is required. Research has shown that patients with oral lesions often consult their GMPs rather than their GDPs, even in the UK where there is greater access to free dental treatment.^{156, 157} A recent systematic review of patient acceptance of screening for oral cancer outside the dental setting showed that GMPs can be confident that acceptance of and satisfaction with oral cancer screening is high, particularly when patients have previously been educated about oral cancer.¹⁵⁸ It is assumed, but not proven, that most patients with oral cancer in Australia would act similarly and present to GMPs in the symptomatic phase, given the lack of general subsidised access to GDPs under the Medicare scheme.

This assumption will be tested in Chapter Three of this thesis, which investigates patients who have been diagnosed with oral cancer through the head and neck cancer clinic at the RBWH.

2.5.2 General Medical and Dental Practitioners

In order to achieve an early stage at diagnosis, a patient should ideally be diagnosed in the asymptomatic phase. This requires a GMP, GDP or other health professional to

perform an oral cancer screening examination. This takes approximately 90 seconds to perform after adequate training and includes extra-oral and intra-oral examinations in white light and manual palpation of related specific sites.^{159, 160} The examination should be accompanied by a review of the patient's medical and dental history.^{159, 160} GMPs and GDPs should also be confident in the clinical signs of a malignant lesion and OPML, as this is key to reducing the anxiety associated with inappropriate referrals of benign pathologies.¹⁶¹ In December 2000 the UK Department of Health introduced Oral Cancer Awareness Week and also attempted to reduce professional delay by implementing the two-week rule system with regard to referrals of head and neck cancer. Under this system GMPs and GDPs would utilise a standard referral form and have the patients reviewed by a specialist within two weeks. Several audits of this intervention have shown it to be successful in reducing professional delay, but a high proportion of non-malignant lesions have been referred, with no significant improvement in stage of disease at diagnosis.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵ This highlights a low sensitivity among GMPs and GDPs and stresses the need for further education and training in assessing malignant lesions and OPMLs.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵ Whilst newer techniques, such as toluidine blue staining, chemiluminescence, and autofluorescence, are becoming more established clinical tools for differentiating dysplastic from nondysplastic lesions and malignant from non-malignant tissue, the most suitable, accessible, and practical screening tool for a GMP or GDP remains a methodical extra-oral and intraoral examination in adequate white light.^{166, 167}

When oral cancer awareness among GMPs and GDPs is compared, there is significant divergence in most populations studied. A study in the UK found that GMPs were less likely to examine patients' oral mucosa routinely, were less likely to advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer, identified fewer risk factors for oral cancer, and felt less confident about diagnosing it from clinical appearance than their dental counterparts.¹⁶⁸ In the USA a similar study concluded the GDPs were much more likely to feel adequately trained and regularly provide oral cancer screening examinations, but much less likely to discuss tobacco and alcohol cessation or to palpate the neck nodes.¹⁶⁹ Similar studies in Saudi Arabia, Qazvin, Ireland, and Scotland reported similar key findings. In summary, GMPs are less intent on performing oral cancer screening, less skilful in performing oral cancer screening examinations pathologies in the oral cavity than GDPs.¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷³ A recent study of 640 GDPs in Australia showed that over 90% regularly perform oral mucosal screening examinations for all patients.³¹ Australian GDPs reported lack of training, confidence, time, and financial incentives as barriers to

performing mucosal screening to at least some degree.³¹ While most Australian GDPs manage referrals for oral mucosal pathology appropriately and promptly, only half believe in following up with the referred patients and only half believe they could influence a patient to quit smoking.³¹

The intent of GMPs to conduct oral cancer screening has been investigated utilising the Theory of Planned Behaviour and this has identified barriers to conducting oral examinations for screening purposes in general medical practice. The results suggest considerable potential for improving intention to perform oral cancer screening in general practice.¹⁷⁴ Suggested interventions include: 1) theory-based interventions, such as further training to enhance confidence, expertise, knowledge, and ease of examination, 2) provision of adequate equipment in the surgery (light and dental mirrors), and 3) introducing guidelines on opportunistic screening that increase motivation to comply, with more peers performing screening or an oral cancer awareness month.¹⁷⁴

In regard to GMP skill in oral cancer screening examinations, there is a statistically significant association between undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on examination of the oral cavity and whether practitioners felt confident in their ability to detect oral cancer.¹⁷³ GMPs display decreased diagnostic confidence in detecting malignant or OPMLs. In fact, in a study of Irish GMPs, a statistically significant association was found between undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on the diagnosis of oral malignant disease and whether practitioners felt confident in their ability to detect oral cancer and OPMLs clinically.¹⁷³ The authors concluded that the level of knowledge of GMPs needs to be addressed with appropriate initiatives both at undergraduate level and via continued medical education (CME).¹⁷³ This raises the question of what is being taught at medical schools to improve these poor findings regarding the oral cancer awareness, intent to opportunistically screen, and skill in examination and diagnosis of GMPs when compared to GDPs. In addition, a potentially greater threat to improving opportunistic screening amongst GMPs was identified in a Scottish study in which a high proportion (66%) of GMPs felt strongly that oral cancer detection is the remit of the dental team.¹⁷² At present there is no data to suggest Australian GMPs are similar to their Scottish counterparts in knowledge, attitudes, and behaviour regarding oral cancer screening; however, if this attitude does pervade among Australian GMPs then it may prove difficult to change behaviour pertaining to opportunistic screening. At present the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) teaches that there is insufficient evidence to recommend

screening by visual inspection or by other screening methods.¹⁷⁵ The RACGP identifies increased-risk individuals as smokers aged greater than 50 years, heavy drinkers, users of chewing tobacco or areca/betel nuts, and those exposed to excessive UV in the lip area.¹⁷⁵ If an individual is identified as having an increased risk, the RACGP encourages opportunistic examination of mouth and lips every 12 months but does not provide an examination description matching the desired nine-step visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.^{30, 175}

2.5.3 Medical and Dental Student Education

Studies comparing UK undergraduate medical and dental students showed that the students gave responses similar to those of their senior colleagues, suggesting there will be no improvement in the next generation of doctors regarding oral cancer screening.¹⁷⁶ Again, these results are echoed in studies from Iran, Nigeria, and the USA, and suggest a need to review the curriculum of medical and dental schools to improve awareness of and behaviour toward increased screening.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁸¹

In fact, two significant studies investigated the curriculum for oral cancer teaching in the USA and UK. In 2011, the majority of the responding USA medical schools offered very little oral health education, with approximately 80% offering less than five hours of oral health curriculum over the entire course.¹⁸² Alarmingly, similar research 15 years earlier in the USA also concluded that oral cancer training lacked both adequacy and comprehensiveness.¹⁸³ A logical conclusion is that there has been no improvement in training over this 15-year period. Similarly, in a 2011 UK study, undergraduate oral cancer teaching varied widely in terms of duration, format, and content, and the authors concluded that there is a need to develop a curriculum to address the important aspects of oral cancer from an evidence-based approach that can be integrated into the already-crowded undergraduate medical curriculum.¹⁸⁴

2.5.4 Contribution of Bias

Whilst diagnosis in the asymptomatic phase from opportunistic oral cancer screening is worth achieving, it should be noted that the success of any screening intervention could be affected by length-time and lead-time bias.

Length-time bias occurs when the possibility of detecting aggressive (rapid-growing) oral

cancers by screening is low due to the fact that the period until symptoms arise is short. In contrast, less aggressive (slow-growing) cancers have longer periods until symptoms arise and are easier to detect by screening.¹⁴⁶ This phenomenon may lead a researcher to think that an early diagnosis improves prognosis, when in fact the screening approach simply detects tumours that are biologically less aggressive.²³

Lead-time bias occurs when survival following an oral cancer diagnosis seems better when cases are diagnosed early, when in fact the patient did not live any longer than he or she would have if the cancer had been diagnosed in the symptomatic period.²³

The contribution of both of these potential sources for bias must be considered when analysing data on the success of screening programmes. To date there is insufficient evidence to conclude that screening alters disease-specific mortality in an asymptomatic person seeking GMP or GDP care.² Of course, insufficient evidence only means that there no methodologically sound studies are available to support the given screening approach.¹⁴⁶
CHAPTER THREE: AUSTRALIAN PATIENTS WITH ORAL CANCER

3.1 Introduction

Oral cancer has one of the highest mortality rates among all malignancies worldwide.³ Over the last twenty years the incidence of oral cancer has increased throughout developed regions globally, including Australia, New Zealand, North America, Europe, and parts of East Asia.^{185, 186} Overall, the five-year survival rate is approximately 50% for all anatomical sites and stages.¹¹ The most important prognostic marker for oral cancer remains tumour stage at diagnosis.^{6, 12} Unfortunately, most oral cancers lack early symptoms, and hence by the time symptoms do develop and stimulate a patient to seek a diagnosis, the disease has already reached advanced stage, resulting in more than 60% of patients being diagnosed with stage III and IV disease.^{13, 14}The reported five-year survival rate for stage III or IV oral cancer ranges between 15% and 55%.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ Survival rates are significantly improved if the disease is treated at an early stage, ideally when the patient is asymptomatic with a tumour less than 2cm in diameter and with less than 4mm of invasion.²⁰ Therefore, early detection of malignant lesions and oral potentially malignant lesions (OPMLs) is an important goal for reducing morbidity and mortality.^{14, 15, 21, 22}

Huang et al. (2015) recently published an analysis of 22,024 pathologically verified cases of oral cancer in Taiwan after follow-up for 10 years.¹⁸ In their retrospective analysis, they concluded that early diagnosis and intervention before stage II can significantly improve life expectancy and decrease expected years of life lost to oral cancer.¹⁸ These results will be used to encourage the public to participate in oral cancer screening programmes.¹⁸ The Cochrane collaboration and an expert European consortium agreed that whilst population-based annual or semi-annual screening for oral cancer is not cost-effective, targeting high-risk groups—such as tobacco and alcohol consumers over 40 years of age—with opportunistic screening using a visual and tactile examination should be encouraged in the primary care setting.²³⁻²⁵ Opportunistic oral cancer screening should remain an integral part of routine daily work for GMPs and GDPs, with particular attention paid to high-risk individuals.²⁷

In Australia the most significant risk factors for the development of oral cancer are increased age, tobacco, and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} While it is rare to diagnose oral cancer (excluding lip) under the age of 40 years in Australia, an increasing number of

cases show no prior alcohol or tobacco use; often these are women under 45 years of age.^{2, 15, 54, 106} Ongoing research has suggested a role for HPV in such cases, although this has not been confirmed.^{2, 15, 54, 106} The incidence of male and female HPV-related oropharyngeal cancers in Australia has significantly increased annually across both genders in line with global trends.⁹¹

To date only one Australia cohort of patients has been investigated regarding patient awareness, risk factors and components of diagnostic delay, however this study was limited to patients attending a private specialist oral medicine clinic, and most of the pathology noted was OPMLs, with only 8 cases of OSCC.¹⁸⁷ No Australian cohort of patients with newly diagnosed and pathologically confirmed oral cancer has been investigated regarding patient awareness, knowledge of risk factors, actual risk factors, patient delay, professional delay, diagnostic delay and access to health practitioners in the Australian health system in the asymptomatic phase prior to diagnosis. Much research has focused on review of patient and professional delay, but this research precedes the patient delay phase and focuses on the asymptomatic phase where the oral cancer may be present and detected at an earlier stage of disease.³² A key aim is to identify missed opportunities for early diagnosis of malignant lesions or OPMLs by investigating patient interactions with GMPs and GDPs in the asymptomatic phase.

3.2 Hypotheses

- 1. Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had poor awareness of oral cancer prior to their diagnosis.
- 2. Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had poor knowledge of risk factors prior to their diagnosis.
- 3. Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had one or more known risk factors for oral cancer at the time of diagnosis.
- 4. Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had exposure to health practitioners in the asymptomatic phase in the preceding months or years before awareness of symptoms or diagnosis occurred.
- 5. No oral cancer patient at the RWBH had ever been opportunistically screened for oral cancer by a GMP in the asymptomatic phase.

3.3 Aims

- 1. To assess participants' awareness of oral cancer prior to diagnosis.
- 2. To assess participants' knowledge of risk factors prior to diagnosis.
- 3. To identify participants' risk factors for oral cancer at diagnosis.
- 4. To assess patient, professional, and total diagnostic delay.
- 5. To identify whether participants had opportunities in the Australian health system to receive an opportunistic oral cancer screen in the asymptomatic phase.

3.4 Methods and Materials

Ethical Approvals

The study protocol was approved by the University of Queensland Dental Science Research Ethics Committee (1217) and the RBWH Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/14/QRBW/82).

Study Design

Following extensive review of the literature, a questionnaire was designed to address the study aims. A cohort of Australian patients diagnosed with pathologically verified oral cancer (excluding lip) through the RBWH Head and Neck Clinic under the Metro North Hospital and Health Service of Queensland Health were invited to participate in the year-long study. The validity and reliability of the questionnaire was established with a small pilot group of six patients, utilising the test and re-test method.

Participant Recruitment

The research study pack contained an introductory cover letter on Queensland Health letterhead signed by the site coordinator, a participant information form, a form for informed consent, the questionnaire, and a professionally addressed and stamped return envelope for return of the questionnaire. As recruitment in a retrospective manner, the research study pack was mailed, utilising the modified Dillman method known to increase response rates, to patients who were recently diagnosed with an oral cancer (excluding lip) three months prior to the ethical clearance date (April 2014).^{31, 187-189} In a prospective manner, new patients attending the RBWH Head and Neck Clinic until January 2015 who were diagnosed with an oral cancer (excluding lip) were invited to participate on the day of their attendance by the approved site coordinator or their delegate employee of Queensland Health; this was independent from the researchers. The participants were

able to freely consent and either complete the questionnaire at the clinic or return it via pre-paid mail. The questionnaire responses were initially identifiable to allow a follow-up phone call for clarification of responses if required, and to award the incentive ("a new iPad"), which was randomly drawn by the chief investigator at the conclusion of data collection.

Questionnaire

The questionnaire consisted of 36 open, multiple-choice, or closed questions investigating demographics; awareness of oral cancer before diagnosis; knowledge of risk factors before diagnosis; asymptomatic or symptomatic diagnosis; symptoms developed; referral pathway; dates for calculation of patient, professional, and diagnostic delay; analysis of interactions with GMPs, GDPs, and any other health professionals in the asymptomatic phase before diagnosis; and any risk factors the participant had prior to diagnosis. A full copy of the questionnaire is given in Appendix A.

Data Analysis

Completed questionnaires were de-identified, manually coded and recorded into Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Washington, USA) to allow statistical analysis of binary and non-binary responses. Insufficient numbers of patients were recruited in the year to allow subset analysis of patient groups with any significance. The results were expressed as proportions and frequency count charts calculated using Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, USA)

3.5 Research Results

Unless otherwise stated, all percentages reported are the percentage in agreement.

3.5.1 Response Rate and Demographics

22 of 27 questionnaires mailed to the retrospective group and 81 of 85 questionnaires mailed to the prospective group were returned, giving a total of 103 questionnaires returned and an overall response rate of 92%. The median age of participants was 65 years, and 74 (72%) were male and 29 (28%) were female; these were the only demographics collected via Questions 1 and 2.

3.5.2 Patient Awareness of Oral Cancer

Table 3.1 presents the responses to Questions 3 to 10 regarding patients' awareness of oral cancer before receiving a diagnosis. Of interest is that 6% of participants had a previous diagnosis of oral cancer and 25% had a friend or relative with a previous diagnosis of oral cancer, and yet in spite of that exposure, only 17% stated that they had ever read anything about oral cancer prior to their own diagnosis. If a participant had answered 'no' to Questions 3 through 9, then they were left with a positive response to Question 10, highlighting, after clarification of responses by the chief investigator, that 46% had never heard of oral cancer until their diagnosis.

	Yes		No)
n=103	n	%	n	%
Have you worked with patients with oral cancer in a health care role?	3	3%	100	97%
Have you had a previous diagnosis of oral cancer?	6	6%	97	94%
Have you had a previous diagnosis of oral cancer in your extended family?	12	12%	91	88%
Have you had a previous diagnosis or oral cancer in a friend?	13	13%	90	87%
Have you heard of a previous diagnosis of oral cancer in someone not known to you but you had heard about it from others or from talking or online?	31	30%	72	70%
Have you ever read anything about oral cancer prior to your diagnosis?	17	17%	86	83%
Had you never heard of oral cancer until you were diagnosed?	47	46%	56	54%

Table 3.1: Patient Awareness of Oral Cancer

3.5.3 Patient Knowledge and Risk Factors

	Patient k	Patient knowledge		present
n=103	n	%	n	%
Tobacco	54	52%	69	67%
Alcohol	15	15%	68	66%
Betel Nut	0	0%	2	2%
HPV	2	2%	5	5%
Poor Diet	0	0%	11	11%
Age > 40 years	0	0%	98	95%
Male	0	0%	74	72%
Family History	3	3%	3	3%
OPML	3	3%	3	3%
Poor Dental Hygiene	1	1%	Not assessed	NA

Table 3.2: Patient Knowledge of Risk Factors vs. Actual Risk Factors
--

Table 3.2 presents the responses to Questions 11 and 34, highlighting the fact that approximately half (52%) of participants identified tobacco consumption (smoking or smokeless) as a risk factor, despite 67% using tobacco themselves. In addition, only 15% were aware that alcohol consumption is a risk factor, in contrast to 66% being regular consumers of alcohol. Three participants (3%) identified an OPML as a risk factor, due to all three being repeatedly monitored for their own OPML via clinical review. Overall, participants are low in knowledge of other risk factors, such as human papilloma virus (HPV), betel (areca) nut consumption, age, sex (male), and a diet poor in fresh fruit and vegetables. 95% were over 40 years of age at diagnosis, and 67% and 66% were regular consumers of tobacco and alcohol, respectively.

3.5.4 Patient Diagnostic Process

Table 3.3 represents the responses to Questions 12-15 and 17, and reveals that only 7% of all participants were diagnosed in the asymptomatic phase, and all these were by health practitioners with a dental qualification. The remaining 93% of participants were only diagnosed once symptoms had developed, with the large majority (73%) electing to see a GMP rather than a GDP (14%) for explanation of their symptoms. The three most common symptoms that led participants to present to a health practitioner were pain (60%), a lump/lesion (52%), and an ulcer/sore (43%).

Table 3.3: Patient Diagnostic Process

	n	%
Asymptomatic Diagnosis (Yes responses= 7, n=103)	7	7%
Diagnosed by Dental Practitioner	4	4%
Diagnosed by Dental Specialist (Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist)	2	2%
Diagnosed by General Medical Practitioner	0	0%
Diagnosed by OMF Surgeon (monitoring OPML)	1	1%
Symptomatic Diagnosis (Yes responses = 96, n=96)	96	93%
Diagnosed by Dental Practitioner	14	14%
Diagnosed by Dental Specialist (Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist)	0	0%
Diagnosed by General Medical Practitioner	75	73%
Diagnosed by Medical Specialist	4	4%
Diagnosed by Emergency Physician	3	3%
What symptoms did you develop before diagnosis? (n=96)		
Altered Neurology	5	5%
Altered Speech	2	2%
Bleeding	4	4%
Erythema	2	2%
Lump/Lesion	50	52%
Pain	58	60%
Ulcer/Sore	41	43%
Weight Loss	4	4%

95 of 96 participants were able to recall the date of symptoms and date of attending their initial health practitioner. Questions 16, 18, and 19 allow calculation of the patient and professional delay (Figure 3.1) and the overall diagnostic delay (Figure 3.2). The median patient delay was 14 days. The median professional delay was 34 days. The median of total diagnostic delay was 62.5 days, or 9 weeks.



Figure 3.1: Patient and Professional Delay



Number of weeks from symptom to first attendance at Head and Neck Clinic

Figure 3.2: Diagnostic Delay

3.5.5 Encounters with Medical Profession in Asymptomatic Phase

Table 3.4 displays the responses to Questions 20-26 and highlights the fact that 92% of participants had seen their GMP in the preceding two years before diagnosis, 80% had seen their GMP within the last six months (37% less than one month, 28% between one and three months, and 15% between three and six months) and 63% saw their GMP at least three times a year. These responses show there are many attendances where opportunistic oral cancer screening could have been performed. Of concern is that while 84% of participants state they have a regular GMP, only 3% of their GMPs had ever discussed the risk factors for oral cancer, and only 6% responded that their GMPs had ever performed an oral cancer screening examination on them.

Table 3.4: Patient Encounters with General Medical Practitioners

	Yes	5	No		
n=103	n	%	n	%	
Did you access a GMP in Australia in the preceding two years for any other reason?	94	91%	9	9%	
Do you have a regular GMP in Australia that you would call "your GP"?	86	83%	17	17%	
At any time, has a GMP in Australia discussed oral cancer or its risk factors with you?	3	3%	100	97%	
At any time, has a GMP in Australia performed oral cancer screening examination on you?	6	6%	97	94%	
Prior to symptoms or diagnosis (for those participants with an asymptoto a GMP? (N=103)	matic diagno	osis), when wa	s the last visit		
< 1 month before symptoms	38	37%			
1 - 3 months before symptoms	29	28%			
3 - 6 months before symptoms	15	15%			
6 - 12 months before symptoms	8	8%			
> 12 months before symptoms	6	6%			
Unknown	7	7%			
Participant has a regular GMP and lists average number of visits per y regular GMP (n=86)	ear to their				
0	3	3%			
1	9	9%			
2	9	9%			
3	10	10%			
4	18	17%			
5+	37	36%			
Participant has no regular GMP and lists average number of visits per year to any GMP (n=16)					
0	10	10%			
1	2	2%			
2	1	1%			
3	1	1%			
4	2	2%			
5+	0	0%			
Unknown	1	1%			

3.5.6 Encounters with Dental Profession in Asymptomatic Phase

Table 3.5 presents the responses to Questions 27-33 and reveals that fewer participants (65%) had seen a GDP in the preceding two years before they developed symptoms, and only 47% had a regular GDP. Of those who had a regular GDP, most attended their dentist only once or twice per year. The remaining 53% did not have a regular GDP and predominantly would only see a dentist for an emergent dental problem, with the vast majority stating zero times per year as their average rate of dental visits. These questions also revealed that 6% of participants had their risk factors for oral cancer discussed with them by a GDP and a GDP had performed an oral cancer screening examination on 9%.

Table 3.5: Patient Encounters with General Dental Practitioners

	Yes			No
n=103	n	%	n	%
Did you access a GDP in Australia in the preceding two years for any other reason?	67	65.0%	36	35.0%
Do you have a regular GDP in Australia that you would call "your dentist"?	48	46.6%	55	53.4%
At any time, has a GDP in Australia discussed oral cancer or its risk factors with you?	6	5.8%	97	94.2%
At any time, has a GDP in Australia performed oral cancer screening examination on you?	9	8.7%	94	91.3%
Prior to symptoms or diagnosis (for those participants with an asymptomatic diagnosis), when was the last visit to a GDP?	n	%		
< 1 month before symptoms	12	11.7%		
1 - 3 months before symptoms	10	9.7%		
3 - 6 months before symptoms	14	13.6%		
6 - 12 months before symptoms	18	17.5%		
> 12 months before symptoms	24	23.3%		
Unknown	25	24.3%		
Participant has a regular GDP and lists average number of visits per year to their regular GDP (n=48)				
0	2	1.9%		
1	22	21.4%		
2	17	16.5%		
3	4	3.9%		
4	2	1.9%		
5+	1	1.0%		
Participant has no regular GDP and lists average number of visits per year to any GDP (n=55)				
0	48	46.6%		
1	5	4.9%		
2	0	0.0%		
3	0	0.0%		
4	1	1.0%		
5+	1	1.0%		
Unknown	0	0.0%		

3.6 Discussion

Prevention and early stage of diagnosis are promising for oral cancers because of known risk factors and the relative ease of identifying oral cancers and OPMLs by a simple oral cancer screening examination. For an oral cancer screening examination to be performed in the primary healthcare setting requires either the patient to be sufficiently aware of oral cancer and risk factors to request one, or the GMP or GDP to be aware of oral cancer and the patient's risk factors and initiate an oral cancer screening examination. The first study aim was to assess participants' awareness of oral cancer. Unfortunately, this study-of patients with newly-diagnosed oral cancer presenting to a public hospital head and neck clinic-reports one of the lowest scores in the literature regarding awareness of oral cancer, with 46% stating they had never heard of oral cancer until their diagnosis. This is in contrast to reports from the USA in which only 14-15.5% of adults had never heard of oral cancer.^{190, 191} The low awareness of oral cancer in this Australian cohort is highlighted by the response from 67% of current participants that they had been regular consumers of tobacco in Australia where plain packaging of tobacco products is legislated. This packaging contained graphic images of lip, mouth, tongue, and lung cancer for many years preceding this study. This suggests that even plain packaging of tobacco products has failed to raise awareness of oral cancer in a high-risk population. Another Australian study investigated 101 patients referred with a suspicious oral lesion to a private oral medicine clinic.¹⁸⁷ These patients reported being far more aware of oral cancer, with 91.8% having heard about someone with oral cancer.¹⁸⁷ Patients in this study expected that both GDPs and GMPs should check for and be able to explain oral mucosal pathology, raising the question of whether the general public might expect similar standards of care.¹⁸⁷ The demographics of these two Australian cohorts are very different, making comparison between the two groups difficult; however, there is an obvious wide divide in awareness of oral cancer when private and public patients are compared.

The second and third study aims were to identify participants' knowledge of risk factors and their actual risk factors (Table 3.2). With regard to actual risk factors for oral cancer, this Australian cohort is consistent with results reported from other cohorts from developed nations, in that the most significant risk factors identified are increased age, tobacco use, and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} 95% were over 40 years of age at diagnosis, and 67% and 66% were regular consumers of tobacco and alcohol, respectively. There was poor knowledge of these important risk factors and almost no knowledge of HPV as a risk factor. A recent international large pooled study estimated the population attributable risks

for tobacco and alcohol use to be 64% (95%CI:45-75%), showing these two risk factors alone are responsible for a large number of cases.²⁸ The poor knowledge of risk factors for oral cancer logically follows from the cohort's generally poor awareness of oral cancer. Over the last 20 years the anti-tobacco campaign in Australia has been very strong, so it is not surprising that approximately half (52%) of participants identified tobacco consumption (smoking or smokeless) as a risk factor for oral cancer. However, considering the volume of anti-tobacco campaign material in the Australian community, and that 67% of participants reported using tobacco themselves, a much higher figure of 90-100% was expected. Additionally, only 15% were aware that alcohol consumption is a risk factor, while 66% were regular consumers of alcohol. In contrast to the strength of the anti-tobacco campaign, there is very little promotion of the health risks of alcohol in Australia.

The lack of awareness and knowledge in our Australian cohort can be improved with specific educational interventions, either in the general population or targeted to high-risk groups. The Lesion Evaluation, Screening and Identification of Oral Neoplasia Study (LESIONS) aims to understand factors that may influence all oral mucosal disease in a high-risk population with a particular focus on oral cancers and OPMLs.¹⁵¹ LESIONS targeted two Australian communities at high risk of oral cancer and OPMLs, mostly in the dental setting but also at a community pharmacy location. The first was a low socioeconomic region characterised by documented higher rates of tobacco and alcohol consumption.¹⁵¹ The second was an indigenous Australian population known to present with a higher rate of cancer-related modifiable risk factors, namely tobacco consumption and excessive alcohol use, which are 20% and 10% higher, respectively, than the general Australian population.¹⁵¹ Whilst the exact numbers were not captured, the authors noted a high rate of patient refusal when approached opportunistically before or after scheduled dental appointments.¹⁵¹ Common patient barriers identified were perceived time pressure, embarrassment regarding the condition of the dentition (when screening attempted at community pharmacy), unwillingness to know if disease was detected, lack of concern and lack of pain.¹⁵¹

Many interventions have been tested and reported in the literature, and some have been shown to increase the number of patients requesting an oral cancer screening examination. Recently published results of an invitational and opportunistic oral cancer screening intervention in Oporto, Portugal reported on a total of 727 participants with a mean age of 54 years. After a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination was

performed, many OPMLs were diagnosed, but of most significance is that two oral cancers were detected, both asymptomatic and in the T1 stage.¹⁵⁰ Awareness and knowledge of oral cancer is key for patients to accept an invitation of oral cancer screening. This is most notable in the recently published data from a novel approach to oral cancer screening at Far Eastern Memorial Hospital in Taiwan. High-risk patients attending an outpatient facility were identified using an automated system based on their responses to questions regarding tobacco and betel nut usage, and they were then offered the opportunity to be screened with a standard visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.³² A total of 38 693 patients were identified as high-risk, yet only 8037 (20.8%) were recruited as participants in the screened cohort from the automated system.³² This means that approximately 80% were advised that they were at high risk for developing oral cancer yet declined a free oral cancer screening examination. The reasons these Taiwanese patients declined the invitation are most likely multifactorial, as with all health behaviours and outcomes, but a significant component is likely to be poor awareness and knowledge of oral cancer. This was evident in UK pilot research exploring ways to improve understanding of individuals at risk of oral cancer and their attitudes toward early detection interventions. In particular, the target population for opportunistic screening activities was shown to require further persuasion that their lifestyle choices (tobacco and alcohol) contributed to an increased risk of oral cancer.¹⁵³ Over the last decade following the introduction of an oral cancer awareness week (now month) in the UK and the Oral Cancer Awareness Month in the USA in 2000, increasing numbers of oral cancer screening examinations have been performed each year.^{154, 155} It is still difficult to elucidate whether the high-risk target population are being reached, though, or whether the general population is gaining increased awareness and knowledge and becoming more accepting of screening activity.

Our fourth study aim was to assess patient, professional, and total diagnostic delay. In addition to the challenge of finding and diagnosing these lesions in the early stages of disease, some literature also reports that a significant determinant of oral cancer survival is diagnostic delay. Diagnostic delay generally refers to the time between the patient's first awareness of symptoms and a definitive diagnosis following specialist review, during which a tumour can become locally invasive or disseminate via lymphovascular or perineural spread.^{25, 128, 129} In turn, diagnostic delay is commonly divided into patient delay, which refers to the time between the beginning of symptoms and when the patient first meets with a professional for a consultation regarding diagnosis,¹³⁰ and professional delay,

or the time that has elapsed from this initial consultation, often in the primary care setting, until a definitive diagnosis is made, often after referral to a specialist setting. Total diagnostic delay averages from three to six months and is fairly evenly distributed between patient and professional delay.²³

A study by Esmaelbeigi et al. (2014) of delay in oral cancer showed that 71.4% of Iranian study participants were diagnosed at the advanced stage (III-IV),¹³² and the medians of the patient, professional, and total delays in this Iranian cohort were 45, 86, and 140 days, respectively.¹³² A 2009 systematic review reported that total diagnostic delay was associated with a more advanced tumour stage at diagnosis, with a pooled relative risk (RR) of 1.47 (95% CI: 1.09–1.99) for oral cancers and a diagnostic delay greater than one month resulting in a pooled RR of 1.69 (95% CI: 1.26-2.77).³³ In the same year a conflicting systematic review including all head and neck cancers, not purely oral cancers, reported no association between diagnostic delay in head and neck cancers and tumour stage at diagnosis.¹⁴³ Seoane et al. (2010) further challenged the strength of the relationship via a statistical analysis of 83 OSCC cases, which showed that when the analysis was adjusted for tumour stage at diagnosis (I-II vs. III-IV), proliferative activity resulted to be an independent prognostic factor for survival, whereas diagnostic delay did not influence survival significantly.¹⁴⁴ Research on professional delay and mortality in tongue cancer is even more paradoxical, as shorter professional delay trends toward worse survival rates, an unreasonable statistical outcome.^{140, 145} This paradoxical response whereby diagnostic delay, tumour staging, and prognosis are inversely related has also been described in breast, cervical, lung, colon, renal, and urethral cancer, and the data suggest that stage at diagnosis and survival are affected more by tumour biology (rapid growth, poorly differentiated etc.) than by diagnostic delay.¹⁴⁶ Despite this controversy, diagnostic delay and its components remain useful for characterising a typical patient's journey through the health system toward treatment. Before this thesis there were no Australian data from a head and neck clinic that enabled calculation of patient, professional, and diagnostic delay in oral cancer. We have provided this data (Figures 3.1 and 3.2) and found a median total diagnostic delay of 62.5 days, or 9 weeks, which is better than most reports from other countries in the literature. This indicates that there may be opportunities to improve the efficiency of the referral and investigation pathway, especially when the patient delay component has a median value of two weeks.

Causes of patient delay relate to psychosocial issues, such as perception of symptoms and illness, and the behavioural responses they elicit, in addition to the major issue of accessibility to health care, including financial, structural, and personal barriers, such as beliefs, culture, and language.¹³¹ In the Iranian cohort, patients with primary-level education had a 70% lower risk of delay compared to illiterate patients, and the risk was lower again among patients who had diploma-level or college-level education.¹³² A recent study investigating barriers to oral cancer screening in rural African-Americans showed three primary patient barriers to screening: lack of knowledge of oral cancer and its symptoms accounted for 31.8% of all barriers mentioned, lack of financial resources or health insurance for 25.0%, and fear of screening and diagnosis for 22.9%.¹³³ Howell et al. (2013) placed these barriers within the Theory of Planned Behaviour and concluded that interventions aimed at increasing oral cancer screening should first focus on changing people's attitudes about screening by increasing knowledge about oral cancer and reducing fear.¹³³

Identifying causes of professional delay provides an opportunity to develop interventions which may lead to increased opportunistic screening of the higher-risk target population. Research has shown that lack of knowledge regarding the main locations of oral cancer, low suspicion of oral cancer, and low levels of skill and confidence to perform a full head and neck examination with appropriate equipment are prevalent in the general medical community.^{131, 134-136} The presence of patient co-morbidities has also been shown to result in clinicians focusing their attention on the existing disorders.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ Prescription of medicines (such as analgesics) in the primary care setting (OR = 5.3, 95% CI 2.2–12.9), history of dental procedure, (OR = 6.8, 95% CI 1.7–26.9), and history of loose teeth increased the risk of delay four times (OR = 4.0, 95% CI 1.6–9.8) and were associated with a higher risk of delay compared to patients who were biopsied from the beginning.¹³²

Rather than focusing on delay as a major contributor to tumour stage at diagnosis and survival, the focus should be shifted to identifying lesions in the asymptomatic period. There is no disputing the overwhelming volume of literature showing that many patients are diagnosed in the symptomatic phase, often at an advanced stage (III-IV) of disease. As research on patient delay by definition deals with the symptomatic phase, if an early stage diagnosis is to be achieved, then future research efforts need to focus on improving oral cancer screening in the asymptomatic phase through appropriate novel screening strategies.

Our final study aim was to identify whether participants had opportunities in the Australian health system to receive an opportunistic oral cancer screen examination in the asymptomatic phase. According to the WHO and NIDCR, an oral cancer screening examination should include a visual examination of the face, neck, lips, labial mucosa, buccal mucosa, gingiva, floor of the mouth, tongue, and palate, with mouth mirrors to help visualise all surfaces.³⁰ The tactile examination includes palpating the regional lymph nodes, tongue, and floor of the mouth.³⁰ In this patient questionnaire an abridged version of the above definition was provided in the section asking participants to answer questions about their encounters with GMPs and GDPs in the asymptomatic phase. The responses (Tables 3.4 and 3.5) reveal that opportunistic oral cancer screening could have been performed at many attendances.

In Australia, every citizen has access to a free public health system with access to many GMPs under the Medicare scheme. In contrast, access to the dental health system is not free; only Australian citizens in the lowest income percentage are eligible and entitled to free public dental treatment, and access is usually subject to long waiting periods unless emergent treatment is required. Research has shown that patients with oral lesions often consult their GMP rather than their GDP, even in the UK where there is greater access to free dental treatment.^{156, 157} The preference for presentation to GMPs has held true in this study, with 80% having seen a GMP within the last six months and 63% seeing their own regular GMP at least three times a year. In contrast, only 35% had seen a GDP within the last six months and only 6.8% visited their own regular GDP at least three times a year. While less than half (47%) of patients have their own regular GDP, 84% have their own regular GMP. Despite the latter high figure, only 3% of these patients, who were mainly high-risk, reported that their regular GMPs had ever discussed their risk factors for oral cancer, and only 6% had ever received an oral cancer screening from them. These results present an opportunity to target new education interventions to GMPs toward increasing opportunistic oral cancer screening in the primary medical care setting.

A previous study of Australian GDPs reported that 94.5% checked all new patients for oral mucosal pathology and 85.7% checked all recall/review patients for oral mucosal pathology.³¹ In conflict with this, participants in our study responded that only 9% had a GDP ever perform an oral cancer screening examination on them and only 6% had a GDP ever discuss their risk factors for oral cancer with them. Perhaps the definition provided for an oral cancer screening examination would make these participants think that no GDP

had palpated their neck or face and therefore they had never been formally screened. Perhaps the study of Australian GDPs should have asked if GDPs are performing visual and tactile oral cancer screening examinations as per the definition given by the WHO and NIDCR. It is questionable whether 94.5% of GDPs are performing all nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination on every new patient, as the evidence suggests that GDPs are much less likely to palpate the neck nodes.¹⁶⁹ All future questionnaires relating to oral cancer screening should define the standard visual and tactile examination steps described in that definition as a way of standardising the research in this field.

Only 47% of participants have a regular GDP, and most only attend once or twice per year. The remaining 53% do not have a regular GDP, and predominantly only see a dentist for an emergent dental problem, the average rate of dental visits being zero times per year for the vast majority. The evidence suggests that GDPs are more skilled and confident in performing the oral cancer screening examination than their medical counterparts.^{168, 170-173} However, the low attendance rate for GDPs in Australia suggests that targeting education interventions toward increasing oral cancer screening with GDPs would be less productive than that with GMPs, where the target population is more likely to attend. A recent systematic review of patient acceptance of screening for oral cancer outside the dental setting showed that GMPs should be confident that acceptance of and satisfaction with oral cancer screening is high, particularly when patients have previously been educated about oral cancer in the waiting room.¹⁵⁸ In short, the results clearly show that participants had many opportunities in the Australian health system to receive an opportunistic oral cancer screening examination before their diagnosis.

Table 3.6 presents a tabulated summary of outcomes to the five hypotheses tested in this study. It is clear that in Australia, there is a deficiency in both patients and GMPs regarding oral cancer. It is also clear that the target population for oral cancer screening is attending the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia. Asymptomatic diagnosis of early-stage disease is definitely possible in the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia, and future interventions should be targeted to increasing awareness and knowledge of oral cancer for both patients and GMPs.

Table 3.6: Hypotheses Results (Oral Cancer Patients)

Hypotheses Tested	Outcome
Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had poor awareness of oral cancer prior to their diagnosis.	Null hypothesis true 46% never heard of oral cancer
Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had poor knowledge of risk factors prior to their diagnosis.	Null hypothesis true 52% identify tobacco as risk factor 15% identify alcohol as risk factor
Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had one or more known risk factors for oral cancer at the time of diagnosis.	Null hypothesis true All patients had at least one risk factor
Oral cancer patients at the RBWH had exposure to health practitioners in the asymptomatic phase in the preceding months or years before awareness of symptoms or diagnosis occurred.	Null hypothesis true All patients had accessed a health practitioner in the asymptomatic phase
No oral cancer patient at the RWBH had ever been opportunistically screened for oral cancer by a GMP in the asymptomatic phase.	Alternative hypothesis true 6% reported screening by GMP (9% reported screening by GDP)

3.7 Conclusion

Australian oral cancer patients at the RBWH reported very poor awareness of oral cancer and poor knowledge of risk factors prior to their diagnosis. Improving patient awareness of oral cancer and knowledge of their own risk factors is important if patients are to request an oral cancer screening examination or respond to an invitation to receive one in the primary healthcare setting. Health promotion messages should convey information that helps patients know when to consult their health care professional.¹⁹² For example, to increase screening of asymptomatic individuals, media messages should focus on encouraging patients over 40 who use tobacco products or drink alcohol regularly to see a local GMP or GDP for a quick and painless oral cancer screening examination. To increase screening of symptomatic individuals, media messages should focus on advising that any oral lesion lasting for more than two weeks, after local causative factors are removed, should be biopsied or referred without delay.¹⁹³

Most often, Australian oral cancer patients had one or more known risk factors for oral cancer at the time of diagnosis. This is similar to other cohorts from western nations where betel nut consumption is not prominent. Research that has already been conducted in the

USA and UK is likely to be relevant to our higher-risk target population. Australia is behind both the USA and UK and their respective oral cancer awareness month campaigns in promoting awareness for oral cancer and encouraging screening.

Asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer at early stages of the disease is possible in the primary medical setting in Australia. Australian oral cancer patients are much more likely to see a GMP for other issues if they are asymptomatic with an oral lesion, indicating an opportunity for the GMP to suggest a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination. They are also more likely to see a GMP than a GDP even if a symptomatic oral lesion is present, suggesting that interventions toward increasing oral cancer screening in Australia must be focused around the primary medical healthcare setting and GMPs.

Current rates of visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination in Australia are very poor, and both GMPs and GDPs should be targeted to reach competency in diagnostic skill and performance of a thorough opportunistic screening examination of patients over 40 who use tobacco products or drink alcohol regularly.

CHAPTER FOUR: AUSTRALIAN GMPs COMPARED TO GMSs

4.1 Introduction

Most oral cancers lack early symptoms; hence, by the time symptoms develop and stimulate a patient to seek a diagnosis, often the disease has already reached an advanced stage.^{13, 14} This results in more than 60% of patients being diagnosed with stage III or IV disease.^{13, 14} The reported five-year survival rate for stage III or IV oral cancer ranges between 15 and 55%.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ The most important prognostic marker for oral cancer remains the tumour stage at diagnosis.^{6, 12} Survival rates are significantly improved if the disease is treated at an early stage, ideally when the patient is likely to be asymptomatic with a tumour less than 2cm in diameter and with less than 4mm of invasion.²⁰ Therefore, early detection of malignant lesions and OPMLs is an important goal for increasing the probability of improved morbidity and mortality.^{14, 15, 21, 22}

The Cochrane collaboration and other expert consortia have agreed that whilst populationbased annual or semi-annual screening for oral cancer is not cost-effective, targeting highrisk populations to be opportunistically screened using a visual and tactile examination should be encouraged in the primary care setting.²³⁻²⁶ According to the WHO and the NIDCR, an oral cancer screening examination should include both visual and tactile components. The visual component requires examination of the face, neck, lips, labial mucosa, buccal mucosa, gingiva, floor of the mouth, tongue, and palate with mouth mirrors to help visualise all surfaces.³⁰ The tactile examination includes palpating the regional lymph nodes, tongue, and floor of the mouth.³⁰ Opportunistic oral cancer screening by GMPs and GDPs should remain an integral part of their routine daily work, and particular attention should be paid to high-risk individuals.²⁷ The results from our study of Australian patients with oral cancer suggest, in line with the Cochrane collaboration, that the most significant risk factors in the development of oral cancer are increased age (over 40 years) and tobacco and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} The increasing role of human papilloma virus (HPV) as an additional risk factor is consistent with the rising incidence of male and female HPV-related oral cancers in Australia and globally.⁹¹

These known risk factors, and the relative ease of identifying oral cancers and OPMLs by a simple visual and tactile screening examination, point to significant potential for the prevention and early-state diagnosis of oral cancers. In theory, asymptomatic diagnosis at an early stage of disease is achievable in the primary medical healthcare setting; however, the results from our cohort of patients with oral cancer indicate that very few opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations are actually being performed in Australia. Performance of an oral cancer screening examination requires either that the patient is sufficiently aware of oral cancer and his or her risk factors to request an oral cancer screening examination, or that the GMP or GDP is sufficiently aware of oral cancer and the patient's risk factors to initiate a screening examination.

The results from Chapter 3 highlight that patient awareness of oral cancer is very poor. Asymptomatic patients are therefore unlikely to attend a GMP or GDP and request oral cancer screening at the current level of awareness and knowledge. As discussed in Chapter 3, only 7% of the patients studied were diagnosed in the asymptomatic phase, and all of these by health practitioners with a dental qualification. This finding suggests that GDPs or specialists with dental qualifications were more active than GMPs in opportunistic oral cancer screening, a finding supported by a recent study of Australian GDPs which showed that 90% regularly perform oral mucosal screening examinations for all patients.³¹ Of the 93% of patients in our cohort who were diagnosed in the symptomatic phase, the majority preferred to attend a GMP (74%), rather than a GDP (14%), for investigation and explanation of their symptoms. This study also reported significant missed opportunities for oral cancer screening, as 80% of patients had seen their GMP within the last six months and 63% visited their GMP at least three times per year. Of concern is that whilst 84% of participants stated they have a regular GMP, only 3% of those GMPs had ever discussed risk factors for oral cancer and only 6% of the patients stated that their GMPs had ever performed an oral cancer screening examination on them.

When awareness of oral cancer is compared between GMPs and GDPs, there is significant divergence in most populations studied. In a UK study, GMPs were less likely to examine patients' oral mucosa routinely, were less likely to advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer, and identified fewer risk factors for and felt less confident about diagnosing oral cancer from clinical appearance than their dental counterparts.¹⁶⁸ A similar study in the USA concluded that GDPs were much more likely to feel adequately trained and regularly provide oral cancer screening examinations, but much less likely to discuss tobacco and alcohol cessation or to palpate the neck nodes.¹⁶⁹ Additional studies in Saudi Arabia, Qazvin, Ireland, and Scotland have yielded similar results; some general conclusions were that GMPs are less intent on performing oral cancer screening, less

skilful in performing oral cancer screening examinations, and less confident in diagnosing pathologies in the oral cavity than GDPs.¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷³

These results were echoed by a comparison of UK undergraduate medical and dental students, which suggests that there will be no improvement in the next generation of health professionals, particularly medical practitioners, regarding oral cancer screening.¹⁷⁶ Further results along these lines from studies in Iran, Nigeria, and the USA indicate a need to review the curriculum of medical and dental schools to improve awareness and behaviour toward increasing opportunistic oral cancer screening.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁸¹ In 2011 two significant studies investigated medical school curricula for oral cancer teaching in the USA and UK, respectively. The majority of the responding USA medical schools offered very little oral health education, with approximately 80% offering less than five hours of oral health curriculum over the entire course.¹⁸² Oral cancer training lacked both adequacy and comprehensiveness, and showed no improvement relative to a similar study from 15 vears earlier.^{182, 183} The UK study highlighted that undergraduate oral cancer teaching varied widely in terms of duration, format, and content across British medical schools.¹⁸⁴ Its authors recommended the development of a curriculum addressing important aspects of oral cancer from an evidence-based approach that can be integrated into the alreadycrowded undergraduate medical curriculum.¹⁸⁴

There are no data on the awareness, knowledge, and attitudes toward opportunistic oral cancer screening in the Australian GMP population. Similarly, there is no Australian study investigating these same attributes in graduate medical students as they exit medical school and enter the workforce. The primary purpose of the following research is to establish this Australian dataset via a survey of new GMSs and established practicing GMPs in Brisbane. It is hoped that this dataset will provide valuable insights leading to educational and training interventions, and thereby improve the rates of visual and tactile opportunistic oral cancer screening in the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia.

4.2 Hypotheses

- 1. Both groups do not routinely examine oral mucosa.
- 2. Both groups have received limited education and training in oral cancer and visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination
- 3. Both groups do not routinely advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer.
- 4. Both groups are not confident diagnosing malignant and pre-malignant lesions from clinical appearance.
- 5. Both groups do not perform all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.
- 6. Both groups are not sufficiently confident in their techniques to complete all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.
- 7. Both groups are not confident in identifying pathology in all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.

4.3 Aims

This study aims to identify:

- 1. whether either group routinely examines oral mucosa;
- 2. whether either group had sufficient training in oral cancer and visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination;
- 3. whether either group knows the risk factors and communicates these to patients;
- 4. what changes in the oral mucosa both groups would associate with malignant and pre-malignant oral lesions;
- 5. which of the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination are performed by either group;
- 6. whether either group is confident in performing the technique in each of the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination;
- 7. whether either group is confident in identifying pathology in each of the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination; and
- 8. where patients are referred if an oral cancer or OPML is identified.

4.4 Methods and Materials

Ethical Approvals

The study protocol was approved by the University of Queensland Dental Science Research Ethics Committee (1217) and the RBWH Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/14/QRBW/82).

Study Design

Following a literature review that investigated similar issues in populations of graduate medical students (GMS) and general medical practitioners (GMPs) in other locations worldwide, a questionnaire was designed and validated with a pilot group of GMPs and GMSs utilising the test and re-test method.^{168, 176} 553 GMPs were selected randomly for the sample from a database developed on GMPs working in locations that would be expected to refer suspected oral cancer patients to the RBWH Head and Neck Clinic. A similar questionnaire was designed to collect data from a sample of 151 Graduate Medical Students (GMS) commencing work as intern medical officers at the RBWH in Brisbane, Australia.

Participant Recruitment

Each research study pack contained an introductory cover letter on Queensland Health letterhead signed by the site coordinator, a participant information form, a participant informed consent form, the questionnaire, and a professionally addressed and stamped envelope for return of the questionnaire. These packs were mailed, utilising the modified Dillman method known to increase response rates, to those GMPs randomly selected by practice address within the catchment of referral to the RBWH Head and Neck Clinic.^{31, 187-189} The GMSs were invited to participate during intern training days on commencement with Queensland Health, and were able either to consent to, complete, and return the questionnaire at this training meeting, or to return the questionnaire via pre-paid mail. The questionnaire responses were initially identifiable to allow a follow-up phone call for clarification of responses if required and to award the incentive ("the new iPad"), which was randomly drawn by the chief investigator at the conclusion of data collection.

Questionnaires

The GMP questionnaire consisted of 49 open, multiple-choice, or closed questions investigating the stated aims of the study. The GMS questionnaire asked an additional four questions to investigate GMS exposure to OPMLs, oral cancers, learning regarding oral cancer, and appropriate screening during medical school. The full copy of the questionnaire given to GMPs is available in Appendix B. The full copy of the questionnaire given to GMSs is available in Appendix C.

Data Analysis

Completed questionnaires were de-identified, manually coded and recorded into Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Washington, USA) to allow statistical analysis of binary and non-binary responses. The results were expressed as proportions and frequency count charts calculated using Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Washington, USA) When comparing responses between groups, Pearson's Chi-Squared Test was calculated using Stata (Statacorp, Texas, USA) and differences were considered statistically significant at a p-value of < 0.05.

4.5 Research Results

Unless otherwise stated, all percentages reported are the percentage in agreement.

4.5.1 Survey Response Rate and Demographics

Questionnaires were returned by 144 GMPs and 141 GMSs, a response rate of 27% and 93% respectively. The proportions of male and female participants were comparable. The majority of GMPs (83%) had graduated from medical school over 15 years ago, in comparison to all GMSs, who had just entered the work force out of medical school. Table 4.1 displays the response rates and demographics collected.

	GMPs	GMSs
Total Surveyed	553	151
Total Responses	144	141
Response Rate	27%	93%
Male	71 (49%)	66 (47%)
Female	73 (51%)	75 (53%)
Years Since Graduation		
< 15	24 (17%)	141 (100%)
15-29	51 (35%)	0 (0%)
30-45	62 (43%)	0 (0%)
45+	7 (5%)	0 (0%)

Table 4.1: Survey Response and Demographics

4.5.2 Awareness, Behaviours and Training in Oral Cancer

Table 4.2 summarises the responses to questions regarding awareness of oral cancer, undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on the examination of the oral cavity, and diagnosis of pre-malignant and malignant disease. Over 90% of both groups reported regularly advising patients about risk factors for other cancers and encouraging risk reduction for these; however, only a third of both groups regularly advised patients about risk factors for oral cancer. GMPs reported significantly more knowledge than GMSs (44%vs18%, p < 0.001) regarding prevention of oral cancer, but less than 50% of both groups reported performing oral cancer screening examinations, even on high-risk patients. After reading the nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination that were displayed and explained in the questionnaire, only 34% of GMPs

and 11% of GMSs felt they had sufficient knowledge to detect a pre-malignant lesion or an early asymptomatic oral cancer. About one-fifth of both GMPs and GMSs stated they had received sufficient training during either GP training or medical school to identify high-risk groups and perform thorough opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations.

(# - GMPs not asked this question)	GMPs n=144		GMPs GMSs n=144 n=141		χ^2 p-value
Have you had an oral cancer screening examination performed on yourself?	27	(19%)	12	(9%)	0.013*
Have you ever seen an oral cancer during medical school? [#]	#	#	65	(46%)	
Have you ever seen a pre-malignant oral lesion during medical school? [#]	#	#	55	(39%)	
Did you learn about oral cancer during medical school? [#]	#	#	104	(74%)	
Did you learn about opportunistic oral cancer screening during medical school? [#]	#	#	15	(11%)	
Do you regularly advise patients about risk factors for other cancers?	139	(97%)	129	(92%)	0.109
Do you regularly encourage reduction in risk factors for other cancers	143	(99%)	135	(96%)	0.052
Do you regularly advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer?	46	(32%)	48	(34%)	0.675
Do you feel you have sufficient knowledge concerning prevention of oral cancer?	64	(44%)	25	(18%)	<0.001**
Do you perform oral cancer screening routinely?	9	(6%)	30	(22%)	<0.001**
If not routinely, do you perform oral cancer screening if patients are in high-risk groups?	64	(47%)	46	(42%)	0.417
Do you have sufficient training, knowledge and technique to perform oral cancer screening examination?	46	(32%)	10	(7%)	<0.001**
(Before screening examination steps shown)					
Do you feel you have sufficient knowledge to detect a pre-malignant lesion or an early asymptomatic oral cancer?	49	(34%)	15	(11%)	<0.001**
(After screening examination steps shown)					
Do you feel you received sufficient training in either GP training or medical school to identify high-risk groups and perform thorough opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations?	29	(20%)	27	(19%)	0.833
(After screening examination steps shown)					

Table 4.2: Awareness and Knowledge for Oral Cancer (GMPs vs. GMSs)

4.5.3 Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer

Table 4.3 presents the responses to the open text question asking both groups to list as many risk factors for oral cancer as they could recall. Both groups strongly identified tobacco as a risk factor. Approximately half of each group (GMPs 57%, GMS 54%) identified alcohol as a risk factor. Other known risk factors, such as age, HPV infection, areca nut (betel nut) chewing, and poor diet were not identified strongly by either group. Overall, when the groups were compared regarding knowledge of the main risk factors for oral cancer (age, tobacco, alcohol, betel nut chewing, HPV status, and poor diet), there was no significant difference between the inexperienced GMSs and experienced GMPs.

	GMPs		GN	ISs	χ²p-value
Age	19	(13%)	21	(15%)	0.626
Alcohol	82	(57%)	75	(54%)	0.661
Betel Nut	31	(22%)	24	(17%)	0.381
Ethnicity	5	(3%)	5	(10%)	0.072
Family History	21	(15%)	47	(34%)	< 0.001 **
HIV/Immunosuppression	23	(16%)	26	(19%)	0.525
HPV	29	(20%)	37	(27%)	0.186
Male Gender	3	(2%)	4	(8%)	0.049 *
Oral Sex	0	(0%)	10	(7%)	
Oral Pre-Malignant Lesion	16	(11%)	1	(2%)	0.050 *
Poor Dental Hygiene/Chronic Irritation	34	(24%)	23	(17%)	0.147
Poor Diet	4	(3%)	7	(5%)	0.320
Previous Head and Neck Cancer	17	(12%)	42	(30%)	< 0.001 **
Tobacco	144	(100%)	134	(97%)	0.040 *
UV/Radiation	24	(17%)	4	(8%)	0.129

Table 4.3: Knowledge of Risk Factors for Oral Cancer (GMPs vs. GMSs)

4.5.4 Knowledge of Pre-Malignant and Malignant Clinical Changes

Table 4.4 presents the responses to open text questions regarding knowledge of clinical changes in pre-malignancy and oral malignancy. In regard to pre-malignancy, both groups identified, in rank order: leukoplakia, non-healing lesions, and lump/swelling/induration. In regard to oral malignancy, GMPs identified, in rank order: non-healing lesions, lump/swelling/induration, and leukoplakia. The GMSs were similar, with lump/swelling/induration and non-healing lesions, followed by bleeding. Overall, neither

group was confident in diagnosing pre-malignant and malignant lesions from clinical appearance, but GMPs were significantly more confident than GMSs (GMPs 53% vs. GMSs 88%, p<0.001).

	GMPs		GI	MSs	χ^2 p-value			
What changes in oral cavity would you associate with pre-malignant disease? (Open Text Responses Grouped As Follows)								
Leukoplakia	116	(82%)	81	(60%)	<0.001**			
Erythroleukoplakia	11	(8%)	3	(6%)	0.595			
Erythroplakia	24	(17%)	10	(19%)	0.747			
Non-Healing Lesions (Ulcer/OLP)	88	(62%)	54	(41%)	<0.001**			
Lumps/Swelling/Induration	51	(36%)	52	(39%)	0.586			
Pain/Dysphagia/Hypo/Hyperaesthesia	10	(7%)	4	(3%)	0.125			
Pigmentation	19	(13%)	8	(15%)	0.795			
Bleeding	12	(8%)	14	(11%)	0.557			
What changes in oral cavity would you associate with malignant disease? (Open Text Responses Grouped As Follows)								
Leukoplakia	42	(30%)	33	(25%)	0.355			
Erythroleukoplakia	6	(4%)	0	(0%)				
Erythroplakia	10	(7%)	5	(10%)	0.552			
Non Healing Lesions (Ulcer/OLP)	122	(86%)	71	(53%)	< 0.001**			
Lumps/Swelling/Induration	108	(76%)	95	(71%)	<0.001**			
Pain/Dysphagia/Hypo-/Hyper-aesthesia	19	(13%)	15	(11%)	0.581			
Pigmentation	12	(8%)	24	(18%)	0.020*			
Bleeding	27	(19%)	38	(28%)	0.067			
Dental Hygiene/Odour	0	(0%)	9	(7%)				
In regard to clinical appearance, do you feel confident diagnosing pre-malignant and malignant lesions from clinical appearance?					<0.001**			
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)				
Confident	63	(44%)	16	(12%)				
Not Confident	71	(50%)	102	(74%)				
Very Not Confident	5	(3%)	20	(14%)				

Table 4.4: Knowledge of Pre-malignant and Malignant Clinical Changes

4.5.5 Nine-Step Oral Cancer Screening Examination

The section presents results in relation to questions about performing each step of the recommended nine-step visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination. Table 4.5 presents the results of assessing whether the recommended equipment is accessible to the GMP or GMS in their clinical setting; that is, whether there are equipment barriers to performing opportunistic screening examinations. The main barrier appears to be poor access to dental or ENT mirrors.

Do you have all the equipment required to perform an oral cancer screening examination? (% in agreement)	GM	GMPs GMSs		χ^2 p-value	
Bright White Light Source	138	(96%)	56	(53%)	< 0.001 **
Dental or ENT Mirror	29	(20%)	7	(7%)	0.003 *
Gauze Squares	133	(92%)	116	(93%)	0.891

Table 4.5: Tools R	Required for Oral	Cancer Screening	Examination
--------------------	-------------------	-------------------------	-------------

Tables 4.7, 4.8, and 4.9 report the results for each step of the screening examination, asking whether the step is performed and assessing confidence with the technique of the required examination step and confidence in identifying pathology in that specific step. Each step on the guestionnaire contained a picture of the step and an explanation in text of the technique involved. The GMPs indicated that, in their routine, the only steps performed more often than not were Step 1 (extra-oral), Step 2 (lip examination), and Step 8 (palate and oro-pharynx). The GMSs had even fewer steps in their routine, with only Step 1 (extra-oral) performed more often than not. Confidence in performing the step for both groups mirrored whether they actually performed the step in their routine. It follows that in all other steps, neither group was confident performing the technique required. Likewise, confidence in identifying pathology mirrored whether they actually performed the step. In all steps other than Step 1 (extra-oral), GMSs were significantly less confident in the technique and pathology identification than the GMPs. Table 4.6 highlights the poor overall proficiency of each group, with GMPs performing 4.3 steps on average compared to 3.8 for GMSs. Overall, while GMSs were significantly worse than the GMPs, neither group was confident with techniques and pathology identification in the screening examination.

Average number of steps (standard deviation)	GMP	GMS	χ ² p-value
Performed	4.3 (2.3)	3.8 (2.4)	0.075
Confident with technique	4.6 (2.6)	2.9 (2.3)	< 0.001 ***
Confident with identifying pathology	4.2 (2.8)	2.2 (2.4)	< 0.001 ***

Table 4.6: Summary of Proficiency in Oral Cancer Screening Examination

Table 4.7: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 1-3

Performed, Confidence in Technique, and Confidence in Pathology Identification

Step 1: Extra-oral examination	GMP		GMS	χ ^² p-value
Perform	130	(90%)	129 (919	%) 0.722
Do not perform	14	(10%)	12 (99	%)
How confident are you with your technique of extra-oral examination?				
Very Confident	24	(17%)	19 (149	%) 0.079
Confident	107	(74%)	95 (689	%)
Not Confident	12	(8%)	25 (189	%)
Very Not Confident	1	(1%)	0 (*	%)
How confident are you with identifying pathology in extra examination?	-oral			
Very Confident	19	(13%)	1 (19	%) < 0.001 ***
Confident	102	(71%)	78 (569	%)
Not Confident	23	(16%)	50 (369	%)
Very Not Confident	0	(%)	10 (79	%)
Step 2: Lip Examination	GMP		GMS	χ²p-value
Perform	117	(81%)	65 (469	%) < 0.001 ***
Do not perform	27	(19%)	76 (54)	%)
How confident are you with your technique of lip examination	tion?			
Very Confident	23	(16%)	1 (19	%) < 0.001 ***
Confident	97	(67%)	58 (419	%)
Not Confident	22	(15%)	70 (50%	%)
Very Not Confident	2	(1%)	12 (99	%)
How confident are you with identifying pathology in lip examination?				
Very Confident	17	(12%)	1 (19	%) < 0.001 ***
Confident	91	(63%)	44 (319	%)
Not confident	35	(24%)	84 (60)	%)
Very Not Confident	1	(1%)	12 (99	%)
Step 3: Labial Mucosa Examination	GMP		GMS	χ ^² p-value
Perform	55	(38%)	38 (289	%) 0.057
Do not perform	89	(62%)	100 (729	%)
How confident are you with your technique of labial mucc examination?	osa			
Very Confident	5	(3%)	1 (19	%) 0.017 *
Confident	56	(39%)	36 (269	%)
Not Confident	77	(53%)	88 (64)	%)
Very Not Confident	6	(4%)	13 (99	%)
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the la mucosa?	abial			
Very Confident	6	(4%)	1 (19	%) 0.002 *
Confident	49	(34%)	24 (189	%)
Not Confidant	84	(58%)	102 (749	%)
Very Not Confident	5	(3%)	10 (79	%)

Table 4.8: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 4-6

Performed, Confidence in Technique, and Confidence in Pathology Identification

Step 4: Buccal Mucosa Examination	GMP		GMS		χ²p-value
Perform	35	(24%)	45	(32%)	0.132
Do not perform	109	(76%)	94	(68%)	
How confident are you with your technique of buccal mucosa examination?					
Very Confident	2	(1%)	0	(%)	0.014 *
Confident	47	(33%)	25	(18%)	
Not Confident	80	(56%)	99	(71%)	
Very Not Confident	15	(10%)	15	(11%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the bucca mucosa?	al				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	0.008 *
Confident	44	(31%)	24	(17%)	
Not Confident	84	(58%)	103	(74%)	
Very Not Confident	12	(8%)	12	(9%)	
Step 5: Gingival Examination	GMP		GMS		χ²p-value
Perform	51	(35%)	50	(36%)	0.958
Do not perform	93	(65%)	90	(64%)	
How confident are you with your technique of gingival examin	nation?				
Very Confident	3	(2%)	0	(%)	0.039 *
Confident	50	(35%)	32	(23%)	
Not Confident	81	(56%)	97	(69%)	
Very Not Confident	10	(7%)	11	(8%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the ginging	va?				
Very Confident	3	(2%)	0	(%)	0.028 *
Confident	43	(30%)	25	(18%)	
Not Confident	87	(60%)	103	(74%)	
Very Not Confident	11	(8%)	12	(9%)	
Step 6: Tongue Examination	GMP		GMS		χ²p-value
Perform	48	(33%)	73	(52%)	0.002 *
Do not perform	96	(67%)	68	(48%)	
How confident are you with your technique of tongue examin	ation?				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	0.114
Confident	65	(45%)	54	(38%)	
Not Confident	68	(47%)	80	(57%)	
Very Not Confident	7	(5%)	7	(5%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the tongu	ie?				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	0.025 *
Confident	63	(44%)	45	(32%)	
Not Confident	67	(47%)	86	(61%)	
Very Not Confident	10	(7%)	10	(7%)	

Table 4.9: Oral Cancer Screening Steps 7-9

Performed, Confidence in Technique, and Confidence in Pathology Identification

Step 7: Ventral Tongue and Floor of Mouth	GMP		GMS		χ ² p-value
Perform	62	(43%)	52	(37%)	0.309
Do not perform	82	(57%)	88	(63%)	
How confident are you with your technique of floor of mouth examination?					
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	0.002 *
Confident	59	(41%)	34	(24%)	
Not Confident	75	(52%)	96	(68%)	
Very Not Confident	6	(4%)	11	(8%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the floor mouth?	r of				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	0.001 *
Confident	49	(34%)	24	(17%)	
Not Confident	84	(58%)	103	(74%)	
Very Not Confident	7	(5%)	13	(9%)	
Step 8: Palate and Oro-pharynx	GMP		GMS		χ²p-value
Perform	80	(56%)	62	(44%)	0.058
Do not perform	64	(44%)	78	(56%)	
How confident are you with your technique of tongue examin	nation?				
Very Confident	3	(2%)	0	(%)	< 0.001 ***
Confident	71	(49%)	43	(30%)	
Not Confident	66	(46%)	86	(61%)	
Very Not Confident	4	(3%)	12	(9%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology of the tong	jue?				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	< 0.001 ***
Confident	60	(42%)	30	(21%)	
Not Confident	76	(53%)	100	(71%)	
Very Not Confident	4	(3%)	11	(8%)	
Step 9: Bimanual palpation of Floor of Mouth	GMP		GMS		χ²p-value
Perform	39	(27%)	20	(14%)	0.008 *
Do not perform	105	(73%)	120	(86%)	
How confident are you with your technique of bimanual palp	ation?				
Very Confident	4	(3%)	0	(%)	< 0.001 ***
Confident	38	(27%)	6	(4%)	
Not Confident	89	(62%)	96	(69%)	
Very Not Confident	12	(8%)	38	(27%)	
How confident are you with identifying pathology using this of palpation?	method				
Very Confident	3	(2%)	0	(%)	< 0.001 ***
Confident	34	(24%)	8	(6%)	
Not Confident	91	(64%)	92	(66%)	
Very Not Confident	15	(10%)	40	(29%)	

4.5.6 Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesions

Table 4.10 presents the responses to questions regarding referral destination. Participants could select more than one destination if desired. The groups were similar in responses, with the referral destination most likely to be oral and maxillofacial surgeons, followed by ear, nose, and throat (ENT) surgeons and oral medicine/oral pathologist, irrespective of suspected pre-malignancy or malignancy in the oral cavity.

Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a pre-malignant lesion in oral cavity?	GP	(n=144)	Student	(n=141)
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon	86	(60%)	81	(57%)
ENT Surgeon	69	(48%)	51	(36%)
Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist	23	(16%)	9	(6%)
Dentist	15	(10%)	8	(6%)
Plastic Surgeon	5	(3%)	2	(1%)
No Referral (manage by self)	3	(2%)	0	(0%)
RBWH Head and Neck Clinic	1	(1%)	0	(0%)
		. ,		()
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity?	GP	(n=144)	Student	(n=141)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon	GP 103	(n=144) (72%)	Student 86	(n=141) (61%)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon ENT Surgeon	GP 103 65	(n=144) (72%) (45%)	Student 86 50	(n=141) (61%) (35%)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon ENT Surgeon Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist	GP 103 65 10	(n=144) (72%) (45%) (7%)	Student 86 50 7	(n=141) (61%) (35%) (5%)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon ENT Surgeon Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist Plastic Surgeon	GP 103 65 10 3	(n=144) (72%) (45%) (7%) (2%)	Student 86 50 7 7	(n=141) (61%) (35%) (5%) (5%)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon ENT Surgeon Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist Plastic Surgeon RBWH - Head & Neck Clinic	GP 103 65 10 3 1	(n=144) (72%) (45%) (7%) (2%) (1%)	Student 86 50 7 7 1	(n=141) (61%) (35%) (5%) (5%) (1%)
Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a malignant lesion in oral cavity? Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon ENT Surgeon Oral Medicine/Oral Pathologist Plastic Surgeon RBWH - Head & Neck Clinic Dentist	GP 103 65 10 3 1 1	(n=144) (72%) (45%) (7%) (2%) (1%) (1%)	Student 86 50 7 7 1 0	(n=141) (61%) (35%) (5%) (5%) (1%) (0%)

Table 4.10: Referral Destination for Pre-Malignant and Malignant Lesions

4.6 Discussion

There is significant potential for prevention and early-stage diagnosis of oral cancers because their risk factors are known and it is relatively easy to identify them via a simple visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination. The results from our Australian cohort of oral cancer patients in Chapter 3 indicate that very few opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations are being performed in the high-risk population in Australia. Only 7% of the patients studied were diagnosed in the asymptomatic phase, and these were all by health practitioners with a dental qualification. Of the 93% of patients studied in our cohort who were diagnosed in the symptomatic phase, the majority preferred to attend a GMP, rather than a GDP, for investigation and explanation of their symptoms. The study also highlighted significant missed opportunities for oral cancer screening, as the majority of patients visited their GMP regularly but fewer than 10% had ever received an oral cancer screening examination or discussion of risk factors.

Previous studies have shown that GMPs are more likely to see the high-risk target population for oral cancer than their dental counterparts.¹⁹⁴ Of concern is that while 84% of the oral cancer participants had a regular GMP, only 3% of those GMPs had ever discussed the risk factors for oral cancer, and only 6% of patients had an oral cancer screening examination performed on them by the GMP. The importance of GMP awareness of oral cancer, knowledge of the risk factors, ability to competently perform a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination, and confidence in identifying pathology during that examination should not be underestimated. Likewise a GMS entering the workforce should be aware, knowledgeable, and confident in identifying a high-risk individual, suggesting and performing an opportunistic oral cancer screening examination.

Our first study aim in this chapter was to identify whether either group routinely examines oral mucosa. Our finding that 6% of GMPs routinely perform oral cancer screening (Table 4.2) is surprisingly consistent with the 6% of oral cancer patients that reported ever being screened for oral cancer by their GMP. 22% of GMSs reported performing oral cancer screening routinely; however, when asked if they would do so for a high-risk patient, the responses of both groups increased to over 40%, suggesting that they had some awareness of high-risk populations and a willingness to perform the screening examination in the medical healthcare setting.
Unfortunately, our second study aim identified that both groups had insufficient training in oral cancer and performing the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination. GMSs were asked four additional questions relating to their recent medical school experience. 74% had learnt about oral cancer in medical school and almost half (46%) had seen an oral cancer, yet only 11% recalled ever learning about opportunistic oral cancer screening. Initially about one-third of GMPs reported that they had sufficient training, knowledge, and technique to perform oral cancer screening. Whilst over 40% of both groups initially stated that they would screen if the patient was high-risk, once the nine steps of a screening examination were shown in the next part of the questionnaire, only 20% of both groups felt they had sufficient training to identify a high-risk patient and perform a thorough opportunistic nine-step screening examination.

Our third study aim was to identify whether either group knew the risk factors for oral cancer and communicated these to patients. We found no statistically significant difference between the groups with regard to their knowledge of the main risk factors for oral cancer (Table 4.3). Both groups strongly identified tobacco as a risk factor, consistent with studies from both developed and developing countries.^{168, 176, 195-197} Approximately half of each group (GMPs 57%, GMS 54%) identified alcohol as a risk factor, again consistent with other studies reporting a less well-known association of oral cancer with alcohol consumption.¹⁹⁸ Other known risk factors, such as age, HPV, betel nuts, and poor diet, were not identified strongly by either group. The evidence for the role of HPV as an aetiologic agent in oral cancer has grown rapidly, and two recent meta-analyses found HPV to be an independent risk factor for a subset of oral cancers.^{81, 82} More than 70% of the participants in the present study did not list HPV as a risk factor, similar to reported findings in other studies.^{195, 198} Most GMPs (97%) regularly advised patients about risk factors for other cancers, and nearly all GMPs (99%) regularly encouraged risk factor reduction for other cancers. 32% of GMPs self-reported advising patients about their risk factors for oral cancer, which contradicts the 3% figure generated by the oral cancer patient cohort when asked if a GMP had ever discussed their risk factors for oral cancer with them. These findings suggest that Australian GMPs and GMSs are deficient in knowledge regarding risk factors for oral cancer, which is likely to limit their ability to identify at-risk patients and perform opportunistic screening.

The fourth aim for this study was to identify what changes in the oral mucosa both groups would associate with malignant and pre-malignant oral lesions, via responses to open text

questions regarding knowledge of clinical changes in pre-malignancy and oral malignancy (Table 4.4). With regard to pre-malignancy, both groups identified leukoplakia, non-healing lesions, and lump/swelling/induration, in that order. Unfortunately, this shows a poor understanding of the clinical appearance of OPMLs, a collective term used for the wide range of clinical presentations of oral lesions that may harbour oral epithelial dysplasia (OED). Clinically OPMLs can appear as leukoplakia, erythroplakia, or erythro-leukoplakia (speckled erythroplakia).²² Although various other factors, such as smoking history, patient age and gender, and lesion size and location may contribute to the suspicion of malignant potential, clinical appearance is often the primary driving factor toward the decision to biopsy or offer intervention.³⁵

Clinical leukoplakias, the most common OPMLs, show a low rate of malignant progression irrespective of the histopathologic diagnosis of mild, moderate, or severe dysplasia.³⁶ In contrast, erythroplakias and erythro-leukoplakias have been shown to have a much higher risk of malignant transformation (14-50%).³⁷ We can confidently state that lesions exhibiting redness or a non-homogenous texture were strongly associated with OED and should be considered for biopsy at presentation.³⁸⁻⁴⁰ Unfortunately, these clinical features at presentation may allow estimation of the rate of OED in OPMLs, but there is no way of differentiating OPMLs into dysplastic and non-dysplastic on clinical findings alone, because OED can manifest clinically in any number of presentations.⁴²⁻⁴⁴

With regard to changes related to malignant disease, 86% of GMPs correctly identified non-healing lesions as suspicious. A significant proportion of GMPs (30%) and GMSs (25%) reported leukoplakia as a clinical change associated with malignancy. Most often Malignancy these leukoplakia are not homogenous. can present as lumps/swelling/induration, be painful or painless, be pigmented, or bleed. Overall both groups reported being 'not confident' in diagnosing pre-malignant and malignant lesions from clinic appearance (GMPs 53% vs. GMSs 88%, p<0.001). This p-value indicates that GMPs are significantly more confident than GMSs. It appears necessary to improve teaching on OPMLs and oral malignancy in the undergraduate medical curriculum and provide continuing medical education opportunities for GMPs to improve current deficiencies in knowledge of oral cancer. The key message for both groups is that any oral lesion lasting longer than 2 weeks, after local possible causative factors are removed, should be biopsied or referred without delay.¹⁹⁹ GMPs and GMSs should also be educated

to look for leukoplakia, erythroplakia, and erythroleukoplakia during the oral cancer screening examination.

The next three aims of our study all relate to the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination specified by the WHO and NIDCR.³⁰ The first objective was to identify which of the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination either group performed. When individual steps were assessed, GMPs indicated that the only steps performed more often than not (meaning over 50% of GMPs indicated that they did perform the step) were Step 1 (extra-oral), Step 2 (lip examination) and Step 8 (palate and oro-pharynx). The GMSs had even fewer steps in their routine, with only Step 1 (extra-oral) performed more often than not. When the nine steps were assessed together, each group exhibited poor overall efficiency (Table 4.6), with GMPs performing 4.3 steps on average compared to 3.8 for GMSs. Of most concern is that both groups often overlooked common sites of oral cancer development, such as the floor of the mouth, venterolateral surface of the tongue, and retromolar trigone. The second and third objectives were to identify whether either group was confident in performing the technique of each step and identifying pathology at each step. Confidence in performing each step for both groups mirrored whether they actually performed the step more often than not, with GMPs confident in performing Steps 1, 2, and 8, and GMSs only Step 1. In all other steps neither group was confident performing the technique required. Likewise, confidence in identifying pathology for each group mirrored performance of the step; in all steps except Step 1(extra-oral), GMSs were statistically significantly less confident in the technique and identifying pathology than the GMPs (Table 4.6).

The results of this study clearly indicate that GMPs in Australia lack the awareness, knowledge, equipment, and skills to adequately perform opportunistic screening for oral cancer in high-risk patients attending their practice. When these results are compared to other results from similar studies across the world, Australian GMPs are similar to their peers in the developed nations. GMPs are unlikely to examine patient's oral mucosa routinely, unlikely to advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer, likely to identify few risk factors, technically poor at performing the nine steps of oral cancer screening examinations, and overall not confident in diagnosing OPMLs or oral cancers.¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷³ In addition, medical students entering the workforce have been trained with even less awareness, knowledge, confidence, and skills for performing opportunistic screening for oral cancer than their more experienced colleagues.

Intent of GMPs to conduct oral cancer screening has been investigated utilising the Theory of Planned Behaviour, and this has identified barriers to conducting oral examinations for screening purposes in general medical practice. The results suggest that there is considerable potential for improving intention to perform oral cancer screening in general practice.¹⁷⁴ Suggested interventions include: 1) theory-based interventions, such as further training to enhance confidence, expertise, knowledge, and ease of examination, 2) provision of adequate equipment in the surgery (light and dental mirrors), and 3) introducing guidelines on opportunistic screening that increase motivation to comply with goals, such as more peers performing screening or an oral cancer awareness month.¹⁷⁴ One potential threat to improving opportunistic screening amongst GMPs was identified in a Scottish study that reported a high proportion of GMPs (66%) felt strongly that oral cancer detection is the remit of the dental team.¹⁷² If this same opinion pervades the GMPs in Australia, then it may prove difficult to change behaviour regarding opportunistic screening. At present the RACGP teaches that there is insufficient evidence to recommend screening by visual inspection or by other screening methods.¹⁷⁵ The RACGP identifies increased-risk individuals as smokers aged greater than 50 years, heavy drinkers, patients chewing tobacco or areca/betel nuts, and those exposed to excessive UV in the lip area.¹⁷⁵ If an individual is identified as increased risk, the RACGP encourages opportunistic examination of mouth and lips every 12 months but does not provide an examination description matching the desired nine-step visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.^{30, 175}

With regard to GMP skill in performing an oral cancer screening examination, there is a statistically significant association between undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on examination of the oral cavity and whether practitioners felt confident in their ability to detect oral cancer.¹⁷³ GMPs also display decreased diagnostic confidence in detecting malignancies or OPMLs. In fact, in a study of Irish GMPs, a statistically significant association was found between undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on the diagnosis of oral malignant disease and whether practitioners felt confident in their ability to detect oral cancer and OPMLs clinically.¹⁷³ The authors concluded that the knowledge level of GMPs needs improvement with appropriate initiatives at both the undergraduate and graduate levels via continued medical education (CME).¹⁷³ CME is encouraged worldwide for healthcare professionals and is compulsory in Australia. Internet-based CME programmes have demonstrated that they are also an effective medium for transfer of

knowledge for health care practitioners.²⁰⁰ Engaging with GMP training colleges, such as the RACGP in Australia, may be of benefit for review of the postgraduate training curriculum and updating of guidelines regarding prevention and early detection of oral cancer. The question of what is being taught at medical schools across Australia in relation to oral cancer also remains. The GMS results point to a need to develop an undergraduate curriculum to address the important aspects of oral cancer from an evidence-based approach that can be integrated into the already crowded undergraduate medical curriculum.¹⁸⁴

Hypotheses Tested	Outcome
	GMPs vs GMSs (p-value)
Both groups do not routinely examine oral mucosa.	Null hypothesis true 6% vs 22% (<.001***)
Both groups have received limited education and training in oral cancer and visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination	Null hypothesis true 20% vs 19% (0.833)
Both groups do not routinely advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer.	Null hypothesis true 32% vs 34% (0.675)
Both groups are not confident diagnosing malignant and pre-malignant lesions from clinical appearance.	Null hypothesis true 53% vs 88% (<0.001***)
Both groups do not perform all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.	Null hypothesis true Average steps performed 4.3 vs 3.8 (0.075)
Both groups are not sufficiently confident in their techniques to complete all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.	Null hypothesis true Average steps confident in technique 4.6 vs 2.9 (<0.001***)
Both groups are not confident in identifying pathology in all nine steps of a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.	Null hypothesis true Average steps confident in pathology 4.2 vs 2.2 (<0.001***)

Table 4.11: Hypotheses Results (GMPs vs. GMSs)

In summary, Table 4.11 presents a tabulated summary of outcomes to the seven hypotheses tested in this study. The p-value indicates there is a statistically significant difference between the groups in some hypotheses tested, however, we argue although different, both groups were still poor in the outcome measured and hence the null hypothesis held true in all seven. The present study has several limitations. The characteristics of the responding GMPs may not fully reflect the knowledge and practices of all GMPs in Australia, particularly given that the response rate was 27% and the only district sampled was North Brisbane. Similarly, the characteristics of the responding GMSs entering the workforce at two large metropolitan hospitals in Brisbane may not reflect the variance in medical school curriculums across Australia or the knowledge and practices of all GMSs across Australia.

4.7 Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that Australian GMPs and GMSs had an inadequate level of knowledge of oral cancer, OPMLs, and risk factors, as well as skill in performing opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations. Although oral cancer is relatively uncommon in Australia, oral cancer patients often present to GMPs multiple times a year in the asymptomatic phase prior to their diagnosis. This suggests an opportunity for early-stage diagnosis via opportunistic screening of high-risk individuals in the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia. Early-stage diagnosis is achievable and has significant morbidity and survival benefits for patients with oral cancer.

For rates of opportunistic oral cancer screening by Australian GMPs to increase, interventions need to improve the knowledge and confidence of both GMSs and GMPs toward oral cancer and screening of high-risk individuals. Improvements to undergraduate medical school curriculums, development of CME programmes, and review of the postgraduate training curriculum of GMPs are suggested. Engagement with the RACGP in Australia is suggested in order to influence the content of the oral cancer prevention section in the next edition of RACGP published guidelines for preventive activities in general practice.

CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

5.1 Introduction

Most oral cancers lack early symptoms that would prompt a patient to seek diagnosis; hence, at presentation most patients are diagnosed with stage III or IV advanced disease. Prevention and early stage of diagnosis are promising for oral cancers because of known risk factors and the relative ease of identifying oral cancers and OPMLs by a simple oral cancer screening examination. However, due to the relatively low prevalence of oral cancer in developed communities, evidence is currently insufficient to support populationbased screening. There is significant evidence that the recommended visual and tactile opportunistic oral cancer screening examination, performed by trained health practitioners on the general and high-risk populations when asymptomatic, detects many OPMLs and some early-stage (Stage I) oral cancers.^{32, 150, 151} A large volume of evidence also links early stage of disease at diagnosis with significantly reduced morbidity and mortality.^{11, 14,} ^{15, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25} Together, these two bodies of evidence suggest that diagnosis in the asymptomatic phase via evidence-based screening initiatives is likely to have a significant impact on mortality and morbidity from oral cancer. Therefore, early detection of oral cancer and OPMLs in the asymptomatic phase via an opportunistic screening examination is important. It is unlikely that there will ever be a rigorously designed and implemented, randomly controlled trial with long-term follow-up that will prove this connection in oral cancer without questions of lead-time and length-time bias. Adoption of opportunistic screening will only be effective if patients access it and it is offered in the primary healthcare setting or via novel public health initiatives. The core objective of this thesis is to determine whether asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer at an early stage of disease

is achievable in Australia, particularly in the primary medical healthcare setting. We achieve this by evaluating the awareness of, and attitudes toward, oral cancer and opportunistic screening held by recently-diagnosed oral cancer patients, experienced general medical practitioners, and recently-graduated medical students.

5.2 Oral Cancer Patients

This thesis evaluated an Australian cohort of patients with newly diagnosed oral cancer, presenting to a public hospital head and neck clinic, to identify opportunities for increasing early diagnosis of oral cancer. Particular emphasis was placed on investigating patient

interactions with GMPs and GDPs in the asymptomatic phase where the oral cancer may be present and detected at an earlier stage of disease.³²

Unfortunately, this study reports one of the lowest scores in the literature regarding awareness of oral cancer, with 46% stating they had never heard of oral cancer until their diagnosis. This alarming lack of awareness is even more concerning when added to the fact that 67% of participants reported being regular consumers of tobacco in Australia, where plain packaging of tobacco products contains graphic images of lip, mouth, tongue and lung cancer, and has done so for many years preceding our research. At least 67% of our participants should have seen oral cancer on this packaging at some point and reported such. Perhaps also our questionnaire should have used the term mouth or throat cancer as interchangeable with oral cancer and the reported awareness might not have been so low. Studies from the USA report that only 14-15.5% of adults had never heard of oral cancer.^{190, 191} Another Australian study investigated 101 patients referred with a suspicious oral lesion to a private oral medicine clinic.¹⁸⁷ These patients reported being far more aware of oral cancer, with 91.8% having heard about oral cancer.¹⁸⁷ Of interest is that private patients in this private oral medicine clinic expected that both GDPs and GMPs should check for and be able to explain oral mucosal pathology, raising the question of whether the general public might expect similar standards of care.¹⁸⁷ The demographics of these two Australian cohorts are very different, making comparison between the two groups difficult; however, there is an obvious wide divide in awareness of oral cancer when private and public patients are compared.

With regard to actual risk factors for oral cancer, this Australian cohort is consistent with results reported from other cohorts from developed nations, in that the most significant risk factors identified are increased age, tobacco use, and alcohol consumption.^{28, 29} 95% were over 40 years of age at diagnosis, and 67% and 66% were regular consumers of tobacco and alcohol, respectively. There was poor knowledge of these important risk factors and almost no knowledge of HPV as a risk factor. A recent international large pooled study estimated the population attributable risks for tobacco and alcohol use to be 64% (95% CI: 45-75%), showing that these two risk factors alone are responsible for a large number of cases.²⁸ The poor knowledge of risk factors for oral cancer logically follows from the cohort's generally poor awareness of oral cancer. Another recent Australian study, the Lesion Evaluation, Screening and Identification of Oral Neoplasia Study (LESIONS), has aimed to understand factors that may influence all oral mucosal disease in high-risk

populations, with a particular focus on oral cancers and OPMLs.¹⁵¹ LESIONS targeted two Australian communities at high risk of oral cancer and OPMLs, mostly in the dental healthcare setting but also at indigenous health clinics and a community pharmacy location.¹⁵¹ The authors have reported on the recruitment and initial screening outcomes of 1498 participants and they confirm that those participants with higher disadvantage were more likely to have a history of tobacco use, as expected from international studies.¹⁵¹ Those participants with low income also had significantly higher prevalence ratios of having suspicious oral mucosal lesions.¹⁵¹ Although the exact numbers were not captured, the authors noted a high rate of patient refusal when approached opportunistically before or after scheduled dental appointments.¹⁵¹ Common patient barriers identified in LESIONS were: perceived time pressure, embarrassment regarding the condition of the dentition (when screening attempted at community pharmacy), unwillingness to know if disease was detected, lack of concern and lack of pain.¹⁵¹ Another study investigating barriers to oral cancer screening in rural African-Americans showed three primary patient barriers to screening — lack of knowledge of oral cancer and its symptoms accounted for 31.8% of all barriers mentioned, lack of financial resources or health insurance for 25.0%, and fear of screening and diagnosis for 22.9%.¹³³ Howell et al. (2013) placed these barriers within the Theory of Planned Behaviour and concluded that interventions aimed at increasing oral cancer screening should first focus on changing people's attitudes about screening by increasing knowledge about oral cancer and reducing fear.¹³³

Awareness and knowledge of oral cancer are key for patients to accept an invitation for oral cancer screening. This is most notable in the recently published data from Far Eastern Memorial Hospital in Taipei, Taiwan. Utilising a novel approach, high-risk patients attending an outpatient facility were identified using an automated system based on their responses to questions regarding tobacco and betel nut usage.³² They were then offered the opportunity to be screened with a standard visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.³² A total of 38 693 patients were identified as high-risk, yet only 8037 (20.8%) were recruited as participants in the screened cohort from the automated system.³² This means that approximately 80% were advised that they were at high risk for developing oral cancer yet declined a free oral cancer screening examination. Not only do the high-risk populations decline screening invitations, in addition, UK research reports that the target high-risk population for opportunistic screening activities was shown to require further persuasion that their lifestyle choices (tobacco and alcohol) contributed to an increased risk of oral cancer.¹⁵³

This thesis also identifies whether participants had opportunities in the Australian health system to receive an opportunistic oral cancer screen examination in the asymptomatic phase. Research has shown that patients with oral lesions often consult their GMP rather than their GDP, even in the UK where there is greater access to free dental treatment.^{156, 157} The preference for presentation to GMPs has held true in this study, with 80% having seen a GMP within the last six months and 63% seeing their own regular GMP at least three times a year. In contrast, only 35% had seen a GDP within the last six months and only 6.8% visited their own regular GDP at least three times a year. While less than half of patients have their own regular GDP, 84% have their own regular GMP. Unfortunately, only 3% of these patients reported that their regular GMPs had ever discussed their risk factors for oral cancer, and only 6% had ever received an oral cancer screening examination from them. These results present an opportunity to target new education interventions to GMPs toward increasing opportunistic oral cancer screening in the primary medical healthcare setting.

The evidence suggests that GDPs are more skilled and confident in performing the oral cancer screening examination than their medical counterparts.^{168, 170-173} Our study reported that only 47% of participants had a regular GDP, and most only attended once or twice per year. The remaining 53% did not have a regular GDP, and predominantly only saw a dentist for an emergent dental problem; therefore the average rate of dental visits in this group was reported as zero times per year for the vast majority. This low attendance rate to GDPs in Australia suggests that targeting education interventions toward increasing oral cancer screening with GDPs would be less productive than that with GMPs, where the target population is more likely to attend. A recent systematic review of patient acceptance of screening for oral cancer outside the dental setting showed that GMPs should be confident that acceptance of, and satisfaction with, oral cancer screening is high, particularly when patients have previously been educated about oral cancer in the waiting room.¹⁵⁸ In short, the results clearly show that participants had many opportunities in the Australian health system to receive an opportunistic oral cancer screening examination before their diagnosis. Asymptomatic diagnosis of early-stage disease is certainly possible in the primary medical setting in Australia, dependent on knowledge and awareness of both patients and GMPs.

5.3 General Medical Practitioners

The importance of GMP awareness of oral cancer, knowledge of the risk factors, ability to competently perform a visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination, and confidence in identifying pathology during that examination should not be underestimated. In our study of GMPs, only 6% reported routinely performing oral cancer screening. However, when asked if they do so for a high-risk patient, over 40% stated they would perform oral cancer screening, suggesting some awareness of high-risk populations and a willingness and ability to perform the screening examination in the primary medical healthcare setting. Initially about one-third of GMPs reported that they had sufficient training, knowledge, and technique to perform oral cancer screening. However, once the nine steps of the screening examination were shown in the next part of the questionnaire, only 20% of GMPs felt they had sufficient training to identify a high-risk patient and perform a thorough opportunistic nine-step screening examination.

Similarly, knowledge of risk factors for oral cancer was also poor amongst our cohort of GMPs. The cohort strongly identified tobacco as a risk factor, consistent with studies from both developed and developing countries.^{168, 176, 195-197} Only 57% of GMPs identified alcohol as a risk factor, again consistent with other GMP studies reporting a less well-known association of oral cancer with alcohol consumption.¹⁹⁸ Other known risk factors, such as age, HPV, betel nuts, and poor diet, were not identified strongly. This deficiency in knowledge of risk factors for oral cancer displayed by our cohort of Australian GMPs is likely to limit their ability to identify high-risk patients and perform opportunistic screening.

We also investigated if GMPs perform each of the nine steps of the visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination specified by the WHO and NIDCR.³⁰ GMPs performed on average 4.3 steps of the required nine-step screening examination. Of most concern is that common sites of oral cancer development, such as the floor of the mouth, venterolateral surface of the tongue, and retromolar trigone were often overlooked. Overall the results of our study clearly indicate that Australian GMPs lack the awareness, knowledge, equipment, and skills to adequately perform opportunistic screening for oral cancer in high-risk patients attending their practice. These results are similar to those reported in studies from other developed nations. GMPs have low suspicion of oral cancer, are unlikely to examine patient's oral mucosa routinely, are unlikely to advise patients about risk factors for oral cancer, and are likely to identify few risk factors; they lack knowledge regarding the main locations of oral cancer, are technically poor at performing

the nine steps of the oral cancer screening examination, and overall are not confident in diagnosing OPMLs or oral cancers.^{131, 134-136, 168-173} The presence of patient co-morbidities has also been shown to result in clinicians focusing their attention on the existing disorders.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹

Intent of GMPs to conduct oral cancer screening has been investigated utilising the Theory of Planned Behaviour, and the results suggest that there is considerable potential for improving intention to perform oral cancer screening in the primary medical healthcare setting.¹⁷⁴ Suggested interventions include: 1) theory-based interventions, such as further training to enhance confidence, expertise, knowledge, and ease of examination, 2) provision of adequate equipment in the surgery (light and dental mirrors), and 3) introducing guidelines on opportunistic screening that increase motivation to comply with goals, such as more peers performing screening or an oral cancer awareness month.¹⁷⁴ At present the RACGP teaches that there is insufficient evidence to recommend screening by visual inspection or by other screening methods.¹⁷⁵ The RACGP identifies increased-risk individuals as smokers aged greater than 50 years, heavy drinkers, patients chewing tobacco or areca/betel nuts, and those exposed to excessive UV in the lip area.¹⁷⁵ If an individual is identified as increased risk, the RACGP encourages opportunistic examination of mouth and lips every 12 months but does not provide an examination description matching the desired nine-step visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.^{30, 175}

Over 50% of GMPs in this study reported that they were not confident in diagnosing OPMLs or oral cancer from clinical appearance. There is a statistically significant association between undergraduate and postgraduate teaching on examination of the oral cavity and whether practitioners felt confident in their ability to detect oral cancer.¹⁷³ The key message is that any oral lesion lasting longer than 2 weeks, after local possible causative factors are removed, should be biopsied or referred without delay.¹⁹⁹ The level of knowledge of GMPs needs to be addressed with appropriate initiatives at both the undergraduate and graduate levels via continued medical education (CME).¹⁷³ Engaging with GMP training colleges, such as the RACGP in Australia, may be of benefit for review of the postgraduate training curriculum and updating of guidelines regarding prevention and early detection of oral cancer.

5.4 Medical Student Education

A GMS entering the health workforce should be aware, knowledgeable, and confident in identifying a high-risk individual, and suggesting and performing an opportunistic oral cancer screening examination. Overall, the GMS results were mostly equivocal, but also sometimes statistically significantly worse than their more experienced GMP counterparts studied. In our study, 88% of GMS were not confident in diagnosing OPMLs and oral cancer from clinic appearance. These results were echoed by a comparison of UK undergraduate medical and dental students, which suggests that there will be no improvement in the next generation of health professionals, particularly medical practitioners, regarding oral cancer screening.¹⁷⁶ Other studies in Iran, Nigeria, and the USA indicate a need to review the curriculum of medical and dental schools to improve awareness and behaviour toward increasing opportunistic oral cancer screening.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁸¹ In 2011, two significant studies investigated medical school curricula for oral cancer teaching in the USA and UK, respectively. The majority of the responding USA medical schools offered very little oral health education, with approximately 80% offering less than five hours of oral health curriculum over the entire course.¹⁸² Oral cancer training at medical schools lacked both adequacy and comprehensiveness, and showed no improvement relative to a similar study from 15 years earlier.^{182, 183} The UK study highlighted that undergraduate oral cancer teaching varied widely in terms of duration, format, and content across British medical schools.¹⁸⁴ Our GMS results point to a need to develop an undergraduate curriculum to address the important aspects of oral cancer from an evidence-based approach that can be integrated into the already crowded undergraduate medical curriculum.¹⁸⁴ The question of what is being taught at medical schools across Australia in relation to oral cancer also remains.

5.5 Opportunistic Oral Cancer Screening

A Cochrane systematic review evaluated screening strategies for reducing oral cancer mortality and revealed that there was insufficient evidence to recommend inclusion or exclusion of screening for oral cancer using a visual and tactile examination in the general population, as the only significant RCT was on a high prevalence oral cancer population and the study was assessed as having bias in the study design.^{25, 27} According to the WHO and NIDCR, an oral cancer screening examination should include a visual examination of the face, neck, lips, labial mucosa, buccal mucosa, gingiva, floor of the

mouth, tongue, and palate with mouth mirrors to help visualise all surfaces.³⁰ The tactile examination includes palpating the regional lymph nodes, tongue, and floor of the mouth.³⁰ The Cochrane review concluded by encouraging opportunistic screening and stating that GMPs and GDPs should continue to carry out visual and tactile examination of the oral cavity as an integral part of their routine daily work, and particular attention should be paid to high-risk individuals.²⁷ Since publication of the Cochrane review in 2013, three significant articles have been published that further support their conclusion that opportunistic screening for oral cancer is important.

In Asia, the emphasis is on addressing the relatively high prevalence rate of oral cancer due to tobacco and betel nut consumption.²⁶ High-risk patients attending an outpatient facility at Far Eastern Memorial Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, were identified using an automated system based on their response to questions regarding tobacco and betel nut usage, at the time of check-in to the outpatient facility.³² If they answered 'yes' to the risk factors, they were automatically offered the opportunity to be screened with a standard visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.³² A total of 8037 high-risk patients were recruited as participants to the screened cohort from the automated system; 1664 patients were identified with positive lesions, and 302 patients underwent a biopsy.³² Five patients were diagnosed with oral cancer and 121 with dysplastic OPMLs.³² The stage of disease at diagnosis of this asymptomatic cohort was compared to a symptomatic cohort presenting to the same outpatient facility for investigation of a symptomatic oral lesion.³² The symptomatic cohort comprised 157 patients with oral cancers and 61 with OPMLs, and, as expected, the automated screening programme identified earlier stages of oral cancers than the symptomatic cohort.³²

Two other studies report from developed nations where the prevalence of oral cancer is far less than in Taiwan. Monteiro et al. (2015) carried out separate invitational and opportunistic oral cancer screening interventions in the city of Oporto in Portugal. The first part of this study was an invitational screening programme where residents of Oporto were invited to attend on a designated screening day advertised via a mass media campaign including television, newspapers, radio, billboards and posters.¹⁵⁰ A total of 267 participants responded to the general invitation to attend the oral cancer screening day. The second part of the study was an opportunistic screening programme offered to consenting patients visiting for dental consultation (first appointment) in a public hospital of Oporto, and 460 screening examinations were performed in this dental healthcare setting.

In total, 727 individuals (277 males and 450 females) with a mean age of 54 years (range 18-94) were included in the study. Twenty-two OPMLs, nine cases of lichen planus and two oral carcinomas were detected early, with both in stage one of the disease and both identified in the asymptomatic phase.¹⁵⁰

The two communities targeted by the LESIONS study in Australia were at high risk of oral cancer and OPMLs. The ten screening sites were within public and private dental clinics, indigenous health clinics and a community pharmacy.¹⁵¹ After a visual and tactile oral mucosal screening examination was completed by one of 11 trained and calibrated dentists or oral health therapists on 1498 participants, oral mucosal lesions were detected in over half the cohort examined, but only 16% were clinically nonhomogeneous and more likely to contain dysplasia or early malignant change.¹⁵¹ Although the results of biopsy and specialist review are not yet presented from this study, the volume of oral lesions detected is significant and likely to contribute to the evidence supporting opportunistic screening of high-risk populations.¹⁵¹

In Western populations where betel nut usage is minimal, population-based annual or semi-annual screening for oral cancer is not cost-effective.²³ Instead, targeting high-risk groups such as tobacco and alcohol consumers over 40 years of age to be opportunistically screened using a visual and tactile examination should be encouraged in the primary care setting.²³ Over the last decade following the introduction of an oral cancer awareness week (now month) in the UK and the Oral Cancer Awareness Month in the USA in 2000, increasing numbers of oral cancer screening examinations have been performed each year.^{154, 155} It is still difficult to elucidate whether the high-risk target awareness and knowledge and becoming more accepting of screening activity.

5.6 Conclusion

This thesis has provided valuable insights into the challenge of achieving asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer in the early stage of disease in Australia. Oral cancer patients had poor awareness of oral cancer and knowledge of risk factors prior to diagnosis. Most oral cancer patients were over 40 years of age, and most consumed tobacco, alcohol, or both, suggesting a target population for opportunistic screening in the primary healthcare setting. Patient, professional, and total diagnostic delays were better than in many other

countries. Oral cancer patients are more likely to see a GMP multiple times a year for unrelated medical issues in the asymptomatic phase prior to their diagnosis, suggesting significant opportunities for GMPs to perform opportunistic oral cancer screening. Once symptomatic, oral cancer patients are still likely to seek help from a GMP. Initiation by a patient of a consultation with a GMP or GDP for an oral cancer screening examination would require that the patient have an improved awareness of oral cancer and knowledge of his or her personal risk factors for developing it. Future research should investigate the barriers to, and triggers of, attendance at healthcare appointments by the high-risk target population, and should consider novel ways of engaging in opportunistic oral cancer screening activity.

The present study has highlighted significant missed opportunities for oral cancer screening, as the majority of patients visited their GMP regularly. Of concern is that, while 84% of the oral cancer participants had a regular GMP, only 3% of those GMPs had ever discussed the risk factors for oral cancer, and only 6% of patients had an oral cancer screening examination performed on them by the GMP. This thesis has shown that Australian GMPs and GMSs have an inadequate level of knowledge of oral cancer, OPMLs, and risk factors, as well as an inadequate level of skill in performing opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations. At the present level of knowledge and confidence, it would be very unlikely for a GMP to conduct a thorough visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination even if a high-risk individual presented to his or her clinic. To encourage increased rates of screening nationally, the guidelines published by RACGP for preventative activities in general practice need updating in line with the latest literature and systematic reviews regarding opportunistic oral cancer screening. For opportunistic oral cancer screening activity to increase on the part of Australian GMPs, interventions are needed to improve the knowledge and confidence of GMPs and GMSs toward diagnosing oral cancer, OPMLs, and the screening of high-risk individuals.

The following are recommendations for further research and interventions focused on the primary medical healthcare setting, identified during the thesis preparation and aimed at increasing the detection of asymptomatic, early-stage oral cancers and, ultimately, the survival of patients diagnosed with oral cancer.

• Investigate the undergraduate and postgraduate medical school curricula in Australian Medical Schools to establish the current scope of oral medicine and

pathology training and ensure that the teaching incorporates reaching competency in risk factors for oral cancer, diagnostic confidence, and performance of the ninestep visual and tactile examination for oral cancer screening.

- Engage the RACGP to reconsider the evidence for opportunistic screening and modify the current guidelines for preventative activities in general practice.
- Investigate the most effective ways of training GMPs and ensure that teaching incorporates reaching competency in risk factors for oral cancer, diagnostic confidence, and performance of the nine-step visual and tactile oral cancer screening examination.
- Investigate the most effective ways of raising awareness among the general public of oral cancer, its risk factors, and the availability of screening examinations at GMPs or GDPs.
- Investigate the most effective ways of raising awareness among the high-risk target population of oral cancer, its risk factors, and the availability of screening examinations at GMPs or GDPs.
- Investigate the roles that professional organisations such as the Australian Medical Association, Australian Dental Association, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology Societies, and Australian and New Zealand Head and Neck Cancer Societies – are taking in public awareness campaigns, health practitioner education interventions, and policy development to improve early detection of oral cancer.
- Engage the Preventative Health Taskforce with submissions at any future opportunity to include early detection of oral cancer as part of future updates or revisions to the Australian National Preventative Health Strategy.

Asymptomatic diagnosis of oral cancer in the early stage of disease is achievable in the primary medical healthcare setting in Australia. The present study and literature review shows that it has already been achieved in the primary dental healthcare setting in Australia, and lessons in undergraduate and postgraduate training can be taken from the Australian dental profession. Changing the ingrained practice behaviour of the Australian GMP population toward opportunistic oral cancer screening is a great challenge that will require determined effort both from individuals and from professional multi-disciplinary societies, such as the Australian and New Zealand Head and Neck Cancer Society. The rigorous design and implementation of further research activities following the above recommendations will enhance the early detection of oral cancer.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Barnes L EJ, Reichart P, Sidransky D, eds. World Health Organisation classification of tumours, pathology and genetics of head and neck tumours. Lyon: IARC Press, 2005.
- Rethman MP, Carpenter W, Cohen EE, et al. Evidence-based clinical recommendations regarding screening for oral squamous cell carcinomas. J Am Dent Assoc 2010;141:509-520.
- 3. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61:69-90.
- 4. Warnakulasuriya S. Global epidemiology of oral and oropharyngeal cancer. Oral Oncol 2009;45:309-316.
- 5. Johnson N. Tobacco use and oral cancer: a global perspective. J Dent Educ 2001;65:328-339.
- Johnson NW, Warnakulasuriy S, Tavassoli M. Hereditary and environmental risk factors; clinical and laboratory risk matters for head and neck, especially oral, cancer and precancer. Eur J Cancer Prev 1996;5:5-17.
- Johnson S, McDonald JT, Corsten M. Oral cancer screening and socioeconomic status. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012;41:102-107.
- 8. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin 2008;58:71-96.
- UK CR. Cancer Research UK Oral Cancer Statistics. URL: <u>http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/oral-cancer'. Accessed August 16th 2015.

 </u>

- Krishna Rao SV, Mejia G, Roberts-Thomson K, Logan R. Epidemiology of oral cancer in Asia in the past decade--an update (2000-2012). Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013;14:5567-5577.
- 11. Farah CS, Simanovic B, Dost F. Oral cancer in Australia 1982-2008: a growing need for opportunistic screening and prevention. Aust Dent J 2014;59:349-359.
- Garzino-Demo P, Dell'Acqua A, Dalmasso P, et al. Clinicopathological parameters and outcome of 245 patients operated for oral squamous cell carcinoma. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2006;34:344-350.
- 13. Dolan RW, Vaughan CW, Fuleihan N. Symptoms in early head and neck cancer: an inadequate indicator. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1998;119:463-467.
- 14. Lingen MW, Kalmar JR, Karrison T, Speight PM. Critical evaluation of diagnostic aids for the detection of oral cancer. Oral Oncol 2008;44:10-22.
- 15. McCullough MJ, Prasad G, Farah CS. Oral mucosal malignancy and potentially malignant lesions: an update on the epidemiology, risk factors, diagnosis and management. Aust Dent J 2010;55 Suppl 1:61-65.
- 16. Holmes JD, Dierks EJ, Homer LD, Potter BE. Is detection of oral and oropharyngeal squamous cancer by a dental health care provider associated with a lower stage at diagnosis? J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003;61:285-291.
- Brandizzi D, Chuchurru JA, Lanfranchi HE, Cabrini RL. Analysis of the epidemiological features of oral cancer in the city of Buenos Aires. Acta Odontol Latinoam 2005;18:31-35.
- Huang CC, Ou CY, Lee WT, Hsiao JR, Tsai ST, Wang J. Life expectancy and expected years of life lost to oral cancer in Taiwan: A nation-wide analysis of 22,024 cases followed for 10 years. Oral Oncol 2015;51:349-354.
- 19. Sciubba JJ. Oral cancer. The importance of early diagnosis and treatment. Am J Clin Dermatol 2001;2:239-251.

- 20. Woolgar JA. Histopathological prognosticators in oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol 2006;42:229-239.
- 21. Neville BW, Day TA. Oral cancer and precancerous lesions. CA Cancer J Clin 2002;52:195-215.
- Brocklehurst PR, Baker SR, Speight PM. A qualitative study examining the experience of primary care dentists in the detection and management of potentially malignant lesions. 2. Mechanics of the referral and patient communication. Br Dent J 2010;208:E4; discussion 74-75.
- 23. van der Waal I, de Bree R, Brakenhoff R, Coebergh JW. Early diagnosis in primary oral cancer: is it possible? Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2011;16:e300-305.
- 24. Warnakulasuriya S, Fennell N, Diz P, Seoane J, Rapidis A. An appraisal of oral cancer and pre-cancer screening programmes in Europe: a systematic review. J Oral Pathol Med 2014;
- Brocklehurst P, Kujan O, O'Malley LA, Ogden G, Shepherd S, Glenny AM.
 Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;11:CD004150.
- 26. Kao Sy Fau Mao L, Mao L Fau Jian XC, Jian Xc Fau Rajan G, Rajan G Fau -Yu GY, GY Y. - Expert Consensus on the Detection and Screening of Oral Cancer and Precancer. Chin J Dent Res 2015;18:79-83.
- Kujan O, Glenny AM, Oliver RJ, Thakker N, Sloan P. Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;CD004150.
- Hashibe M, Brennan P, Chuang SC, et al. Interaction between tobacco and alcohol use and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18:541-550.

- 29. Hindle I, Downer MC, Speight PM. The association between intra-oral cancer and surrogate markers of smoking and alcohol consumption. Community Dent Health 2000;17:107-113.
- 30. Moyer VA. Screening for oral cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med 2014;160:55-60.
- 31. Allen K, Farah C. Screening and referral of oral mucosal pathology: a check-up of Australian dentists. Aust Dent J 2015;60:52-58.
- Liao LJ, Chou HL, Lo WC, et al. Initial outcomes of an integrated outpatient-based screening program for oral cancers. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2015;119:101-106.
- Gomez I, Seoane J, Varela-Centelles P, Diz P, Takkouche B. Is diagnostic delay related to advanced-stage oral cancer? A meta-analysis. Eur J Oral Sci 2009;117:541-546.
- 34. Brocklehurst PR, Baker SR, Speight PM. Oral cancer screening: what have we learnt and what is there still to achieve? Future Oncol 2010;6:299-304.
- 35. Dost F, Le Cao KA, Ford PJ, Farah CS. A retrospective analysis of clinical features of oral malignant and potentially malignant disorders with and without oral epithelial dysplasia. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2013;116:725-733.
- 36. Tsantoulis PK, Kastrinakis NG, Tourvas AD, Laskaris G, Gorgoulis VG. Advances in the biology of oral cancer. Oral Oncol 2007;43:523-534.
- 37. Bouquot JE, Ephros H. Erythroplakia: the dangerous red mucosa. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent 1995;7:59-67; quiz 68.
- van der Waal I. Potentially malignant disorders of the oral and oropharyngeal mucosa; terminology, classification and present concepts of management. Oral Oncol 2009;45:317-323.

- 39. Hashibe M, Mathew B, Kuruvilla B, et al. Chewing tobacco, alcohol, and the risk of erythroplakia. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2000;9:639-645.
- Schepman KP, van der Meij EH, Smeele LE, van der Waal I. Malignant transformation of oral leukoplakia: a follow-up study of a hospital-based population of 166 patients with oral leukoplakia from The Netherlands. Oral Oncol 1998;34:270-275.
- 41. Dost F, Le Cao K, Ford PJ, Ades C, Farah CS. Malignant transformation of oral epithelial dysplasia: a real-world evaluation of histopathologic grading. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2014;117:343-352.
- 42. Jaber MA, Porter SR, Speight P, Eveson JW, Scully C. Oral epithelial dysplasia: clinical characteristics of western European residents. Oral Oncol 2003;39:589-596.
- Brouns E, Baart J, Karagozoglu K, Aartman I, Bloemena E, van der Waal I.
 Malignant transformation of oral leukoplakia in a well-defined cohort of 144 patients.
 Oral Dis 2014;20:e19-24.
- 44. Arduino PG, Surace A, Carbone M, et al. Outcome of oral dysplasia: a retrospective hospital-based study of 207 patients with a long follow-up. J Oral Pathol Med 2009;38:540-544.
- 45. Warnakulasuriya S, Kovacevic T, Madden P, et al. Factors predicting malignant transformation in oral potentially malignant disorders among patients accrued over a 10-year period in South East England. J Oral Pathol Med 2011;40:677-683.
- 46. Ho PS, Chen PL, Warnakulasuriya S, Shieh TY, Chen YK, Huang IY. Malignant transformation of oral potentially malignant disorders in males: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Cancer 2009;9:260.
- 47. Brothwell DJ, Lewis DW, Bradley G, et al. Observer agreement in the grading of oral epithelial dysplasia. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2003;31:300-305.

- 48. Abbey LM, Kaugars GE, Gunsolley JC, et al. Intraexaminer and interexaminer reliability in the diagnosis of oral epithelial dysplasia. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1995;80:188-191.
- 49. Speight PM. Update on oral epithelial dysplasia and progression to cancer. Head Neck Pathol 2007;1:61-66.
- 50. Mehanna HM, Rattay T, Smith J, McConkey CC. Treatment and follow-up of oral dysplasia a systematic review and meta-analysis. Head Neck 2009;31:1600-1609.
- 51. Holmstrup P. Can we prevent malignancy by treating premalignant lesions? Oral Oncol 2009;45:549-550.
- 52. Syrjanen S. The role of human papillomavirus infection in head and neck cancers. Ann Oncol 2010;21 Suppl 7:vii243-245.
- 53. Reddout N, Christensen T, Bunnell A, et al. High risk HPV types 18 and 16 are potent modulators of oral squamous cell carcinoma phenotypes in vitro. Infect Agent Cancer 2007;2:21.
- 54. Warnakulasuriya S. Causes of oral cancer--an appraisal of controversies. Br Dent J 2009;207:471-475.
- 55. Lee YC, Marron M, Benhamou S, et al. Active and involuntary tobacco smoking and upper aerodigestive tract cancer risks in a multicenter case-control study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18:3353-3361.
- 56. Lubin JH, Gaudet MM, Olshan AF, et al. Body mass index, cigarette smoking, and alcohol consumption and cancers of the oral cavity, pharynx, and larynx: modeling odds ratios in pooled case-control data. Am J Epidemiol 2010;171:1250-1261.
- 57. Smith EM, Rubenstein LM, Haugen TH, Hamsikova E, Turek LP. Tobacco and alcohol use increases the risk of both HPV-associated and HPV-independent head and neck cancers. Cancer Causes Control 2010;21:1369-1378.

- Yen TT, Lin WD, Wang CP, Wang CC, Liu SA. The association of smoking, alcoholic consumption, betel quid chewing and oral cavity cancer: a cohort study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2008;265:1403-1407.
- 59. Andre K, Schraub S, Mercier M, Bontemps P. Role of alcohol and tobacco in the aetiology of head and neck cancer: a case-control study in the Doubs region of France. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 1995;31B:301-309.
- 60. Lewin F, Norell SE, Johansson H, et al. Smoking tobacco, oral snuff, and alcohol in the etiology of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a population-based case-referent study in Sweden. Cancer 1998;82:1367-1375.
- 61. Altieri A, Bosetti C, Gallus S, et al. Wine, beer and spirits and risk of oral and pharyngeal cancer: a case-control study from Italy and Switzerland. Oral Oncol 2004;40:904-909.
- 62. Scully C. Oral cancer aetiopathogenesis; past, present and future aspects. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2011;16:e306-311.
- Szymanska K, Hung RJ, Wunsch-Filho V, et al. Alcohol and tobacco, and the risk of cancers of the upper aerodigestive tract in Latin America: a case-control study. Cancer Causes Control 2011;22:1037-1046.
- 64. Mashberg A, Boffetta P, Winkelman R, Garfinkel L. Tobacco smoking, alcohol drinking, and cancer of the oral cavity and oropharynx among U.S. veterans. Cancer 1993;72:1369-1375.
- 65. Jovanovic A, Schulten EA, Kostense PJ, Snow GB, van der Waal I. Tobacco and alcohol related to the anatomical site of oral squamous cell carcinoma. J Oral Pathol Med 1993;22:459-462.
- 66. Jacob BJ, Straif K, Thomas G, et al. Betel quid without tobacco as a risk factor for oral precancers. Oral Oncol 2004;40:697-704.

- 67. Reichart PA, Nguyen XH. Betel quid chewing, oral cancer and other oral mucosal diseases in Vietnam: a review. J Oral Pathol Med 2008;37:511-514.
- Thomas SJ, Bain CJ, Battistutta D, Ness AR, Paissat D, Maclennan R. Betel quid not containing tobacco and oral cancer: a report on a case-control study in Papua New Guinea and a meta-analysis of current evidence. Int J Cancer 2007;120:1318-1323.
- 69. Thomas SJ, Harris R, Ness AR, et al. Betel quid not containing tobacco and oral leukoplakia: a report on a cross-sectional study in Papua New Guinea and a metaanalysis of current evidence. Int J Cancer 2008;123:1871-1876.
- 70. Carpenter JM, Syms MJ, Sniezek JC. Oral carcinoma associated with betel nut chewing in the Pacific: an impending crisis? Pac Health Dialog 2005;12:158-162.
- 71. Merchant A, Husain SS, Hosain M, et al. Paan without tobacco: an independent risk factor for oral cancer. Int J Cancer 2000;86:128-131.
- 72. Franceschi S, Talamini R, Barra S, et al. Smoking and drinking in relation to cancers of the oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, and esophagus in northern Italy. Cancer Res 1990;50:6502-6507.
- 73. Gupta PC, Warnakulasuriya S. Global epidemiology of areca nut usage. Addict Biol 2002;7:77-83.
- 74. Warnakulasuriya S, Trivedy C, Peters TJ. Areca nut use: an independent risk factor for oral cancer. BMJ 2002;324:799-800.
- 75. Takeshima M, Saitoh M, Kusano K, et al. High frequency of hypermethylation of p14, p15 and p16 in oral pre-cancerous lesions associated with betel-quid chewing in Sri Lanka. J Oral Pathol Med 2008;37:475-479.
- Chen YJ, Chang JT, Liao CT, et al. Head and neck cancer in the betel quid chewing area: recent advances in molecular carcinogenesis. Cancer Sci 2008;99:1507-1514.

- 77. Park S, Bae J, Nam BH, Yoo KY. Aetiology of cancer in Asia. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2008;9:371-380.
- 78. Wen CP, Tsai MK, Chung WS, et al. Cancer risks from betel quid chewing beyond oral cancer: a multiple-site carcinogen when acting with smoking. Cancer Causes Control 2010;21:1427-1435.
- 79. Chang YC, Hu CC, Tseng TH, Tai KW, Lii CK, Chou MY. Synergistic effects of nicotine on arecoline-induced cytotoxicity in human buccal mucosal fibroblasts. J Oral Pathol Med 2001;30:458-464.
- Ko YC, Huang YL, Lee CH, Chen MJ, Lin LM, Tsai CC. Betel quid chewing, cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption related to oral cancer in Taiwan. Journal of oral pathology & medicine 1995;24:450-453.
- 81. Dayyani F, Etzel CJ, Liu M, Ho CH, Lippman SM, Tsao AS. Meta-analysis of the impact of human papillomavirus (HPV) on cancer risk and overall survival in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC). Head Neck Oncol 2010;2:15.
- Hobbs CG, Sterne JA, Bailey M, Heyderman RS, Birchall MA, Thomas SJ. Human papillomavirus and head and neck cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Otolaryngol 2006;31:259-266.
- Termine N, Panzarella V, Falaschini S, et al. HPV in oral squamous cell carcinoma vs head and neck squamous cell carcinoma biopsies: a meta-analysis (1988-2007). Ann Oncol 2008;19:1681-1690.
- Kreimer AR, Clifford GM, Boyle P, Franceschi S. Human papillomavirus types in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas worldwide: a systematic review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005;14:467-475.
- Munoz N, Bosch FX, de Sanjose S, et al. Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. N Engl J Med 2003;348:518-527.

- 86. Evans M, Powell NG. The changing aetiology of head and neck cancer: the role of human papillomavirus. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2010;22:538-546.
- 87. Shillitoe EJ. The role of viruses in squamous cell carcinoma of the oropharyngeal mucosa. Oral Oncol 2009;45:351-355.
- 88. Heck JE, Berthiller J, Vaccarella S, et al. Sexual behaviours and the risk of head and neck cancers: a pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology (INHANCE) consortium. Int J Epidemiol 2010;39:166-181.
- 89. Ang KK, Harris J, Wheeler R, et al. Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer. N Engl J Med 2010;363:24-35.
- 90. Posner MR, Lorch JH, Goloubeva O, et al. Survival and human papillomavirus in oropharynx cancer in TAX 324: a subset analysis from an international phase III trial. Ann Oncol 2011;22:1071-1077.
- Hocking JS, Stein A, Conway EL, et al. Head and neck cancer in Australia between 1982 and 2005 show increasing incidence of potentially HPV-associated oropharyngeal cancers. Br J Cancer 2011;104:886-891.
- 92. Schlecht NF, Burk RD, Adrien L, et al. Gene expression profiles in HPV-infected head and neck cancer. J Pathol 2007;213:283-293.
- Fund WCR. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer.
 Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research, 2007.
- 94. Bradshaw PT, Siega-Riz AM, Campbell M, Weissler MC, Funkhouser WK, Olshan AF. Associations between dietary patterns and head and neck cancer: the Carolina head and neck cancer epidemiology study. Am J Epidemiol 2012;175:1225-1233.
- 95. Winn DM, Ziegler RG, Pickle LW, Gridley G, Blot WJ, Hoover RN. Diet in the etiology of oral and pharyngeal cancer among women from the southern United States. Cancer Res 1984;44:1216-1222.

- 96. Stich HF, Rosin MP, Hornby AP, Mathew B, Sankaranarayanan R, Nair MK. Remission of oral leukoplakias and micronuclei in tobacco/betel quid chewers treated with beta-carotene and with beta-carotene plus vitamin A. Int J Cancer 1988;42:195-199.
- 97. Stich HF, Hornby AP, Mathew B, Sankaranarayanan R, Krishnan Nair M. Response of oral leukoplakias to the administration of vitamin A. Cancer Lett 1988;40:93-101.
- 98. Pavia M, Pileggi C, Nobile CG, Angelillo IF. Association between fruit and vegetable consumption and oral cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;83:1126-1134.
- 99. Rennie JS, MacDonald DG, Dagg JH. Quantitative analysis of human buccal epithelium in iron deficiency anaemia. J Oral Pathol 1982;11:39-46.
- Rennie JS, MacDonald DG. Quantitative histological analysis of the epithelium of the ventral surface of hamster tongue in experimental iron deficiency. Arch Oral Biol 1982;27:393-397.
- 101. Meurman JH. Infectious and dietary risk factors of oral cancer. Oral Oncol 2010;46:411-413.
- 102. Sugerman PB, Savage NW. Oral cancer in Australia: 1983-1996. Aust Dent J 2002;47:45-56.
- 103. Perea-Milla Lopez E, Minarro-Del Moral RM, Martinez-Garcia C, et al. Lifestyles, environmental and phenotypic factors associated with lip cancer: a case-control study in southern Spain. Br J Cancer 2003;88:1702-1707.
- Ariyawardana A, Johnson NW. Trends of lip, oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers in Australia 1982-2008: overall good news but with rising rates in the oropharynx. BMC Cancer 2013;13:333.

- 105. Mehanna H, Paleri V, West CM, Nutting C. Head and neck cancer--Part 1: Epidemiology, presentation, and prevention. BMJ 2010;341:c4684.
- 106. AIHW. Cancer in Australia 2010: an overview. Cancer Series no. 60. Cat. no. CAN 56. Canberra: AIHW, 2010. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=6442472459</u>.
- 107. Marcu LG, Yeoh E. A review of risk factors and genetic alterations in head and neck carcinogenesis and implications for current and future approaches to treatment. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2009;135:1303-1314.
- 108. Boing AF, Antunes JLF, de Carvalho MB, et al. How much do smoking and alcohol consumption explain socioeconomic inequalities in head and neck cancer risk? J Epidemiol Community Health 2011;65:709-714.
- 109. Conway DI, Petticrew M, Marlborough H, Berthiller J, Hashibe M, Macpherson LM. Socioeconomic inequalities and oral cancer risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis of case-control studies. Int J Cancer 2008;122:2811-2819.
- 110. Marshall JR, Graham S, Haughey BP, et al. Smoking, alcohol, dentition and diet in the epidemiology of oral cancer. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 1992;28B:9-15.
- 111. Zheng TZ, Boyle P, Hu HF, et al. Dentition, oral hygiene, and risk of oral cancer: a case-control study in Beijing, People's Republic of China. Cancer Causes Control 1990;1:235-241.
- 112. Gasche JA, Hoffmann J, Boland CR, Goel A. Interleukin-6 promotes tumorigenesis by altering DNA methylation in oral cancer cells. Int J Cancer 2011;129:1053-1063.
- 113. Sato F, Oze I, Kawakita D, et al. Inverse association between toothbrushing and upper aerodigestive tract cancer risk in a Japanese population. Head Neck 2011;33:1628-1637.
- 114. Homann N, Tillonen J, Meurman JH, et al. Increased salivary acetaldehyde levels in heavy drinkers and smokers: a microbiological approach to oral cavity cancer. Carcinogenesis 2000;21:663-668.

- 115. Goodwin WJ, Thomas GR, Parker DF, et al. Unequal burden of head and neck cancer in the United States. Head Neck 2008;30:358-371.
- 116. Szymanska K, Levi JE, Menezes A, et al. TP53 and EGFR mutations in combination with lifestyle risk factors in tumours of the upper aerodigestive tract from South America. Carcinogenesis 2010;31:1054-1059.
- 117. Taoudi Benchekroun M, Saintigny P, Thomas SM, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and gene copy number in the risk of oral cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2010;3:800-809.
- 118. González-Ramírez I, Ramirez-Amador V, Irigoyen-Camacho ME, et al. hMLH1 promoter methylation is an early event in oral cancer. Oral Oncol 2011;47:22-26.
- Radoi L, Luce D. A review of risk factors for oral cavity cancer: the importance of a standardized case definition. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2013;41:97-109, e178-191.
- 120. Yuan TH, Lian le B, Tsai KY, et al. Possible association between nickel and chromium and oral cancer: a case-control study in central Taiwan. Sci Total Environ 2011;409:1046-1052.
- King GN, Healy CM, Glover MT, et al. Increased prevalence of dysplastic and malignant lip lesions in renal-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1052-1057.
- 122. van Leeuwen MT, Grulich AE, McDonald SP, et al. Immunosuppression and other risk factors for lip cancer after kidney transplantation. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18:561-569.
- 123. Welfare AloHa. Australia's Health, 2008. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008.

- 124. AIHW. Drugs in Australia 2010: Tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. Drug statistics series no. 27 Cat. no. PHE 154. Canberra: AI, 2011. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=10737420455</u>.
- 125. Statistics ABo. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008.
- 126. Statistics ABo. Apparent consumption of alcohol, Australia, 2008-09. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2010.
- 127. Shefer A, Markowitz L, Deeks S, et al. Early experience with human papillomavirus vaccine introduction in the United States, Canada and Australia. Vaccine 2008;26 Suppl 10:K68-75.
- 128. Onizawa K, Nishihara K, Yamagata K, Yusa H, Yanagawa T, Yoshida H. Factors associated with diagnostic delay of oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol 2003;39:781-788.
- 129. McLeod NM, Saeed NR, Ali EA. Oral cancer: delays in referral and diagnosis persist. Br Dent J 2005;198:681-684.
- 130. Scott SE, Grunfeld EA, Main J, McGurk M. Patient delay in oral cancer: a qualitative study of patients' experiences. Psychooncology 2006;15:474-485.
- 131. Seoane-Leston J, Velo-Noya J, Warnakulasuriya S, et al. Knowledge of oral cancer and preventive attitudes of Spanish dentists. Primary effects of a pilot educational intervention. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2010;15:e422-426.
- 132. Esmaelbeigi F, Hadji M, Harirchi I, Omranipour R, vand Rajabpour M, Zendehdel K. Factors affecting professional delay in diagnosis and treatment of oral cancer in Iran. Arch Iran Med 2014;17:253-257.
- 133. Howell JL, Shepperd JA, Logan H. Barriers to oral cancer screening: a focus group study of rural Black American adults. Psychooncology 2013;22:1306-1311.

- 134. Bruun JP. Time lapse by diagnosis of oral cancer. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1976;42:139-149.
- Guggenheimer J, Verbin RS, Johnson JT, Horkowitz CA, Myers EN. Factors delaying the diagnosis of oral and oropharyngeal carcinomas. Cancer 1989;64:932-935.
- Alonge OK, Narendran S. Opinions about oral cancer prevention and early detection among dentists practising along the Texas-Mexico border. Oral Dis 2003;9:41-45.
- 137. Allison P, Franco E, Feine J. Predictors of professional diagnostic delays for upper aerodigestive tract carcinoma. Oral Oncol 1998;34:127-132.
- 138. Allison P, Franco E, Black M, Feine J. The role of professional diagnostic delays in the prognosis of upper aerodigestive tract carcinoma. Oral Oncol 1998;34:147-153.
- 139. Allison P, Locker D, Feine JS. The role of diagnostic delays in the prognosis of oral cancer: a review of the literature. Oral Oncol 1998;34:161-170.
- 140. Kantola S, Jokinen K, Hyrynkangas K, Mantyselka P, Alho OP. Detection of tongue cancer in primary care. Br J Gen Pract 2001;51:106-111.
- 141. Sandoval M, Font R, Manos M, et al. The role of vegetable and fruit consumption and other habits on survival following the diagnosis of oral cancer: a prospective study in Spain. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;38:31-39.
- 142. Kumar S, Heller RF, Pandey U, Tewari V, Bala N, Oanh KT. Delay in presentation of oral cancer: a multifactor analytical study. Natl Med J India 2001;14:13-17.
- Goy J, Hall SF, Feldman-Stewart D, Groome PA. Diagnostic delay and disease stage in head and neck cancer: a systematic review. Laryngoscope 2009;119:889-898.

- 144. Seoane J, Pita-Fernandez S, Gomez I, et al. Proliferative activity and diagnostic delay in oral cancer. Head Neck 2010;32:1377-1384.
- 145. Teppo H, Alho OP. Relative importance of diagnostic delays in different head and neck cancers. Clin Otolaryngol 2008;33:325-330.
- 146. Centelles PV, Seoane-Romero JM, Gomez I, Diz-Dios P, Santos de Melo N, Seoane J. Timing of oral cancer diagnosis: implications for prognosis and survival. Oral cancer. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech Europe, 2012. 9 <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/oral-cancer</u>.
- 147. Wilson JMG, Jungner G. Principles and practice of screening for disease. Public Health Paper Number 34. Geneva: WHO, 1968. <u>http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/86/4/07-050112BP.pdf</u>.
- 148. Australian Population Health Development Principal Committee. Population Based Screening Framework. Canberra: Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council, 2008.
 http://www.screenening.com/interact/comming/publishing.psf/Content/16AE020524752EE0

http://www.cancerscreening.gov.au/internet/screening/publishing.nsf/Content/16AE0B0524753EE9 CA257CEE0000B5D7/\$File/Population-based-screening-framework.PDF.

- 149. Strong K, Wald N, Miller A, Alwan A. Current concepts in screening for noncommunicable disease: World Health Organization Consultation Group Report on methodology of noncommunicable disease screening. J Med Screen 2005;12:12-19.
- 150. Monteiro LS, Salazar F, Pacheco JJ, Martins M, Warnakulasuriya S. Outcomes of invitational and opportunistic oral cancer screening initiatives in Oporto, Portugal. J Oral Pathol Med 2015;44:145-152.
- 151. Dost F, Do L, Farah CS. Lesion Evaluation, Screening and Identification of Oral Neoplasia Study: an assessment of high-risk Australian populations. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2015;n/a-n/a.

- 152. Rogers SN, Vedpathak SV, Lowe D. Reasons for delayed presentation in oral and oropharyngeal cancer: the patients perspective. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011;49:349-353.
- 153. Scott SE, Weinman J, Grunfeld EA. Developing ways to encourage early detection and presentation of oral cancer: what do high-risk individuals think? Psychol Health 2011;26:1392-1405.
- 154. Oral Cancer Foundation. Oral, Head & Neck Cancer Awareness Month. URL: <u>http://oralcancerfoundation.org/events/oral-cancer-awareness-month.html</u>'. Accessed September 2015.
- 155. Foundation BDH. Mouth Cancer Awareness Month. URL: <u>http://www.mouthcancer.org/facts-figures/</u>. Accessed September 2015.
- 156. Langdon JD. Oral cancer: raising the level of awareness. Dent Update 1995;22:269–270.
- 157. Carter LM, Layton S. Cervicofacial infection of dental origin presenting to maxillofacial surgery units in the United Kingdom: a national audit. Br Dent J 2009;206:73-78.
- Paudyal P, Flohr FD, Llewellyn CD. A systematic review of patient acceptance of screening for oral cancer outside of dental care settings. Oral Oncol 2014;50:956-962.
- 159. Horowitz AM, Alfano MC. Performing a death-defying act. J Am Dent Assoc 2001;132:5S-6S.
- 160. NIDCR. Detecting Oral Cancer: A guide for health care professionals. USA: National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, 2013. <u>http://www.nidcr.nih.gov/oralhealth/topics/oralcancer/</u>.

- Cox NH, Madan V, Sanders T. The U.K. skin cancer 'two-week rule' proforma: assessment of potential modifications to improve referral accuracy. Br J Dermatol 2008;158:1293-1298.
- 162. Hobson JC, Malla JV, Sinha J, Kay NJ, Ramamurthy L. Outcomes for patients referred urgently with suspected head and neck cancer. J Laryngol Otol 2008;122:1241-1244.
- 163. Singh P, Warnakulasuriya S. The two-week wait cancer initiative on oral cancer; the predictive value of urgent referrals to an oral medicine unit. Br Dent J 2006;201:717-720; discussion 714.
- 164. Shah HV, Williams RW, Irvine GH. Fast-track referrals for oral lesions: a prospective study. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006;44:207-208.
- 165. McKie C, Ahmad UA, Fellows S, et al. The 2-week rule for suspected head and neck cancer in the United Kingdom: referral patterns, diagnostic efficacy of the guidelines and compliance. Oral Oncol 2008;44:851-856.
- Brocklehurst P, Kujan O, Glenny AM, et al. Screening programmes for the early detection and prevention of oral cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;CD004150.
- 167. Trullenque-Eriksson A, Munoz-Corcuera M, Campo-Trapero J, Cano-Sanchez J, Bascones-Martinez A. Analysis of new diagnostic methods in suspicious lesions of the oral mucosa. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2009;14:E210-216.
- 168. Carter LM, Ogden GR. Oral cancer awareness of general medical and general dental practitioners. Br Dent J 2007;203:E10; discussion 248-249.
- 169. Patton LL, Ashe TE, Elter JR, Southerland JH, Strauss RP. Adequacy of training in oral cancer prevention and screening as self-assessed by physicians, nurse practitioners, and dental health professionals. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2006;102:758-764.

- Borhan-Mojabi K, Moradi A, Yazdabadi A. Evaluating the degree of knowledge on oral cancer among general practitioners and dentists in Qazvin. J Eval Clin Pract 2012;18:498-501.
- 171. Jaber L, Shaban S, Hariri D. Oral cancer prevention and early detection: knowledge and practice among Saudi Arabian healthcare practitioners. Int J Health Care Qual Assur 2012;25:64-74.
- 172. Macpherson LM, McCann MF, Gibson J, Binnie VI, Stephen KW. The role of primary healthcare professionals in oral cancer prevention and detection. Br Dent J 2003;195:277-281; discussion 263.
- 173. Ni Riordain R, McCreary C. Oral cancer--current knowledge, practices and implications for training among an Irish general medical practitioner cohort. Oral Oncol 2009;45:958-962.
- 174. Wade J, Smith H, Hankins M, Llewellyn C. Conducting oral examinations for cancer in general practice: what are the barriers? Fam Pract 2010;27:77-84.
- 175. RACGP. Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice, 8th edn. East Melbourne2012. <u>http://www.racgp.org.au</u>.
- 176. Carter LM, Ogden GR. Oral cancer awareness of undergraduate medical and dental students. BMC Med Educ 2007;7:44.
- 177. Ogden GR, Mahboobi N. Oral cancer awareness among undergraduate dental students in Iran. J Cancer Educ 2011;26:380-385.
- 178. Uti OG, Fashina AA. Oral cancer education in dental schools: knowledge and experience of Nigerian undergraduate students. J Dent Educ 2006;70:676-680.
- Reed SG, Duffy NG, Walters KC, Day TA. Oral cancer knowledge and experience: a survey of South Carolina medical students in 2002. J Cancer Educ 2005;20:136-142.
- Cannick GF, Horowitz AM, Drury TF, Reed SG, Day TA. Assessing oral cancer knowledge among dental students in South Carolina. J Am Dent Assoc 2005;136:373-378.
- 181. Burzynski NJ, Rankin KV, Silverman S, Jr., Scheetz JP, Jones DL. Graduating dental students' perceptions of oral cancer education: results of an exit survey of seven dental schools. J Cancer Educ 2002;17:83-84.
- 182. Ferullo A, Silk H, Savageau JA. Teaching oral health in U.S. medical schools: results of a national survey. Acad Med 2011;86:226-230.
- 183. Ahluwalia KP, Yellowitz JA, Goodman HS, Horowitz AM. An assessment of oral cancer prevention curricula in U.S. medical schools. J Cancer Educ 1998;13:90-95.
- 184. Carter LM, Parsonage-Grant S, Marshall A, Achal KS, Kanatas A. Oral cancer teaching of medical students in the UK: time for a new approach? J Cancer Educ 2011;26:308-314.
- Chaturvedi AK, Anderson WF, Lortet-Tieulent J, et al. Worldwide trends in incidence rates for oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:4550-4559.
- 186. Simard EP, Torre LA, Jemal A. International trends in head and neck cancer incidence rates: differences by country, sex and anatomic site. Oral Oncol 2014;50:387-403.
- 187. Allen K, Farah CS. Patient perspectives of diagnostic delay for suspicious oral mucosal lesions. Aust Dent J 2015;60:397-403.
- 188. Goldstein DP, Eskander A, Chepeha DB, Ringash J, Irish J, Davis AM. Response rates for mailout survey-driven studies in patients with head and neck cancer. Head Neck 2010;32:1585-1591.
- 189. Allen K, Farah CS. Dental prosthetist experience with oral mucosal screening and referral. Quintessence Int 2014;45:891-897.

- 190. Tomar SL, Logan HL. Florida adults' oral cancer knowledge and examination experiences. J Public Health Dent 2005;65:221-230.
- 191. Patton LL, Elter JR, Southerland JH, Strauss RP. Knowledge of oral cancer risk factors and diagnostic concepts among North Carolina dentists. Implications for diagnosis and referral. J Am Dent Assoc 2005;136:602-610; quiz 682.
- 192. Ford PJ, Farah CS. Early detection and diagnosis of oral cancer: Strategies for improvement. Journal of Cancer Policy 2013;1:e2-e7.
- Allen K, Ford P, Farah C. Oral mucosal screening and referral attitudes of Australian oral health therapists and dental hygienists in Queensland. Int J Dent Hyg 2014;
- 194. Ni Riordain R, McCreary C. Oral cancer–Current knowledge, practices and implications for training among an Irish general medical practitioner cohort. Oral Oncol 2009;45:958-962.
- 195. Alami AY, El Sabbagh RF, Hamdan A. Knowledge of oral cancer among recently graduated medical and dental professionals in Amman, Jordan. J Dent Educ 2013;77:1356-1364.
- 196. Hertrampf K, Wenz HJ, Koller M, Ambrosch P, Arpe N, Wiltfang J. Knowledge of diagnostic and risk factors in oral cancer: results from a large-scale survey among non-dental healthcare providers in Northern Germany. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2014;42:1160-1165.
- 197. Jaber L, Shaban S, Hariri D, Smith S. Perceptions of healthcare practitioners in Saudi Arabia regarding their training in oral cancer prevention, and early detection. Int J Health Care Qual Assur 2011;24:8-18.
- 198. Y H, Scully C Fau Shahin A, Shahin A Fau Maayta W, Maayta W Fau Sawair F, F S. - Factors Influencing Early Detection of Oral Cancer by Primary Health-Care Professionals. J Cancer Educ 2015;9.

- 199. Ford PJ, Farah CS. Early detection and diagnosis of oral cancer: Strategies for improvement. J Cancer Policy 2013;1:e2-e7.
- 200. Wutoh R, Boren SA, Balas EA. eLearning: a review of Internet-based continuing medical education. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2004;24:20-30.

APPENDICES

- Appendix A: Participant with Oral Cancer Questionnaire
- Appendix B: General Medical Practitioner Questionnaire
- Appendix C: Graduate Medical Student Questionnaire

Appendix A: Participant with Oral Cancer Questionnaire

Participant Questionnaire

This questionnaire has been designed with the purpose of using the information obtained to consider ways of improving prevention, early detection and referral of oral cancer from both general medical and dental practitioners.

The information you provide will likely guide efforts to increase awareness of oral cancer and early detection of it throughout Australia.

Age:.....yrs Sex: Male/Female

If Yes, who examined you to diagnose the cancer?

Did you develop symptoms before diagnosis? YES or NO
f) Other Health Practitioner – please specify?
d) Dentist (GP) or e) Dentist (Specialist) – please specify?
c) Public Hospital Emergency Department Doctor
a) Doctor (GP) or b) Doctor (Specialist) - please specify?
(circle best option)

If Yes, what symptoms did you develop? (List as many as you were aware of before diagnosis)

.....

When did you first become aware of symptoms:	/	′/	
(at least month and year)			

What type of health care professional did you choose to attend first to assist you with diagnosing the cause of your symptoms?

(circle best option)

a) Doctor (GP) or b) Doctor (Specialist) - please specify?.....

c) Public Hospital Emergency Department Doctor

d) Dentist (GP) or e) Dentist (Specialist) – please specify?.....

f) Other Health Practitioner – please specify?.....

When did you first attend this health professional once you were concerned about your symptoms:

_____ / _____ / _____ (at least month and year)

Date of first attendance at Head and Neck Clinic: _____ / _____ / _____

Now think back to the period prior to your symptoms before answering the next section of questions. Use the date at the top of this page as your reference.

Did you access a General Medical Practitioner (GP) in Australia prior to this date in the preceding two years for any other reason (i.e. other illness, prescriptions, medical check-up, certificate etc.)? YES or NO

When was the last visit to the General Medical Practitioner (GP)

(circle best answer)

- a) less than one month before symptoms
- b) between one and three months before symptoms
- c) between three and six months before symptoms
- d) six to twelve months before symptoms
- e) greater than twelve months before symptoms

Do you have a regular GP in Australia that you would call "your GP"? YES or NO If Yes, how often in a year would you roughly see "your GP"? a) zero b) once c) twice d) three e) four f) more than four If No, how often in a year would you seek medical advice from any GP? a) zero b) once c) twice d) three e) four f) more than four

At any time in your life has any GP you attended in Australia ever discussed oral cancer with you or the risk factors you may have for oral cancer? YES or NO

Whilst it is not standard of care in Australia to have an oral cancer screen regularly, we are interested if can you recall at any time in your life if any GP in Australia ever performed an oral cancer screening examination on you? YES or NO

(An oral cancer screening examination involves feeling your face and neck for lymph nodes while doctor stands behind you, in addition to looking at the inside of your lips, around your teeth left and right with a dental mirror, up on your palate, top of tongue, under tongue and down both sides of the tongue, and finally the throat. You need a dental mirror and a light to do this and takes about 2-5minutes to complete.)

Did you access a General Dental Practitioner (Dentist) in Australia prior to this date in the preceding two years for any other reason (i.e. other oral illness or dental check-up etc.)? YES or NO

When was the last visit to the General Dental Practitioner (Dentist)?

(circle best answer)

- a) less than one month before symptoms
- b) between one and three months before symptoms
- c) between three and six months before symptoms
- d) six to twelve months before symptoms
- e) greater than twelve months before symptoms

Do you have a regular dentist that you would call "your dentist"? YES or NO If Yes, how often in a year would you roughly see "your dentist"? a) zero b) once c) twice d) three e) four f) more than four If No, how often in a year would you seek a dental review from a dentist? a) zero b) once c) twice d) three e) four f) more than four

At any time in your life has any Dentist you attended in Australia ever discussed oral cancer with you or the risk factors you may have for oral cancer? YES or NO

At any time in your life has any Dentist in Australia ever performed an oral cancer screen on you? (This involves feeling your face and neck for lymph nodes in addition to looking at the inside of your lips, around your teeth, on your palate, tongue, under tongue and down both sides of the tongue, and finally the throat. You need a dental mirror and a light to do this) YES or NO

Please confirm if you had any of these known risk factors prior to symptoms developing in your individual situation 2 (single second se

individual situation? (circle as many as are applicable to you)
a) Age over 40 years b) Alcohol consumption c) Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)
d) Tobacco Consumption (chewing, smoking and passive) e) Chewing betel quid (nut)
f) Diet low in fresh fruit and vegetables

Finally is there any other health professional who has performed an oral cancer screen on you in Australia? YES or NO If Yes, please specify what type of professional?

This section will be detached from your survey so as to de-identify your responses and maintain your privacy. However prior to this occurring the principal investigator, Dr John Webster may need to contact you to clarify responses so please provide your contact details below if you consent to being contacted for clarification purposes.

NAME:	PHONE:	
ADDRESS:		
EMAIL ADDRESS:		

Appendix B: General Medical Practitioner Participant Questionnaire

General Medical Practitioner Participant Questionnaire

Age:yrs	Sex: Male/Fem	ale		
Graduating Year of	of Medical Scho	ol:		
Qualifications:				
Do you perform or	al cancer screer	ning routinely?	YES or NO	
If you answered no high risk categorie	o to the above ques? YES or NO	iestion, do you)	perform oral cancer screening if the patients a	re in
What would you co (list as many as you	onsider risk fact a can recall)	cors for oral ca	ncer?	
Do you regularly a YES or NO	dvise patients a	bout risk facto	rs for oral cancer?	
Do you regularly a YES or NO	dvise patients a	bout risks facto	ors for other cancers?	
Do you regularly e YES or NO	encourage reduc	tion in risk fac	tors for cancers?	
In regards to clinic lesions from clinica	cal appearance o al appearance?	lo you feel cont	ident diagnosing oral cancer or pre-malignant	oral
Very confident	Confident	Unsure	Very Unsure	
What changes in the second sec	he mouth would	you associate	with pre-malignancy?	
	he mouth would	vou associate	with oral cancer?	
······································			······	
Do you have suffic examination? YE	ient training, kr S or NO	owledge and to	echnique to perform and oral cancer screening	

Do you have all the tools required to perform an oral cancer screening?

a) A source of bright white light?	YES or NO
b) A dental or ENT mirror?	YES or NO
a) A annua An manual annual	VEC an NO

c) Access to gauze squares?

YES or NO

Step 1: Extra-oral examination Palpate the face and neck to exclude lymphadenopathy and lesions.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of extra-oral examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology in extra-oral examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure



Step 2: Lip Examination Note colour, texture and surface changes and changes at vermillion borders.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of lip examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology in lip examination? Very confident

Confident

Unsure Very Unsure



Step 3: Labial Mucosa Examination Note colour, texture and any swelling or other abnormalities in vestibular mucosa and gingiva.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of labial mucosa examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the labial mucosa? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure



Step 4: Buccal Mucosa Examination

Using dental/ENT mirrors examine with bright white light the right and left buccal mucosa from anterior labial commissure back to tonsillar pillar.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of buccal mucosa examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the buccal mucosa?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure



Step 5: Gingival Examination As in step 4 look around the oral cavity with dental mirror and bright white light to examine the buccal and lingual gingiva.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of gingival examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the gingiva?

Very confident Confident

ent Unsure





Step 6: Tongue Examination

Assess colour, texture, mobility and positioning. Grasp tip with gauze and assist full protrusion. Assess posterior and lateral borders with mirror while retracting cheek. Palpate the dorsum and lateral borders for hard tissue development.

Do you perform this step in your routine?YES or NOHow confident are you with your technique of tongue examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How	confident are you	with identifying	g pathology of the to	ngue?
Very	confident	Confident	Unsure	Very Unsure



Step 7: Ventral Tongue and Floor of Mouth

Ask patient to lift tongue. Use gauze to dry floor of mouth and assess the ventral tongue and floor of mouth tissue for pathological changes.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of floor of mouth examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the floor of mouth?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

Step 8: Palate and Oro-pharynx

Use dental mirror to depress the tongue and bright white light to examine hard and soft palate and then patients says" Argh" to view oro-pharynx.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO



How confident are you with your technique of tongue examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the tongue?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

Step 9: Bimanual palpation of Floor of Mouth

One finger in floor of mouth and hand under chin to palpate for abnormality between fingers. Palpate any other pathology noticed on examination.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of bimanual palpation? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology using this method of palpation? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure



Where would you	refer a patient	if you suspected a pre-malignant lesion in the oral cavity?
Plastic Surgeon	ENT Surgeon	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon Dentist
Oral Medicine/Oral	l Pathologist	Other Specialist (please specify):
I would observe an	d manage mysel	f
Where would you	refer a patient	if you suspected an oral cancer?
Plastic Surgeon	ENT Surgeon	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon Dentist
Oral Medicine/Oral	l Pathologist	Other Specialist (please specify):
I would observe an	d manage mysel	f
Do you feel you h a YES or NO	ave sufficient ki	nowledge concerning prevention of oral cancer?
Do you feel you ha oral cancer? YES or NO	ave sufficient ki	nowledge to detect a pre-malignant lesion or an early asymptomatic
Do you feel you re identify high risk g YES or NO	eceived sufficien groups and per	it training through medical school and general practice training to form thorough opportunistic oral cancer screening?
Has anyone ever p (This could be a ge YES or NO	performed an o n neral medical or	ral cancer screen on yourself? a dental practitioner)
This section will be privacy. However p you to clarify respo clarification purpos	detached from prior to this occu prises so please p ses.	your survey so as to de-identify your responses and maintain your irring the principal investigator, Dr John Webster, may need to contact provide your contact details below if you consent to being contacted for
NAME:		PHONE:
ADDRESS:		

EMAIL ADDRESS: ______

Appendix C: Graduate Medical Student Participant Questionnaire

GRADUATE MEDICAL STUDENT PARTICIPANT QUESTIONNAIRE

This questionnaire has been designed with the purpose of using the information obtained to consider ways of improving prevention, early detection and referral of oral cancer from both general medical and dental practitioners.

Age:yrs	Sex: Male/Female	e		
Graduating Year of I	Medical School:			
Qualifications:				
University attended f	or Medical Schoo	l:		
How many years wer	e you in attendan	ce at Medical S	chool:	
During training did y	ou ever see an or	al cancer in a pa	atient's mouth? YES or NO	
During training did y	ou ever see a pre-	-malignant oral	lesion (PMOL) in a patient's mouth? YES or NO	
During training did y have clinical exposur	ou ever discuss of e to a patient with	r learn about or 1 oral cancer?	al cancer in lecture, problem-based learning, tutorial or YES or NO	
During training did y based learning, tutor	ou ever discuss of ial or during clini	r learn about <u>or</u> cal experience?	p <u>portunistic screening</u> for oral cancer in lecture, problem YES or NO	1-
From your training d examination? YES or	lo you feel you ha y NO	ve sufficient kn	owledge and technique to perform an oral cancer screeni	ng
If asked to perform a confidence in perform	n oral cancer scre ning this correctly	eening examinat y?	tion right now, which of the following would indicate you	ır
Very confident	Confident	Unsure	Very Unsure	
In your clinical expen	tience do you exar	nine patients' o	ral mucosa routinely? YES or NO	
If you answered categories or ha	NO to the above over the second se	question, do yo • oral cancer?	u screen the oral mucosa if the patients are in high risk YES or NO	
What would you cons (list as many as you ca	sider risk factors f in recall)	for oral cancer?		
Do/will you regularly	advise patients a	bout risk factor	s for oral cancer? YES or NO	
Do/will you regularly	encourage risk fa	actor reduction	for oral cancer? YES or NO	
Do/will you regularly	advise patients a	bout risks facto	rs for other cancers? YES or NO	
Do/will you regularly	encourage risk fa	actor reduction	for other cancers? YES or NO	

Do you feel confident diagnosing oral cancer or pre-malignant oral lesions from clinical appearance?

Very Unsure

Wh	nat	cl	ha	ng	ges	iı	ı t	he	e n	no	u	th	w	/01	ul	d	y)U	ı a	15	50	ci	ia	te	e v	vi	tł	1]	pr	·e	-n	na	ıli	gı	1a	n	cy	?																
	•••					•••		•••		•••		•••	· · ·			•••	 	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	 •••	•••	 •••	 •••	•••	· · ·	•••	•••	•••	•••	 •••	•••	•••	 •
Wh	nat	cl	ha	ng	ges	iı	ı t	he	e n	no	u	th	w	/01	ul	d	y)U	1 8	15	50	ci	ia	te	e v	vi	itł	1 (or	a	1 0	ca	n	ce	r?	,																		
	•••	· · ·			· · ·	•••		•••		•••		•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••			•••	•••		•••	•••	 •••		 •••	 •••	•••	 	•••	•••	•••	•••	 •••	•••	•••	 •

The following 8 steps are included in an oral cancer screening examination. Research also suggests a bright white light (not simply a torch/pupil torch), dental/ENT mirror and gauze squares are required for adequate visualization of all areas during the examination.

Do you have all the tools required to perform an oral cancer screening in your workplace?

Unsure

a) A source of bright white light?

Confident

Very confident

- b) A dental or ENT mirror?
- c) Access to gauze squares?

YES or NO or UNSURE YES or NO or UNSURE YES or NO or UNSURE YES or NO or UNSURE



Step 1: Extra-oral examination Palpate the face and neck to exclude lymphadenopathy and lesions.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of extra-oral examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology in extra-oral examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure



Step 2: Lip Examination Note colour, texture and surface changes and changes at vermillion borders.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you	with your technique	of lip examination?	
Very confident	Confident	Unsure	Very Unsure
How confident are you	with identifying patl	nology in lip examin	ation?



Step 3: Labial Mucosa Examination

Note colour, texture and any swelling or other abnormalities in vestibular mucosa and gingiva.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of labial mucosa examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the labial mucosa?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure



Step 4: Buccal Mucosa Examination

Using dental/ENT mirrors examine with bright white light the right and left buccal mucosa from anterior labial commissure back to tonsillar pillar.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of buccal mucosa examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the buccal mucosa?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure



Step 5: Gingival Examination

As in step 4, look around the oral cavity with dental mirror and bright white light to examine the buccal and lingual gingiva.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of gingival examination?Very confidentConfidentUnsureVery Unsure

How confident are you with	h identifying j	pathology of the gingiva?	
Very confident	Confident	Unsure	Very Unsure



Step 6: Tongue Examination

Assess colour, texture, mobility and positioning. Grasp tip with gauze and assist full protrusion. Assess posterior and lateral borders with mirror while retracting cheek. Palpate the dorsum and lateral borders for hard tissue development.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of tongue examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the tongue? Very confident Confident Unsure





Step 7: Ventral Tongue and Floor of Mouth Ask patient to lift tongue. Use gauze to dry floor of mouth and assess the ventral tongue and floor of mouth tissue for pathological changes.

Do you perform this step in your routine?

Very Unsure

YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of floor of mouth examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology of the floor of mouth? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure



Step 8: Palate and Oro-pharynx

Use dental mirror to depress the tongue and bright white light to examine hard and soft palate and then patients says "Ahh" to view oro-pharynx.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of tongue examination? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure How confident are you with identifying pathology of the tongue? Very confident

Confident Unsure Very Unsure



Step 9: Bimanual palpation of Floor of Mouth

Place one finger in floor of mouth and other hand under chin to palpate for abnormality between fingers. Palpate any other pathology noticed on examination.

Do you perform this step in your routine? YES or NO

How confident are you with your technique of bimanual palpation? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

How confident are you with identifying pathology using this method of palpation? Very confident Confident Unsure Very Unsure

Now that you are aware of all the steps, has anyone ever performed an opportunistic oral cancer screening examination on you? (This could be a general medical or a dental practitioner)

YES or NO

Where would you refer a patient if you suspected a pre-malignant oral lesion?										
Plastic Surgeon	ENT Surgeon	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon	Dentist							
Oral Medicine/Oral	Pathologist	Other Specialist (please specify):								
I would observe and	d manage myself									

Where would you refer a patient if you suspected an oral cancer?Plastic SurgeonENT SurgeonOral and Maxillofacial SurgeonDentistOral Medicine/Oral PathologistOther Specialist (please specify):.....

oral medicine/oral ratiologist Other Specialist (please specify)......

I would observe and manage myself

In Australia do you think a patient should go to a general medical practitioner (Doctor) or a general dental practitioner (Dentist) if he/she has an oral lesion?

DOCTOR or DENTIST

Overall do you feel you have sufficient knowledge concerning prevention of oral cancer?

YES or NO

Overall do you feel you have sufficient knowledge to detect a pre-malignant lesion or an early asymptomatic oral cancer?

YES or NO

Overall do you feel you received sufficient training through medical school to identify high-risk groups and perform thorough opportunistic oral cancer screening examinations?

YES or NO

This section will be detached from your survey so as to de-identify your responses and maintain your privacy. However prior to this occurring the principal investigator, Dr John Webster may need to contact you to clarify responses so please provide your contact details below if you consent to being contacted for clarification purposes.

NAME:	PHONE:	
ADDRESS:		
EMAIL ADDRESS:		